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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10–K
☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020
or
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from

to

Commission file number: 000-55768
HealthLynked Corp.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Nevada
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

47-1634127
(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

1265 Creekside Parkway, Suite 301, Naples, Florida
(Address of principal executive offices)

34108
(Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: 239-513-1992
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None.
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☐ No ☒
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ☐ No ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☐ No ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-K. ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or
an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging
growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer

☐
☒

Accelerated filer
Smaller reporting company
Emerging growth company

☐
☒
☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒
On June 30, 2020, the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate market value of the Common
Stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was $5,195,773, based upon the closing price on that date of the Common Stock of the registrant on the
OTCQB of $0.776. For purposes of this response, the registrant has assumed that its directors, executive officers and beneficial owners of 10% or
more of its Common Stock are deemed affiliates of the registrant.
As of March 30, 2021, there were 226,075,381 shares of the registrant’s common stock, par value $0.0001, issued and outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2021 Annual Meeting of stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K or will be filed by amendment.
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PART I.
Item 1. Business
Overview
HealthLynked Corp. (the “Company,” “we,” “our,”) is a growth stage company incorporated in the state of Nevada on August 6, 2014. We
currently operate in four distinct divisions: the Health Services Division, the Digital Healthcare Division, the ACO/MSO (Accountable Care
Organization / Managed Service Organization) Division, and the Medical Distribution Division.
The Health Services division is comprised of the operations of (i) Naples Women’s Center (“NWC”), a multi-specialty medical group
including OB/GYN (both Obstetrics and Gynecology) and General Practice, (ii) Naples Center for Functional Medicine (“NCFM”), a Functional
Medical Practice acquired in April 2019 that is engaged in improving the health of its patients through individualized and integrative health care, and
(iii) Bridging the Gap Physical Therapy (“BTG”), a physical therapy practice in Bonita Springs, FL opened in January 2020 that provides hands-on
functional manual therapy techniques to speed patients’ recovery and manage pain without pain medication or surgery.
The Digital Healthcare division develops operates an online personal medical information and record archive system, the “HealthLynked
Network,” which enables patients and doctors to keep track of medical information via the Internet in a cloud-based system.
The ACO/MSO Division is comprised of the business acquired of Cura Health Management LLC (“CHM”) and its subsidiary ACO Health
Partners LLC (“AHP”), which were acquired by the Company on May 18, 2020. CHM and AHP operate an Accountable Care Organization (“ACO”)
that assists physician practices in providing coordinated and more efficient care to patients via the Medicare Shared Savings Program (“MSSP”) as
administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (the “CMS”), which rewards providers for efficiency in patient care. The Division
plans to operate a Managed Service Organization (“MSO”) during the next twelve months either through a startup operation or a purchase.
The Medical Distribution Division is comprised of the operations of MedOffice Direct LLC (“MOD”), a virtual distributor of discounted
medical supplies selling to both consumers and medical practices throughout the United States acquired by the Company on October 19, 2020.
Recent Developments
On August 20, 2020, we completed a financing transaction (the “August 2020 Equity Transaction”) with trusts (the “Trusts”) controlled by
our CEO, Dr. Michael Dent, pursuant to which the Trusts contributed an aggregate of 76,026 shares of common stock of NeoGenomics, Inc. (NEO”
and the “NEO Shares”) with a fair value of $3,066,889 to us, in exchange for an aggregate of 2,750,000 shares of our newly designated Series B
Preferred Stock and an aggregate of 24,522,727 shares of our common stock.
Using in part the proceeds from sale of the NEO Shares received in the August 2020 Equity Transaction, we retired debt with a face value of
$1,658,750, including $1,012,750 convertible notes with adjustable conversion rates pegged to a fixed discount to the trading price of our common
stock. Our remaining convertible debt with a face value of $1,038,500 was converted into shares of common stock by the holder of such debt in
January 2021.
On October 19, 2020, we acquired MedOfficeDirect L.L.C. (“MOD”), a virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both
consumers and medical practices throughout the United States. With over 13,000 name brand medical products in over 150 different categories,
MOD leverages Group Purchasing Organization pricing discounts with a small unit-of-measure direct-to-consumer shipping model to make ordering
medical supplies both convenient and highly cost effective for its users.
Health Services Division
In August 2014, we acquired NWC, an OB/GYN practice in Naples, Florida that was established in 1996. NWC provides Obstetrical and
Gynecological medical services to patients in the Southwest Florida region. NWC currently employs two OB/GYN physicians and two ARNP nurse
practitioners. The services offered include obstetrical services for high and low risk patients, in office ultrasonography, and prenatal testing.
Gynecological services include general physical exams, surgical procedures such as hysterectomy, bladder incontinence procedures, pelvic
reconstruction, sterilization, endometrial ablation, advanced robotic surgery, contraceptive management and infertility testing and treatment.
On April 12, 2019 we acquired a 100% interest in Hughes Center for Functional Medicine (“HCFM”), a medical practice engaged in
improving the health of its patients through individualized and integrative health care. HCFM, which was rebranded as NCFM upon acquisition, is a
leader in functional medicine focusing on neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer’s, Parkinson’s and Multiple Sclerosis. HCFM provides
cutting-edge treatments to improve health and slow aging, including hormones, thyroid, weight loss, wellness and prevention. HCFM’s income
streams are derived from patient office visits, a dedicated IV room, hyperbaric oxygen chambers, ozone, UVlrx, DNA sequence testing and the sale
of supplements.
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In January 2020, we launched a new physical therapy practice in Bonita Springs, Florida called Bridging the Gap Physical Therapy
(“BTG”). BTG employs two doctors who provide hands-on functional manual therapy techniques to speed patients’ recovery and manage pain
without pain medication or surgery.
Digital HealthCare Division
We operate a cloud-based Patient Information Network (PIN) and record archiving system, referred to as the “HealthLynked Network”,
which enables patients and doctors to keep track of medical information via the Internet in a cloud-based system. Through our website,
www.HealthLynked.com and our mobile apps, patients can complete a detailed online personal medical history including past surgical history,
medications, allergies, and family medical history. Once this information is entered, patients and their treating physicians are able to update the
information as needed, to provide a comprehensive and up to date medical history.
We believe that the HealthLynked Network offers several advantages to patients and physicians not available in the market today. We
provide a comprehensive marketing solution allowing physicians to market to both active and inactive patients, and an easy-to-use connection at the
point of care through our Patient Access Hub (“PAH”). Patient members can access medical newsfeeds and groups. Our real-time appointment
scheduling application allows for patients to book appointments online with participating healthcare providers. Our database and record archives
allow for seamless sharing of medical records between healthcare providers and keeps patients in control of shared access. In the HealthLynked
Network, parents can create accounts for their children that are linked to their family account, allowing them to provide access to healthcare
providers, track vaccination records, and allow hospitals and schools access to important medical information in case of emergencies. The
HealthLynked Network is accessible 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, via the internet and on mobile applications for both Android and iOS devices.
We believe this type of accessibility is important for schools and during office visits, but more important, in times of a medical emergency.
We anticipate that our system will also provide for 24-hour access to medical specialist healthcare providers who can answer medical
questions and direct appropriate care to paying members. In addition to 24-hour access, patients may also schedule telemedicine consultations at set
times with participating healthcare providers who have expertise in various specialized areas of medicine. Participating physicians can elect to allow
patients to request online appointments either via our real-time app or by setting, in their administrator dashboard panel, times and days of the week
that patients may request appointments. Appointment requests are then sent by our system to an email address specified by the physician’s office,
requesting a follow up to confirm these appointment requests or automatically accept the appointment request.
HealthLynked has created 880,000 physician base profiles for most physicians in the United States, which are searchable on the Internet.
Physicians can claim their profiles confirming the accuracy of the information free of charge.
There are three types of providers in the HealthLynked Network: in-network, out of network and participating providers. All physicians can
claim their profile and update basic information online and add videos and images of their profile. Once a provider has claimed their profile they are
considered in-network. Providers that opt to pay a monthly fee for access to the full range of HealthLynked Network services, which include online
scheduling, marketing services and analytics about their practice performance are considered Participating Providers.
HealthLynked provider profiles enable participating providers to market directly to patients through our PAH and online marketing services
to recruit new patients and reengage with former patients. Physician practices generate more income the more patients they treat, so maximizing
efficiency and patient turnover is critical to increasing total revenues and profitability. As such, we believe that our system will enable physicians to
reduce the amount of time required to process patient intake forms, as patients will no longer be required to spend ten to thirty minutes filling out
forms at each visit, and the practices’ staffs will not need to input this information multiple times into their electronic medical records systems.
Patients complete their online profiles once, and thereafter, they and their physicians are able to update their profiles as needed. Physicians’
participating in the HealthLynked Network are required to update the patient records within 24 hours of seeing the patient. The information is
organized in an easy-to-read format to enable a physician to review the necessary information quickly during, and prior to, patient visits, which in
turn facilitates a more comprehensive and effective patient encounter.
Patient data is stored in conformity with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, the Health Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and the regulations promulgated under each by the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services, Office of Civil Rights (collectively, “HIPAA”). The network utilizes Amazon AWS infrastructure which uses Amazon HIPPA complaint
servers along with Amazon RDS with LAMP, HTML5 and several JavaScript frameworks, including Angular and React. Recommendations for end
users are a 512 kbps+ internet connection speed and a web browser such as Google Chrome, Internet Explorer, Mozilla Firefox, Safari or handheld
devices such as iOS devices, android phones or tablets. Our developers utilize third party controls for functionality and user interface where the use
of those controls adds value to the system beyond custom creation of new tools. We intend to adjust forward compatibility for major browser version
updates, new browsers, operating system updates or new operating system as needed. The HealthLynked Network is EMR agnostic, and is
compatible with all electronic medical records systems, allowing for minimal barriers to participation and broader penetration of the market.
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On February 27, 2020, we released our COVID-19 tracker application for IOS mobile devices. We released our Android version on March
5, 2020. The application allows users to report how they are feeling and if they are having any symptoms consistent with COVID-19 infection. In
addition, the application includes a detailed global map tracking the virus including the only tracking by county in the United States, the latest twitter
feeds, and a real-time chat for users to engage with people from around the world to share information. The application had over 6 million downloads
in a ten-week period after launch and was the number one tracking application in the Apple Medical Store for the month of March 2020.
On October 27, 2020 we launched Oohvie, a new iOS application focused on women’s healthcare. Oohvie offers unique features over
competitive menstrual tracking apps, including the ability to connect with a user’s healthcare providers and share menstrual cycle data. This
important information allows gynecologists to better evaluate patients for the causes of hormonal irregularities, infertility, pelvic pain, endomitosis
and many other medical conditions and provides data that could help identify gynecological problems such as fibroids, polyps, or cervical or uterine
cancer. Oohvie users also have access to a health forum designed specifically for women, covering topics such as contraception, menopause,
hormones, pregnancy, sexual health, and pelvic infections. Oohvie offers a real time chat feature where users can discuss their experiences with birth
control pills, menstrual symptoms, and other issues in private. In addition, users can purchase name brand feminine hygiene products that are shipped
directly to their home at significantly discounted prices. Users can also use the app to schedule reminders for taking birth control pills or hormones.
On February 4, 2021, we released CareLynk, an innovative AI-enabled healthcare directory allowing users to call one number and connect
to any doctor across the U.S. CareLynk utilizes natural language processing (NLP) and voice-to-text technology to understand what healthcare
provider a caller is looking for. The system includes doctors from over 88 different medical specialties. Providers can be located by last name, zip
code and specialty. Results are filtered in order of relevance allowing the user to quickly and efficiently locate the provider they are searching for,
hands-free. CareLynk has been released first in Florida, connecting patients to over 33,000 doctors throughout the state. CareLynk, which is capable
of connecting to over 300,000 doctors across all 50 states, is expected to be expanded to include the rest of the United States in the second half of
2021.
ACO/MSO Division
CHM and its wholly owned subsidiary AHP, which we acquired in April 2020, combine to operate an ACO. The MSSP is a program created
under the Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) designed to enhance the efficiency of healthcare provided to patients covered by Medicare. The program
allows for the creation of ACOs, which are organizations that agree to take responsibility for the efficiency of healthcare services provided by a
group of participating healthcare providers under Medicare. The ACO is held accountable for the efficiency of the healthcare services of its
participating providers as measured against benchmarks prescribed in the MSSP and earns shared savings payments if such benchmarks are met. This
division also provides contracted consulting services to healthcare providers and other ACOs. In September 2020, AHP received a shared savings
payment of $767,744 from the MSSP program.
Medical Distribution Division
In October 2020, we acquired MOD, a Naples, Florida-based virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both consumers
and medical practices throughout the United States. With over 13,000 name brand medical products in over 150 different categories, MOD leverages
Group Purchasing Organization (GPO) pricing discounts with a small unit-of-measure direct-to-consumer shipping model to make ordering medical
supplies both convenient and highly cost effective for its users. The MOD online marketplace can be found at www.medofficedirect.com. MOD was
founded in 2014.
The HealthLynked Network- How It Works
Our system walks patients through a series of easy-to-use pages with point and click selections and drop-down menus that allow them to
enter their past medical history, past surgical history, allergies, medications, and family medical history. In addition, members can create accounts for
children under the age of 18 and keep track of required visits and vaccines. Members select physicians, schools, hospitals and other parties to whom
they wish to grant access to their records. This access can be either ongoing, or restricted by time and date, in accordance with the patient’s control
settings.
Physicians are required to have a claimed active account in order to access patients’ online records and receive referrals for new patients.
Once a patient has granted their physician access to their medical charts, office intake paperwork can be downloaded by the physician without the
need for the patient to fill out lengthy and repetitive paperwork. Upon completion of the office visit, providers are required to upload the medical
record into the online patients’ file within 24 hours via eFax, APIs with select EMRs or through the HealthLynked Portal. Each patient’s account has
a unique bar code that when faxed into our system is recognized for that patient, and archived in the patient’s chart, by date and provider. The
HealthLynked Network is independent of any EMR system and physicians only require a fax machine or computer to participate, allowing for
minimal barriers to participation and broader penetration of the market.
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In addition to serving as a complete medical record archive, we believe that the HealthLynked Network allows for shorter wait times at
doctors’ offices by giving doctors immediate access to patients’ complete medical information, insurance information and required treatment consent
forms. Patients only need to verify their treating physician’s access to their files upon or prior to their next doctor’s visit. Patients are also able to
coordinate multiple physician visits and keep an updated and complete personal medical record archive. These files may also be shared among a
patient’s different specialty physicians, a function that we believe is especially helpful for patients who travel and may need to access their records or
obtain physician referrals in multiple localities. We also believe that the HealthLynked Network is especially useful in medical emergencies when
patients are unable to provide a medical history on their own because our system allows patients the option to grant healthcare providers, in advance,
special access in emergency situations.
The HealthLynked Network also provides an online scheduling function for patients to book appointments with participating providers.
Healthcare provider profiles feature physicians’ biographies, office locations, hours and available appointment times. In addition, the platform will
provide patients with a list of recommended health screenings tailored to each patient’s unique medical history and demographics. Recommended
screenings could include, but is not limited to, annual mammograms for women over the age of 40, colonoscopies every 10 years after the age of 50,
recommended pap smear screenings, routine blood tests, and prostate exams. This base service will be free for patients. However, we plan to charge
additional fees for real-time schedule booking, access to telemedicine service and access to a 24-hour nurse’s hotline, and we plan to charge
physicians for upgraded physician profiles, use of the PAH, and SEO marketing.
Benefits for Multiple Constituencies
We believe that the HealthLynked Network provides numerous benefits for patients and their relatives, medical providers, hospitals,
emergency rooms and schools.
Benefits for patients:
●

Base service, which includes all of the below benefits other than telemedicine and the nurse hotline, will be free

●

Easy online scheduling of appointments

●

Real-time booking for appointments available within 4 hours

●

Keep track of co-pays and deductibles on insurance plans

●

More accurate and detailed personal medical history

●

Complete medication lists with dosing and warnings of potential drug interactions

●

Ability to create accounts for children, and track recommended health screenings and vaccines

●

When traveling, patients will have the ability to access their medical records online 24 hours a day, 7 days a week even in the case of an
emergency

●

Shortened wait times at physicians’ offices by reducing the need to fill out redundant paperwork

●

Access to a referral network of physicians across the United States who participate in the HealthLynked Network

●

Patients can access family members’ records in the event of illness or accident

●

Access to telemedicine for medical consultations and appointments for fee paying members

●

24-hour nurse hotline available for fee paying members

Benefits for physicians and providers:
●

More accurate patient medical history including past medical records

●

“EMR Agnostic” and compatible with all electronic medical records systems

●

A detailed and accurate medications list from patients

●

Shortened time for patients to complete necessary paperwork translating into improved efficiency, shorter wait times, greater patient
satisfaction and higher revenues

●

Online marketing profiles
4
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●

Comprehensive Marketing to active and inactive patients

●

SEO and marketing options

●

Co-pay and deductible information on patients’ insurance plans will be readily available

●

Additional revenue stream from signing up new patients

●

Online and real-time patient scheduling to control gaps in scheduling due to last minute cancelations by existing patients

●

Low membership fees of $300 - $400 per month per provider during the first year

●

The PAH is provided to physician offices for $60 per month to provide free Wi-Fi for their patients, provide for social distancing, and
quick check-in application for their patients. Specific patient analytics are provided to physician members.

Benefits for hospitals and emergency rooms:
●

Information on patients who present that are not conscious to provide a complete medical history

●

Information on traveling patients who present to a hospital in an emergency situation

●

Online access to patient information 24 hours a day, 7 days a week

●

“EMR Agnostic” and compatible with all electronic medical records systems

●

No new equipment required

Benefits for schools:
●

Access by authorized school officials to students’ medical histories

●

Linked access to students’ primary care physicians

●

Access to vaccination records

●

Allergy and medication tracking

●

Emergency contact information of family members

Benefits for parents:
●

Complete childrens’ profiles

●

Access given to schools in case of medical emergences

●

List of allergies available to those granted access

●

Vaccine records available to those granted access

●

Recommended health screenings

●

Journal for health log and milestones through news feeds and groups

Business Model
Our business model is focused on market penetration and recruiting physicians and patients to use our system for archiving patient medical
records, comprehensive marketing to active and inactive patients, connecting on a regular basis utilizing news feeds and groups, accessing new
patients, and for on-line “real-time” scheduling physician appointments.
We charge physicians a subscription fee between $60 and $300 per month to participate in the network, depending on the level of access and
functionality. Participating physicians upload their patient files into a secure patient portal to market to their active and inactive patients. The
physicians initially send to all of their patients an email inviting their patients to claim their HLYK profiles free of charge, update their profiles and
bring their profiles with them to their next visit to the physician’s office.
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We also anticipate charging certain healthcare facilities either an annual or monthly fee that will vary per facility based upon number of
professionals per facility. Currently, it is anticipated that hospitals and emergency rooms would be charged a higher fee for our services once our
patient and physician network has been expanded.
The base services of our network are free for patients, and they may also upgrade their service should they wish to receive telemedicine
services, access to a 24-hour nurse hotline, and access to savings programs through partnerships that HLYK offers.
Pursuant to our business strategy, we began deployment of the HealthLynked Network by registering NWC’s approximately 6,000 active
patients and 6,500 inactive patients. We then added patients from the healthcare providers serviced by CHM and AHP following our acquisition of
CHM in May 2020. With funds raised in 2021, we plan to invest in telesales and SEO/SEM marketing efforts to further populate the database with
patients and physicians. While we have generated minimal revenues from physician fees related to such deployment through 2020, we believe that
establishing the patient database will be a valuable marketing tool for telesales, product sales and other marketing opportunities to physician
practices.
Sales Strategy
Our projected rapid growth over the next five years is due in large part to our roll out and utilization of the PAH in medical practices.
Starting in 2019, we deployed our PAH, providing free Wi-Fi to practice patients at no cost to our in-network physicians. Physician members receive
patient analytics from the PAH and we anticipate that by 2022 we will be attracting 100 physicians and 75,000 patients per quarter utilizing the PAH.
Our marketing efforts towards physicians will emphasize how our systems can provide patient analytics, increase practice revenues, improve
office efficiencies, and improve the accuracy of recorded patients’ medical histories.
Once a physician agrees to become a paying member, they will put all their patient files in a secured portal in the cloud, and email their
patients to claim their profiles, update it and bring their profiles in for their next office visit. As mentioned above, access to the HealthLynked
Network is free for patients. The physicians then market to their active and inactive patients.
PAH analytics will include information such as most popular days, most popular times of day, patient wait times per physician, patient mix,
and social media footprint, to name a few.
Healthcare events that offer continuing medical education (“CME”) credits to Physicians have proven to be an excellent target market for
our services and we plan to continue with this strategy of at least one event per quarter going forward.
In combination with our telesales efforts described above, we also intend to also utilize internet-based search engine marketing an
optimization (SEM/SEO) to increase our presence in certain targeted geographical areas. These campaigns will be focused on both physicians and
patients. We believe that direct to consumer marketing through email campaigns will be an effective way to build interest and drive patient and
physician demand for our services. We anticipate that we will be able to foster faster market penetration and increase demand for our services by
marketing to “both sides”, the consumer and the practitioner once the telesales model is solidified.
Our campaigns will direct patients to look for physicians in the HealthLynked Network to ensure that they maintain the accuracy and
completeness of their medical records. Our system will further allow patients to search for “in-network” physician providers and schedule online
“real-time” appointments via our system. We believe that physicians in the HealthLynked Network will see an increase in new patients as a result of
their participation and as more patients claim their profiles from the use of the PAH and the physicians’ initial emails to patients, the value to
physicians of joining our network will increase from not only existing patient marketing, but also for acquisition of new patients in the HealthLynked
Network.
We believe that affiliated marketing campaigns will be very helpful in attracting new users and increasing market awareness. We intend to
partner with pharmaceutical companies, medical distributors, insurance companies; medical societies, large healthcare systems and others to cross
market our products.
Intellectual Property
We have registered “HealthLynked” and our corporate logo as a service mark with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the
“USPTO”). We also filed two patent applications for the use of our PAH with the USPTO, both of which are pending.
Research and Development
Our research and development efforts consist of building, developing, and enhancing the HealthLynked Network, including comprehensive
marketing to active and inactive patients, the real time scheduling of appointments through our new mobile application, regular appointment
scheduling, telemedicine appointment scheduling, sharing of secured documents between physicians and patients, and independent access via mobile,
tablet and web browser. Further, we are developing our systems to provide for secured date storage, drug interaction alerts, and the barcoding of
documents for retrieval and storage.
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Professional and General Liability Coverage
We maintain directors’ and officers’, professional and general liability insurance policies with third-party insurers generally on a claimsmade basis, subject to deductibles, policy aggregates, exclusions, and other restrictions, in accordance with standard industry practice. We believe
that our insurance coverage is appropriate based upon our claims experience and the nature and risks of our business. However, no assurance can be
given that any pending or future claim against us will not be successful or if successful will not exceed the limits of available insurance coverage.
Our business entails an inherent risk of claims of medical malpractice against our affiliated physicians and us. We contract and pay premiums for
professional liability insurance that indemnifies us and our affiliated healthcare professionals generally on a claims-made basis for losses incurred
related to medical malpractice litigation. Professional liability coverage is required in order for our physicians to maintain hospital privileges.
Employees
As of March 30, 2021, we had 47 employees. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We consider our
relationship with our employees to be excellent.
Competition
The markets for our Digital Healthcare products and services are highly competitive and are characterized by rapidly evolving technology
and product standards, as well as frequent introduction of new products and services. Most of our competitors are more established, benefit from
greater name recognition, and have substantially greater financial, technical, and marketing resources than we do. Our principal existing competitors
include, but are not limited to, ZocDoc, Inc., AthenaHealth Inc., All-scripts Healthcare Solutions, Inc., Cerner Corporation, Epic Systems
Corporation, Teledoc Health Inc., Veritone Inc. and Oscar Health. In addition, we expect that major software information systems companies, large
information technology consulting service providers, start-up companies, managed care companies and others specializing in the health care industry
may offer competitive products and services. Amazon, Google, and Apple have also announced their intention to enter into the digital healthcare
space, including in the area of patient health records.
We believe that we differ from our competitors in that we are not a practice management software or an EMR provider. Companies like
AthenaHealth Inc., Allscripts Healthcare Solutions, Inc., Cerner and Epic Systems Corporation offer software solutions to operate and manage a
medical practice. Functions of these systems include patient billing, monitoring patient account balances and payments, tracking of appointments and
creating encounter visits and a medical record for each patient seen. HealthLynked works in conjunction with these practice management software
systems and does not seek to replace them. Patients’ medical record created by these systems are uploaded to the patient’s profile in the
HealthLynked Network. The HealthLynked Network can incorporate any physical or digital documents into a patient’s medical record history and
thus allow it to be utilized across all healthcare platforms. HealthLynked provides an online appointment scheduling application that is similar to
ZocDoc, Inc.’s offering, but in addition offers telemedicine appointments through our own patient interface.
The advantage of having a healthcare network independent of any one practice management or EMR software allows the HealthLynked
system to be fully utilized across the entire medical community. Integration and participation by both patients and healthcare providers in a unified
platform offers significant advantages in the quality and nature of healthcare delivery in the future. To our knowledge a unified healthcare network
like HealthLynked currently does not exist in the market.
Competitors in our Patient Services division include OB/GYN, functional medicine and physical therapy practices throughout southwest
Florida.
Competitors in our ACO/MSO division include large Florida-based ACOs Palm Beach Accountable Care Organization and Millennium
Accountable Care Organization, among others. There are approximately 650 active ACOs in the U.S.
Competitors in our Medical Distribution division indirectly include large unit-of-measure distributors such as McKesson Corp. and Henry
Schein. We attempt to differentiate MOD’s model from these large distributors by focusing on small unit-of-measure direct to patients and physician
practices.
Government Regulation
The healthcare industry is governed by a framework of federal and state laws, rules and regulations that are extensive and complex and for
which, in many cases, the industry has the benefit of only limited judicial and regulatory interpretation. If we are found to have violated these laws,
rules, or regulations, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Moreover, healthcare reform
continues to attract significant legislative interest, regulatory activity, new approaches, legal challenges, and public attention that create uncertainty
and the potential for additional changes. Healthcare reform implementation, additional legislation or regulations, and other changes in government
policy or regulation may affect our reimbursement, restrict our existing operations, limit the expansion of our business, or impose additional
compliance requirements and costs, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and the trading price of our common stock.
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Healthcare Reform
Health care laws and regulations are rapidly evolving and may change significantly in the future, which could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations. In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the accompanying Health Care and Education
Affordability Reconciliation Act, collectively referred to as the ACA, were enacted. The ACA includes a variety of health care reform provisions and
requirements, which became effective at varying times since its enactment and substantially changed the way health care is financed by both
governmental and private insurers.
In January 2017, President Donald Trump issued an executive order titled “Minimizing the Economic Burden of the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act Pending Repeal.” The order directed agencies with authorities and responsibilities under the ACA to waive, defer, grant
exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the ACA that would impose a fiscal or regulatory burden on states, individuals,
health care providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices. In October 2017, President Trump issued a second
executive order relating to the ACA titled “Promoting Healthcare Choice and Competition Across the United States,” which further directs federal
agencies to modify how the ACA is implemented, and soon after announced the termination of the cost-sharing subsidies that reimburse insurers
under the ACA. To date, Congressional efforts to completely repeal and replace the ACA have been unsuccessful. However, the individual mandate
for health insurance coverage under the ACA was repealed by Congress as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act that was signed into law on December
22, 2017.
Other proposed changes and reforms to the ACA have included, or may include the following: prohibiting the federal government from
operating health insurance marketplaces; eliminating the advanced premium tax credits, and cost sharing reductions for low income individuals who
purchase their health insurance through the marketplaces; expanding and encouraging the use of private health savings accounts; providing for
insurance plans that offer fewer and less extensive health insurance benefits than under the ACA’s essential health benefits package, including
broader use of catastrophic coverage plans, or short-term health insurance; establishing and funding high risk pools or reinsurance programs for
individuals with chronic or high cost conditions; and allowing insurers to sell insurance across state lines.
Because of the continued uncertainty about the implementation of the ACA, including the timing of and potential for legal challenges, repeal
or amendment of that legislation and the future of the health insurance exchanges, we cannot quantify or predict with any certainty the likely impact
of the ACA on our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
Licensing and Certification
Our clinical personnel are subject to numerous federal, state, and local licensing laws and regulations, relating to, among other things,
professional credentialing and professional ethics. Penalties for non-compliance with these laws and standards include loss of professional license,
civil or criminal fines and penalties, and exclusion from participation in various governmental and other third-party healthcare programs. Our clinical
professionals are also subject to state and federal regulation regarding prescribing medication and controlled substances. Every physician who
administers, prescribes, or dispenses any controlled substance must be registered with the Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”). Additionally,
our clinical personnel are required to meet applicable Medicaid and Medicare provider requirements, as set forth under state and federal laws, rules,
and regulations. Further, our facilities are also subject to federal, state, and local licensing regulations: we may have to obtain regulatory approval,
including certificates of need, before establishing certain types of healthcare facilities, offering certain services, or expending amounts in excess of
statutory thresholds for healthcare equipment, facilities or programs. Our ability to operate profitably will depend, in part, upon our ability and the
ability of our clinicians and facilities to obtain and maintain all necessary licenses, certifications, accreditations, and other approvals.
Fraud and Abuse Provisions
Existing federal laws, as well as similar state laws, relating to government-sponsored or funded healthcare programs, or “GHC Programs,”
impose a variety of fraud and abuse prohibitions on healthcare companies like us. These laws are interpreted broadly and enforced aggressively by
multiple government agencies, including the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services, the Department of Justice
(the “DOJ”) and various state agencies. In addition, in the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005, Congress established a Medicaid Integrity Program to
enhance federal and state efforts to detect Medicaid fraud, waste, and abuse and provide financial incentives for states to enact their own false claims
legislation as an additional enforcement tool against Medicaid fraud and abuse. Since then, a growing number of states have enacted or expanded
healthcare fraud and abuse laws.
The fraud and abuse provisions include extensive federal and state laws, rules and regulations applicable to us, particularly on the services
offered through NWC. In particular, the federal anti-kickback statute has criminal provisions relating to the offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of
any remuneration in return for either referring Medicaid, Medicare or other GHC Program business, or purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for
or recommending any service or item for which payment may be made by GHC Programs. In addition, the federal physician self-referral law,
commonly known as the “Stark Law,” applies to physician ordering of certain designated health services reimbursable by Medicare from an entity
with which the physician has a prohibited financial relationship. These laws are broadly worded and have been broadly interpreted by federal courts,
and potentially subject many healthcare business arrangements to government investigation and prosecution, which can be costly and time
consuming. Violations of these laws are punishable by substantial penalties, including monetary fines, civil penalties, administrative remedies,
criminal sanctions (in the case of the anti-kickback statute), exclusion from participation in GHC Programs and forfeiture of amounts collected in
violation of such laws, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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There are a variety of other types of federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including laws authorizing the imposition of criminal, civil and
administrative penalties for filing false or fraudulent claims for reimbursement with government healthcare programs. These laws include the civil
False Claims Act (“FCA”), which prohibits the submission of, or causing to be submitted, false claims to GHC Programs, including Medicaid,
Medicare, TRICARE (the program for military dependents and retirees), the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program, and insurance plans
purchased through ACA exchanges. Substantial civil fines and multiple damages, along with other remedies, can be imposed for violating the FCA.
Furthermore, proving a violation of the FCA requires only that the government show that the individual or company that submitted or caused to be
submitted an allegedly false claim acted in “reckless disregard” or in “deliberate ignorance” of the truth or falsity of the claim or with “willful
disregard,” notwithstanding that there may have been no specific intent to defraud the government program and no actual knowledge that the claim
was false (which typically are required to be shown to sustain a criminal conviction). The FCA also applies to the improper retention of known
overpayments and includes “whistleblower” provisions that permit private citizens to sue a claimant on behalf of the government and thereby share in
the amounts recovered under the law and to receive additional remedies. In recent years, many cases have been brought against healthcare companies
by such “whistleblowers,” which have resulted in judgments or, more often, settlements involving substantial payments to the government by the
companies involved. It is anticipated that the number of such actions against healthcare companies will continue to increase with the enactment or
enhancement of a growing number of state false claims acts, certain amendments to the FCA and enhanced government enforcement.
Further, HIPAA established a national Health Care Fraud and Abuse Control Program under the joint direction of the Attorney General and
the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), acting through the Inspector General, designed to coordinate federal,
state, and local law enforcement activities with respect to health care fraud and abuse. Under HIPAA, a healthcare benefit program includes any
private plan or contract affecting interstate commerce under which any medical benefit, item, or service is provided. A person or entity that
knowingly and willfully obtains the money or property of any healthcare benefit program by means of false or fraudulent representations in
connection with the delivery of healthcare services is subject to a fine or imprisonment, or both. In addition, HIPAA authorizes the imposition of civil
money penalties against entities that employ or enter into contracts with excluded Medicare or Medicaid program participants if such entities provide
services to federal health program beneficiaries.
In addition, federal and state agencies that administer healthcare programs have at their disposal statutes, commonly known as “civil money
penalty laws,” that authorize substantial administrative fines and exclusion from government programs in cases where an individual or company that
filed a false claim, or caused a false claim to be filed, knew or should have known that the claim was false or fraudulent. As under the FCA, it often is
not necessary for the agency to show that the claimant had actual knowledge that the claim was false or fraudulent in order to impose these penalties.
The civil and administrative false claims statutes are being applied in an increasingly broad range of circumstances. For example,
government authorities have asserted that claiming reimbursement for services that fail to meet applicable quality standards may, under certain
circumstances, violate these statutes. Government authorities also often take the position, now with support in the FCA, that claims for services that
were induced by kickbacks, Stark Law violations or other illicit marketing schemes are fraudulent and, therefore, violate the false claims statutes.
Many of the laws and regulations referenced above can be used in conjunction with each other.
If we were excluded from participation in any government-sponsored healthcare programs, not only would we be prohibited from
submitting claims for reimbursement under such programs, but we also would be unable to contract with other healthcare providers, such as
hospitals, to provide services to them. It could also adversely affect our ability to contract with, or to obtain payment from, non-governmental payors.
Although we intend to conduct our business in compliance with all applicable federal and state fraud and abuse laws, many of the laws,
rules and regulations applicable to us, including those relating to billing and those relating to financial relationships with physicians and hospitals, are
broadly worded and may be interpreted or applied by prosecutorial, regulatory or judicial authorities in ways that we cannot predict. Accordingly, we
cannot assure you that our arrangements or business practices will not be subject to government scrutiny or be alleged or found to violate applicable
fraud and abuse laws. Moreover, the standards of business conduct expected of healthcare companies under these laws and regulations have become
more stringent in recent years, even in instances where there has been no change in statutory or regulatory language. If there is a determination by
government authorities that we have not complied with any of these laws, rules and regulations, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially, adversely affected.
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Government Reimbursement Requirements
In order to participate in the various state Medicaid programs and in the Medicare program, we must comply with stringent and often
complex enrollment and reimbursement requirements. Moreover, different states impose differing standards for their Medicaid programs. While we
believe that we adhere to the laws, rules and regulations applicable to the government programs in which we participate, any failure to comply with
these laws, rules and regulations could negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, GHC Programs are subject to statutory and regulatory changes, administrative rulings, interpretations and determinations,
requirements for utilization review and new governmental funding restrictions, all of which may materially increase or decrease program payments,
as well as affect the cost of providing services and the timing of payments to providers. Moreover, because these programs generally provide for
reimbursement on a fee-schedule basis rather than on a charge-related basis, we generally cannot increase our revenue by increasing the amount we
charge for our services. To the extent our costs increase, we may not be able to recover our increased costs from these programs, and cost
containment measures and market changes in non-governmental insurance plans have generally restricted our ability to recover, or shift to nongovernmental payors, these increased costs. In attempts to limit federal and state spending, there have been, and we expect that there will continue to
be, a number of proposals to limit or reduce Medicaid and Medicare reimbursement for various services. Our business may be significantly and
adversely affected by any such changes in reimbursement policies and other legislative initiatives aimed at reducing healthcare costs associated with
Medicaid, Medicare and other government healthcare programs.
Our business also could be adversely affected by reductions in or limitations of reimbursement amounts or rates under these government
programs, reductions in funding of these programs or elimination of coverage for certain individuals or treatments under these programs.
HIPAA and Other Privacy Laws
Numerous federal and state laws, rules, and regulations govern the collection, dissemination, use, and confidentiality of protected health
information, including HIPAA, and its implementing regulations, violations of which are punishable by monetary fines, civil penalties and, in some
cases, criminal sanctions. As part of the HealthLynked Network and our medical record keeping, third-party billing and other services, we collect and
maintain protected health information on the patients that we serve.
Pursuant to HIPAA, the HHS has adopted standards to protect the privacy and security of individually identifiable health information,
known as the Privacy Standards and Security Standards. HHS’ Privacy Standards apply to medical records and other individually identifiable health
information in any form, whether electronic, paper or oral, that is used or disclosed by healthcare providers, hospitals, health plans and healthcare
clearinghouses, which are known as “covered entities.” HHS’ Security Standards require healthcare providers to implement administrative, physical
and technical safeguards to protect the integrity, confidentiality and availability of individually identifiable health information that is electronically
received, maintained or transmitted (including between us and our affiliated practices). Further, the Health Information Technology for Economic
and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH”) strengthened and expanded HIPAA, increased penalties for violations, gave patients new rights to
restrict uses and disclosures of their health information, and imposed a number of privacy and security requirements directly on business associates
that perform functions or services on behalf of covered entities. Specifically, HITECH requires that covered entities report any unauthorized use or
disclosure of protected health information that meets the definition of a “breach” to the affected individuals, HHS, and, depending on the number of
affected individuals, the media for the affected market. In addition, HITECH requires that business associates report breaches to their covered entity
customers. HITECH also authorizes state Attorneys General to bring civil actions in response to violations of HIPAA that threaten the privacy of
state residents. Final regulations implementing the HITECH requirements were issued in January 2013.
In addition to the federal HIPAA and HITECH requirements, numerous other state and certain other federal laws protect the confidentiality
of patient information, including state medical privacy laws, state social security number protection laws, state genetic privacy laws, human subjects
research laws and federal and state consumer protection laws.
Compliance Programs
Organizations that receive reimbursement from a federal or state government payor are expected by the federal government to have a
compliance program. Specifically, compliance programs are integral to identifying and rectifying fraud and abuse risk areas, billing and coding
violations, and educating employees about the law and other legal requirements or restrictions within the scope of their practice. We maintain a
program to monitor compliance with federal and state laws and regulations applicable to healthcare entities. We believe that our compliance program
meets the relevant standards provided by the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services.
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Environmental Regulations
Our healthcare operations generate medical waste that must be disposed of in compliance with federal, state and local environmental laws,
rules and regulations. Our office-based operations are subject to compliance with various other environmental laws, rules and regulations. Such
compliance does not, and we anticipate that such compliance will not, materially affect our capital expenditures, financial position or results of
operations.
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
Some of our operations may be subject to compliance with certain provisions of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and comparable state
laws. Under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, a third-party collection company is restricted in the methods it uses to contact consumer debtors
and elicit payments with respect to placed accounts. Requirements under state collection agency statutes vary, with most requiring compliance
similar to that required under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. Florida’s Consumer Collection Practices Act is broader than the federal
legislation, applying the regulations to “creditors” as well as “collectors,” whereas the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act is applicable only to
collectors. This prohibits creditors who are attempting to collect their own debts from engaging in behavior prohibited by the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act and Consumer Collection Practices Act. The Consumer Collection Practices Act has very specific guidelines regarding which actions
debt collectors and creditors may engage in to collect unpaid debt.
Government Investigations
We expect that audits, inquiries and investigations from government authorities, agencies, contractors and payors will occur in the ordinary
course of business. Such audits, inquiries and investigations and their ultimate resolutions, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our common stock.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Forward-Looking Statements
All statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than statements of historical facts, that address future activities, events
or developments, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “PSLRA”),
including, but not limited to, statements containing the word “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect” and words of similar import. These statements are
based on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Company in light of its experience and assessment of historical trends, current conditions and
expected future developments as well as other factors the Company believes are appropriate under the circumstances. Although the Company
believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, forward-looking statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from those projected. The Company cautions investors that any forward-looking statements
made by the Company are not guarantees of future performance and that actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, without limitation: established competitors who have substantially greater financial resources and
operating histories, regulatory delays or denials, ability to compete as a start-up company in a highly competitive market, and access to sources of
capital.
FINANCIAL AND GENERAL BUSINESS RISKS
Coronavirus could adversely impact our business.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, the COVID-19
coronavirus has spread to multiple countries, including the United States. As the COVID-19 coronavirus continues to spread around the globe, we
could experience disruptions that could severely impact our business and our ability to raise capital to fund our operations. In addition, the outbreak
of COVID-19 could disrupt our operations due to absenteeism by infected or ill members of management or other employees, or absenteeism by
members of management and other employees who elect not to come to work due to the illness affecting others in our offices. COVID-19 illness
could also impact members of our Board of Directors resulting in absenteeism from meetings of the directors or committees of directors, and making
it more difficult to convene the quorums of the full Board of Directors or its committees needed to conduct meetings for the management of our
affairs.
The global outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus continues to rapidly evolve. The extent to which the COVID-19 coronavirus may impact
our business and clinical trials will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the
ultimate geographic spread of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, travel restrictions and social distancing in the United States and other
countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other countries to contain and treat
the disease.
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Our subsidiary the Naples Women’s Center has incurred losses in the past and may not be able to achieve profitability in the future.
Our subsidiary, NWC, was established in 1996, and is subject to many of the risks inherent in the practice of medicine. We cannot give any
assurance that NWC’s operations will continue as currently intended and no assurance can be given that we can continue to receive reimbursement
from third party payers. Further, changes in Healthcare regulations in the coming years may negatively impact our operations. NWC realized
segment loss from operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. During the third quarter of 2020, we downsized and relocated the
practice to a smaller facility. There is no guarantee that such cost control efforts will result in profitability for the operating segment.
We may never be able to implement our proposed online personal medical information and archiving system and as such, an investment in us at
this stage of our business is extremely risky.
The HealthLynked Network was soft launched in 2018. The success of the HealthLynked Network depends in large part on the population
of the network with physicians and patients. We continually develop additional functionality of the Network. However, we cannot predict the scale of
how many physicians and patients will adopt our technology, or if and when they do, the timing of such large-scale adoption. Further, it is possible
that other competitors with greater resources could enter the market and make it more difficult for us to attract or keep customers. Consequently, at
this phase of our development, our future is speculative and depends on the proper execution of our business model, including but not limited to
deploying the PAH, populating the HealthLynked Network with a substantial number of patients, registering paying physicians in the HealthLynked
Network, and continuing to develop additional applications and functionality for the HealthLynked Network.
Our future success depends on our ability to execute our business plan by fully developing our online medical records platform and recruiting
physicians and patients to adopt and use the system. However, there is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully implement our business
plan.
Our operations to date have been limited to providing patient services at our NWC, NCFM and BTG facilities, generating MSSP and
consulting revenue from our ACO/MSO segment acquired in May 2020, and generating product revenue from our Medical Distribution segment
acquired in October 2020. We have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully develop or market the online medical records platform we seek to
provide through the HealthLynked Network. We have not entered into any agreements with third party doctors or patients to use our system for their
medical records and there is no assurance that we will be able to enter into such agreements in the future.
We may not be able to effectively control and manage our growth.
Our strategy envisions a period of potentially rapid growth in our physician network over the next five years based on aggressively
increasing our marketing efforts. We currently maintain a small in-house programming, IT, administrative, marketing and sales personnel. The
capacity to service the online medical records platform and our expected growth, including growth via acquisition, may impose a significant burden
on our future planned administrative and operational resources. The growth of our business may require significant investments of capital and
increased demands on our management, workforce and facilities. We will be required to substantially expand our administrative and operational
resources and attract, train, manage and retain qualified employees, management and other personnel. Failure to do so, or to satisfy such increased
demands would interrupt or have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
The departure or loss of Dr. Michael Dent could disrupt our business.
During 2019 and 2020, we depended heavily on the continued efforts of Dr. Michael Dent, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board. Dr. Dent is essential to our strategic vision and day-to-day operations and would be difficult to replace. While we have entered into a written
employment contract with Dr. Dent, we cannot be certain that Dr. Dent will continue with us for any particular period of time. The departure or loss
of Dr. Dent, or the inability to hire and retain a qualified replacement, could negatively impact our ability to manage our business.
Our sales strategy may not be successful.
We eliminated our entire direct sales force in the fourth quarter of 2018 and adopted a telesales model. Although this change reduced our
annual burn rate by an estimated $650,000 annually, there is no assurance that our more cost-efficient telesales model will be effective, and this could
have a negative effect on the business and its growth. During 2021, we intend to invest in telesales and marketing efforts. There is no certainty that
the telesales and marketing model will be effective.
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The healthcare industry is highly regulated, and government authorities may determine that we have failed to comply with applicable laws, rules,
or regulations.
The healthcare industry, healthcare information technology, the online medical records platform services that we provide, and the
physicians’ medical practices we engage in through our Health Services segment are subject to extensive and complex federal, state, and local laws,
rules and regulations, compliance with which imposes substantial costs on us. Of particular importance are the provisions summarized as follows:
●

federal laws (including the federal False Claims Act) that prohibit entities and individuals from knowingly or recklessly making claims
to Medicaid, Medicare and other government-funded programs that contain false or fraudulent information or from improperly retaining
known overpayments;

●

a provision of the Social Security Act, commonly referred to as the “anti-kickback” statute, that prohibits the knowing and willful offer,
payment, solicitation or receipt of any bribe, kickback, rebate or other remuneration, in cash or in kind, in return for the referral or
recommendation of patients for items and services covered, in whole or in part, by federal healthcare programs, such as Medicaid and
Medicare;

●

a provision of the Social Security Act, commonly referred to as the Stark Law, that, subject to limited exceptions, applies when
physicians refer Medicare patients to an entity for the provision of certain “designated health services” if the physician or a member of
such physician’s immediate family has a direct or indirect financial relationship (including a compensation arrangement) with the
entity;

●

similar state law provisions pertaining to anti-kickback, fee splitting, self-referral and false claims issues, which typically are not limited
to relationships involving government-funded programs;

●

provisions of the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended (“HIPAA”) that prohibit knowingly
and willfully executing a scheme or artifice to defraud a healthcare benefit program or falsifying, concealing or covering up a material
fact or making any material false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare
benefits, items or services;

●

state laws that prohibit general business corporations from practicing medicine, controlling physicians’ medical decisions or engaging
in certain practices, such as splitting fees with physicians;

●

federal and state healthcare programs may deny our application to become a participating provider that could in turn cause us to not be
able to treat those patients or prohibit us from billing for the treatment services provided to such patients;

●

federal and state laws that prohibit providers from billing and receiving payment from Medicaid or Medicare for services unless the
services are medically necessary, adequately and accurately documented and billed using codes that accurately reflect the type and level
of services rendered;

●

federal and state laws pertaining to the provision of services by non-physician practitioners, such as advanced nurse practitioners,
physician assistants and other clinical professionals, physician supervision of such services and reimbursement requirements that may
be dependent on the manner in which the services are provided and documented; and

●

federal laws that impose civil administrative sanctions for, among other violations, inappropriate billing of services to federally funded
healthcare programs, inappropriately reducing hospital care lengths of stay for such patients, or employing individuals who are
excluded from participation in federally funded healthcare programs.

In addition, we believe that our business, including the business conducted through our Health Services segment, will continue to be subject
to increasing regulation, the scope and effect of which we cannot predict.
We may in the future become the subject of regulatory or other investigations or proceedings, and our interpretations of applicable laws,
rules and regulations may be challenged. For example, regulatory authorities or other parties may assert that our arrangements with the physicians
using the HealthLynked Network constitute fee splitting and seek to invalidate these arrangements, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our common stock. Regulatory authorities or other parties also
could assert that our relationships violate the anti-kickback, fee splitting or self-referral laws and regulations. Such investigations, proceedings and
challenges could result in substantial defense costs to us and a diversion of management’s time and attention. In addition, violations of these laws are
punishable by monetary fines, civil and criminal penalties, exclusion from participation in government-sponsored healthcare programs, and forfeiture
of amounts collected in violation of such laws and regulations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our overall business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our common stock.
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Furthermore, changes in these laws and regulations, or administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, may require us to change our
business practices which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Because of the complex
and far-reaching nature of these laws, there can be no assurance that we would not be required to alter one or more of our practices to be in
compliance with these
Federal and state laws that protect the privacy and security of protected health information may increase our costs and limit our ability to collect
and use that information and subject us to penalties if we are unable to fully comply with such laws.
Numerous federal and state laws and regulations govern the collection, dissemination, use, security and confidentiality of individually
identifiable health information. These laws include:
●

Provisions of HIPAA that limit how healthcare providers may use and disclose individually identifiable health information, provide
certain rights to individuals with respect to that information and impose certain security requirements;

●

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”), which strengthens and expands the HIPAA
Privacy Standards and Security Standards and imposes data breach notification obligations;

●

Other federal and state laws restricting the use and protecting the privacy and security of protected health information, many of which
are not preempted by HIPAA;

●

Federal and state consumer protection laws; and

●

Federal and state laws regulating the conduct of research with human subjects.

Through the HealthLynked Network, we collect and maintain protected health information in paper and electronic format. New protected
health information standards, whether implemented pursuant to HIPAA, HITECH, congressional action or otherwise, could have a significant effect
on the manner in which we handle healthcare-related data and communicate with third parties, and compliance with these standards could impose
significant costs on us, or limit our ability to offer certain services, thereby negatively impacting the business opportunities available to us.
In addition, if we do not comply with existing or new laws and regulations related to protected health information, we could be subject to
remedies that include monetary fines, civil or administrative penalties, civil damage awards or criminal sanctions.
RISKS RELATED TO THE HEALTHLYNKED NETWORK
The market for Internet-based personal medical information and record archiving systems may not develop substantially further or develop more
slowly than we expect, harming the growth of our business.
It is uncertain whether personal medical information and record archiving systems will achieve and sustain the high levels of demand and
market acceptance we anticipate. Further, even though we expect patients and physicians within our own Health Services segment to use the
HealthLynked Network, our success will depend, to a substantial extent, on the willingness of unaffiliated patients, physicians and hospitals to use
our services. Some patients, physicians and hospitals may be reluctant or unwilling to use our services, because they may have concerns regarding
the risks associated with the security and reliability, among other things, of the technology model associated with these services. If our target users do
not believe our systems are secure and reliable, then the market for these services may not expand as much or develop as quickly as we expect, either
of which would significantly adversely affect our business, financial condition, or operating results.
If we do not continue to innovate and provide services that are useful to our target users, we may not remain competitive, and our revenues and
operating results could suffer.
Our success depends on our ability to keep pace with technological developments, satisfy increasingly sophisticated client requirements, and
obtain market acceptance. Our competitors are constantly developing products and services that may become more efficient or appealing to our
clients and users. As a result, we will be required to invest significant resources in research and development in order to enhance our existing services
and introduce new high-quality services that clients and users will want, while offering these services at competitive prices.
If we are unable to predict user preferences or industry changes, or if we are unable to modify our services on a timely or cost-effective
basis, we may lose clients and target users. Our operating results would also suffer if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our clients
and users, are not appropriately timed with market opportunity, or are not effectively brought to market. As technology continues to develop, our
competitors may be able to offer results that are, or that are perceived to be, substantially similar to or better than those generated by our services.
This may force us to compete on additional service attributes and to expend significant resources in order to remain competitive.
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We may be unable to adequately protect, and we may incur significant costs in enforcing, our intellectual property and other proprietary rights.
Our success depends in part on our ability to enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We expect to rely upon a
combination of copyright, trademark, trade secret, and unfair competition laws, as well as license and access agreements and other contractual
provisions, to protect these rights.
Our attempts to protect our intellectual property through copyright, patent, and trademark registration may be challenged by others or
invalidated through administrative process or litigation. While we have submitted the application for our first provisional patent for our PAH and
intend to submit other patent applications covering our integrated technology, the scope of issued patents, if any, may be insufficient to prevent
competitors from providing products and services similar to ours, our patents may be successfully challenged, and we may not be able to obtain
additional meaningful patent protection in the future. There can be no assurance that our patent registration efforts will be successful.
Our expected agreements with clients, users, vendors and strategic partners will limit their use of, and allow us to retain our rights in, our
intellectual property and proprietary information. Further, we anticipate that these agreements will grant us ownership of intellectual property created
in the performance of those agreements to the extent that it relates to the provision of our services. In addition, we require certain of our employees
and consultants to enter into confidentiality, non-competition, and assignment of inventions agreements. We also require certain of our vendors and
strategic partners to agree to contract provisions regarding confidentiality and non-competition. However, no assurance can be given that these
agreements will not be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach. Further, no assurance can be given that these
agreements will be effective in preventing the unauthorized access to, or use of, our proprietary information or the reverse engineering of our
technology. Agreement terms that address non-competition are difficult to enforce in many jurisdictions and may not be enforceable in any particular
case. In any event, these agreements do not prevent our competitors from independently developing technology or authoring clinical information that
is substantially equivalent or superior to our technology or the information we distribute.
To the extent that our intellectual property and other proprietary rights are not adequately protected, third parties might gain access to our
proprietary information, develop and market products or services similar to ours, or use trademarks similar to ours, each of which could materially
harm our business. Existing U.S. federal and state intellectual property laws offer only limited protection. In addition, if we resort to legal
proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of
others, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive, even if we were to prevail. Any litigation that may be necessary in the future could
result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, or financial
condition.
In addition, our platforms incorporate “open source” software components that are licensed to us under various public domain licenses.
While we believe that we have complied with our obligations under the various applicable licenses for open source software that we use, open source
license terms are often ambiguous, and there is little or no legal precedent governing the interpretation of many of the terms of certain of these
licenses. Therefore, the potential impact of such terms on our business is somewhat unknown. For example, some open source licenses require that
those using the associated code disclose modifications made to that code and such modifications be licensed to third parties at no cost. We monitor
our use of open source software in an effort to avoid uses in a manner that would require us to disclose or grant licenses under our proprietary source
code. However, there can be no assurance that such efforts will be successful, and such use could inadvertently occur.
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We may be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights.
The software and internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks, and copyrights and by
frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We may receive in the future
communications from third parties claiming that we, our technology, or components thereof, infringe on the intellectual property rights of others. We
may not be able to withstand such third-party claims against our technology, and we could lose the right to use third-party technologies that are the
subject of such claims. Any intellectual property claims, whether with or without merit, could be time-consuming and expensive to resolve, divert
management attention from executing our business plan, and require us to pay monetary damages or enter into royalty or licensing agreements.
Although we intend that many of our third-party service providers will be obligated to indemnify us if their products infringe the rights of others,
such indemnification may not be effective or adequate to protect us or the indemnifying party may be unable to uphold its contractual obligations.
Moreover, any settlement or adverse judgment resulting from such a claim could require us to pay substantial amounts of money or obtain a
license to continue to use the technology or information that is the subject of the claim, or otherwise restrict or prohibit our use of the technology or
information. There can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, from third parties
asserting an infringement claim; that we would be able to develop alternative technology on a timely basis, if at all; that we would be able to obtain a
license to use a suitable alternative technology or information to permit us to continue offering, and our clients to continue using, our affected
services; or that we would not need to change our product and design plans, which could require us to redesign affected products or services or delay
new offerings. Accordingly, an adverse determination could prevent us from implementing our strategy or offering our services and products, as
currently contemplated.
We may not be able to properly safeguard the information on the HealthLynked Network.
Information security risks have generally increased in recent years because of new technologies and the increased activities of perpetrators
of cyber-attacks resulting in the theft of protected health, business or financial information. A failure in, or a breach of our information systems as a
result of cyber-attacks could disrupt our business, result in the release or misuse of confidential or proprietary information, damage our reputation,
and increase our administrative expenses. Further, any such breaches could result in exposure to liability under U.S. federal and state laws and could
adversely impact our business. Although we have robust information security procedures and other safeguards in place, as cyber threats continue to
evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to continue to enhance our information security measures or to investigate and remediate
any information security vulnerabilities. Any of these disruptions or breaches of security could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.
Our employees may not take all appropriate measures to secure and protect confidential information in their possession.
Each of our employees is advised that they are responsible for the security of the information in our systems and to ensure that private
information is kept confidential. Should an employee not follow appropriate security measures, including those that have been put in place to prevent
cyber threats or attacks, the improper release of protected health information could result. The release of such information could have a material
adverse effect our reputation and our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
RISKS RELATED TO THE PROVISION OF MEDICAL SERVICES
Any state budgetary constraints could have an adverse effect on our reimbursement from Medicaid programs.
As a result of slow economic growth and volatile economic conditions, many states are continuing to collect less revenue than they did in
prior years and as a consequence are facing budget shortfalls and underfunded pension and other obligations. Although the shortfalls for the more
recent budgetary years have declined, they are still significant by historical standards. The financial condition in Florida or other states in which we
may in the future could lead to reduced or delayed funding for Medicaid programs and, in turn, reduced or delayed reimbursement for physician
services, which could adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.
Healthcare reform may have a significant effect on our business.
The ACA contains a number of provisions that could affect us over the next several years. These provisions include the establishment of
health insurance exchanges to facilitate the purchase of qualified health plans, and expansion of healthcare fraud and abuse laws. Further, under the
ACA, payment modifiers are being developed that will differentiate payments to physicians under federal healthcare programs based on quality and
cost of care. In addition, other provisions authorize voluntary demonstration projects relating to the bundling of payments for episodes of hospital
care and the sharing of cost savings achieved under the Medicare program.
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The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) issued a final rule under the ACA that is intended to allow physicians, hospitals
and other health care providers to coordinate care for Medicare beneficiaries through Accountable Care Organizations (“ACOs”). ACOs are entities
consisting of healthcare providers and suppliers organized to deliver services to Medicare beneficiaries and eligible to receive a share of any cost
savings the entity can achieve by delivering services to those beneficiaries at a cost below a set baseline and based upon established quality of care
standards. We will continue to evaluate the impact of the ACO regulations on our business and operations.
The ACA also allows states to expand their Medicaid programs through an increase in the Medicaid eligibility income limit from a state’s
current eligibility levels to 133% of the federal poverty level. It remains unclear to what extent states will expand their Medicaid programs by raising
the income limit to 133% of the federal poverty level.
The ACA also remains subject to continuing legislative scrutiny, including efforts by Congress to further amend or repeal a number of its
provisions as well as administrative actions delaying the effectiveness of key provisions. As a result, we cannot predict with any assurance the
ultimate effect of the ACA on our Company, nor can we provide any assurance that its provisions will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Government-funded programs or private insurers may limit, reduce or make retroactive adjustments to reimbursement amounts or rates.
A portion of the net patient service revenue derived from services rendered through our Health Services segment is from payments made by
Medicare and Medicaid and other government-sponsored or funded healthcare programs (the “GHC Programs”). These government-funded
programs, as well as private insurers, have taken and may continue to take steps, including a movement toward increased use of managed care
organizations, value-based purchasing, and new patient care models to control the cost, eligibility for, use and delivery of healthcare services as a
result of budgetary constraints and cost containment pressures due to unfavorable economic conditions, rising healthcare costs and for other reasons.
These government-funded programs and private insurers may attempt other measures to control costs, including bundling of services and denial of, or
reduction in, reimbursement for certain services and treatments. As a result, payments from government programs or private payors may decrease
significantly. Also, any adjustment in Medicare reimbursement rates may have a detrimental impact on our reimbursement rates not only for
Medicare patients, but also because Medicaid and other third-party payors often base their reimbursement rates on a percentage of Medicare rates.
Our business may also be materially affected by limitations on, or reductions in, reimbursement amounts or rates or elimination of coverage for
certain individuals or treatments. Moreover, because government-funded programs generally provide for reimbursements on a fee-schedule basis
rather than on a charge-related basis, we generally cannot increase our revenues from these programs by increasing the amount we charge for
services rendered by NWC’s physicians. To the extent our costs increase, we may not be able to recover our increased costs from these programs,
and cost containment measures and market changes in non-government-funded insurance plans have generally restricted our ability to recover, or
shift to non-governmental payors, these increased costs. In addition, funds we receive from third-party payors are subject to audit with respect to the
proper billing for physician and ancillary services and, accordingly, our revenue from these programs may be adjusted retroactively. Any retroactive
adjustments to our reimbursement amounts could have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading
price of our common stock.
We may become subject to billing investigations by federal and state government authorities.
Federal and state laws, rules and regulations impose substantial penalties, including criminal and civil fines, exclusion from participation in
government healthcare programs and imprisonment, on entities or individuals (including any individual corporate officers or physicians deemed
responsible) that fraudulently or wrongfully bill government-funded programs or other third-party payors for healthcare services. CMS issued a final
rule requiring states to implement a Medicaid Recovery Audit Contractor (“RAC”) program effective January 1, 2012. States are required to contract
with one or more eligible Medicaid RACs to review Medicaid claims for any overpayments or underpayments, and to recoup overpayments from
providers on behalf of the state. In addition, federal laws, along with a growing number of state laws, allow a private person to bring a civil action in
the name of the government for false billing violations. We believe that audits, inquiries and investigations from government agencies will occur
from time to time in the ordinary course of our operations, which could result in substantial defense costs to us and a diversion of management’s time
and attention. We cannot predict whether any future audits, inquiries or investigations, or the public disclosure of such matters, would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our common stock.
We may not appropriately record or document the services provided by our physicians.
We must appropriately record and document the services our doctors provide to seek reimbursement for their services from third-party
payors. If our physicians do not appropriately document, or where applicable, code for their services, we could be subjected to administrative,
regulatory, civil, or criminal investigations or sanctions and our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely
affected.
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We may not be able to successfully recruit and retain qualified physicians, who are key to our Health Services segment’s revenues and billing.
Our ability to operate profitably will depend, in part, upon our ability recruit and retain qualified physicians, who are key to our Health
Services segment’s revenues and billing. We compete with many types of healthcare providers, including teaching, research and government
institutions, hospitals and health systems and other practice groups, for the services of qualified doctors, nurses, physical therapists and other skilled
healthcare providers essential to our Health Services segment. We may not be able to continue to recruit new, qualified providers or renew contracts
with existing providers on acceptable terms. If we do not do so, our ability to service execute our business plan may be adversely affected.
A significant number of physicians could leave our practices and we may be unable to enforce the non-competition covenants of departed
employees.
We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our physicians that can be terminated without cause by any party upon prior
written notice. In addition, substantially all of our physicians have agreed not to compete with us within a specified geographic area for a certain
period after termination of employment. The law governing non-compete agreements and other forms of restrictive covenants varies from state to
state. Although we believe that the non-competition and other restrictive covenants applicable to our affiliated physicians are reasonable in scope and
duration and therefore enforceable under applicable state law, courts and arbitrators in some states are reluctant to strictly enforce non-compete
agreements and restrictive covenants against physicians. Our physicians may leave our practices for a variety of reasons, including providing services
for other types of healthcare providers, such as teaching, research and government institutions, hospitals and health systems and other practice
groups. If a substantial number of our physicians leave our practices or we are unable to enforce the non-competition covenants in the employment
agreements, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially, and adversely affected. We cannot predict
whether a court or arbitration panel would enforce these covenants in any particular case.
We may be subject to medical malpractice and other lawsuits not covered by insurance.
Our business entails an inherent risk of claims of medical malpractice against our affiliated physicians and us. We may also be subject to
other lawsuits which may involve large claims and significant defense costs. Although we currently maintain liability insurance coverage intended to
cover professional liability and other claims, there can be no assurance that our insurance coverage will be adequate to cover liabilities arising out of
claims asserted against us. Liabilities in excess of our insurance coverage, including coverage for professional liability and other claims, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the trading price of our common stock. See
“Professional and General Liability Coverage.”
We may not be able to collect reimbursements for our services from third-party payors in a timely manner.
Approximately 30% of our net patient service revenue is derived from reimbursements from various third-party payors, including GHC
Programs, private insurance plans and managed care plans, for services provided by our physicians. We are responsible for submitting reimbursement
requests to these payors and collecting the reimbursements, and we assume the financial risks relating to uncollectible and delayed reimbursements.
In the current healthcare environment, payors continue their efforts to control expenditures for healthcare, including revisions to coverage and
reimbursement policies. Due to the nature of our business and our participation in government-funded and private reimbursement programs, we are
involved from time to time in inquiries, reviews, audits and investigations by governmental agencies and private payors of our business practices,
including assessments of our compliance with coding, billing and documentation requirements. We may be required to repay these agencies or
private payors if a finding is made that we were incorrectly reimbursed, or we may be subjected to pre-payment reviews, which can be timeconsuming and result in non-payment or delayed payment for the services we provide. We may also experience difficulties in collecting
reimbursements because third-party payors may seek to reduce or delay reimbursements to which we are entitled for services that our affiliated
physicians have provided. In addition, GHC Programs may deny our application to become a participating provider that could prevent us from
providing services to patients or prohibit us from billing for such services. If we are not reimbursed fully and in a timely manner for such services or
there is a finding that we were incorrectly reimbursed, our revenue, cash flows and financial condition could be materially, adversely affected.
Certain federal and state laws may limit our effectiveness at collecting monies owed to us from patients.
We utilize third parties to collect from patients any co-payments and other payments for services that are provided by our physicians. The
federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act restricts the methods that third-party collection companies may use to contact and seek payment from
consumer debtors regarding past due accounts. State laws vary with respect to debt collection practices, although most state requirements are similar
to those under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. The Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act, is broader than the federal legislation,
applying the regulations to “creditors” as well as “collectors,” whereas the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act is applicable only to collectors. This
prohibits creditors who are attempting to collect their own debts from engaging in behavior prohibited by the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and
Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act. The Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act has very specific guidelines regarding which actions debt
collectors and creditors may engage in to collect unpaid debt. If our collection practices or those of our collection agencies are inconsistent with these
standards, we may be subject to actual damages and penalties. These factors and events could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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We may not be able to maintain effective and efficient information systems.
The profitability of our business is dependent on uninterrupted performance of our information systems. Failure to maintain reliable
information systems, disruptions in our existing information systems or the implementation of new systems could cause disruptions in our business
operations, including errors and delays in billings and collections, disputes with patients and payors, violations of patient privacy and confidentiality
requirements and other regulatory requirements, increased administrative expenses and other adverse consequences.
RISKS RELATING TO OUR ACO/MSO BUSINESS
The Affordable Care Act, or ACA, and subsequent rules promulgated by CMS, including any repeal, replacement or modification to the ACA,
could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.
The ACA was signed into law in March 2010 and legislated broad-based changes to the U.S. health care system which continue to have a
material impact on our business. There is considerable discussion within the new Presidential administration and Congress about repealing and
replacing the ACA. At this time, it is uncertain whether, when, and what changes will be made to the ACA, and what impact such changes could
have on our business. However, any changes to the ACA, including through any repeal and replacement to the ACA, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
Under the MSSP, CMS has historically made payments to ACOs for a measurement year in the second half of the following year, which
negatively impacts our cash flows. In order to receive revenues from CMS under the MSSP, the ACO must meet certain minimum savings rates
(i.e. save the federal government money) and meet certain quality measures. More specifically, an ACO’s medical expenses for its assigned
beneficiaries during a relevant measurement year must be below the benchmark established by CMS for such ACO. Notwithstanding our efforts, our
ACO may be unable to meet the required savings rates or may not satisfy the quality measures, which may result in our receiving no revenues and
losing our investment in the acquisition and operation of CMS and AHP. In addition, the MSSP presents challenges and risks associated with the
timeliness and accuracy of data and interpretation of complex rules, which may impact the timing and amount of revenue we can recognize and could
have a material adverse effect on our ability to recoup any of our investment in this new business. Further, there can be no assurance that we will
maintain positive relations with our ACO partners which may result in certain of the ACOs terminating our relationship, which could result in a
potential loss of our investment. We continue to evaluate our ACO based on a variety of factors, including the level of commitment by the physicians
in the ACO and the likelihood of the ACO achieving shared savings.
RISKS RELATING TO OUR ORGANIZATION
Our articles of incorporation authorize our board to create a new series of preferred stock without further approval by our stockholders, which
could adversely affect the rights of the holders of our common stock.
Our board of directors has the authority to fix and determine the relative rights and preferences of preferred stock. Our board of directors
also has the authority to issue preferred stock without further stockholder approval. As a result, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of
a series of preferred stock that would grant to holders the preferred right to our assets upon liquidation, the right to receive dividend payments before
dividends are distributed to the holders of common stock and the right to the redemption of the shares, together with a premium, prior to the
redemption of our common stock. In addition, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of a series of preferred stock that has greater voting
power than our common stock or that is convertible into our common stock, which could decrease the relative voting power of our common stock or
result in dilution to our existing stockholders.
Stockholders’ ability to influence corporate decisions may be limited because Michael Dent, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board, currently owns a controlling percentage of the voting power of our common stock.
Currently, our officer and directors as a group beneficially control approximately 74% of our voting power, of which approximately 72% is
controlled by our Chairman and CEO, Dr. Dent. As a result of this voting control, our officer and directors can control all matters submitted to our
stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and approval of any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets.
This concentration of voting power could delay or prevent an acquisition of our company on terms that other stockholders may desire. In addition, as
the interests of our officer and directors and our minority stockholders may not always be the same, this large concentration of voting power may
lead to stockholder votes that are inconsistent with the best interests of our minority stockholders or the best interest of the Company as a whole.
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If we fail to establish and maintain an effective system of internal control, we may not be able to report our financial results accurately or to
prevent fraud. Any inability to report and file our financial results accurately and timely could harm our reputation and adversely impact the
trading price of our common stock.
Effective internal control is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable financial
reports or prevent fraud, we may not be able to manage our business as effectively as we would if an effective control environment existed, and our
business and reputation with investors may be harmed. As a result, our small size and any current internal control deficiencies may adversely affect
our financial condition, results of operation and access to capital. We have not performed an in-depth analysis to determine if historical undiscovered failures of internal controls exist and may in the future discover areas of our internal control that need improvement.
We are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which require our
management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. However, our independent registered public accounting firm is not yet required to
formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, and will not be required to do so for as long as we are an
“emerging growth company” pursuant to the provisions of the JOBS Act.
Public company compliance may make it more difficult to attract and retain officers and directors.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules subsequently implemented by the SEC have various requirements with regard to the corporate
governance practices of public companies. As a public company, we expect these rules and regulations to increase our compliance costs and to make
certain activities more time consuming and costly. As a public company, we also expect that these rules and regulations may make it more difficult
and expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance in the future and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and
coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain
qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or as executive officers.
The public market for our common stock is limited. Failure to develop or maintain a trading market could negatively affect its value and make it
difficult or impossible for you to sell your shares.
Our common stock has traded on the OTCQB under the symbol “HLYK” since May 10, 2017. There is a limited public market for our
common stock and a more active public market for our common stock may not develop. Failure to develop or maintain an active trading market
could make it difficult to sell shares or recover any part of an investment in our common shares. Even if a market for our common stock does
develop, the market price of our common stock may be highly volatile. In addition to the uncertainties relating to future operating performance and
the profitability of operations, factors such as variations in interim financial results or various, as yet unpredictable, factors, many of which are
beyond our control, may have a negative effect on the market price of our common stock.
Our common stock is subject to the “penny stock” rules of the SEC and the trading market in the securities is limited, which makes transactions
in our common stock cumbersome and may reduce the value of an investment in our common stock.
Rule 15g-9 under the Exchange Act establishes the definition of a “penny stock,” for the purposes relevant to us, as any equity security that
has a market price of less than $5.00 per share or with an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions. For any
transaction involving a penny stock, unless exempt, the rules require: (a) that a broker or dealer approve a person’s account for transactions in penny
stocks; and (b) the broker or dealer receive from the investor a written agreement to the transaction, setting forth the identity and quantity of the
penny stock to be purchased.
In order to approve a person’s account for transactions in penny stocks, the broker or dealer must: (a) obtain financial information,
investment experience, and investment objectives of the person and (b) make a reasonable determination that the transactions in penny stocks are
suitable for that person and that the person has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial matters to be capable of evaluating the risks of
transactions in penny stocks.
The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior to any transaction in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule prescribed by the SEC relating to the
penny stock market, which, in highlight form: (a) sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer made the suitability determination; and (b)
confirms that the broker or dealer received a signed, written agreement from the investor prior to the transaction. Generally, brokers may be less
willing to execute transactions in securities subject to the “penny stock” rules. This may make it more difficult for investors to dispose of our
Common Stock and cause a decline in the market value of our Common Stock.
Disclosure also has to be made about the risks of investing in penny stocks in both public offerings and in secondary trading and about the
commissions payable to both the broker or dealer and the registered representative, current quotations for the securities and the rights and remedies
available to an investor in cases of fraud in penny stock transactions. Finally, monthly statements have to be sent disclosing recent price information
for the penny stock held in the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks.
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Drawdowns under the Investment Agreement may cause dilution to existing shareholders.
Iconic Holdings, LLC (“Iconic”), an investor, has committed to purchase up to $3,000,000 worth of shares of our common stock pursuant to
the terms of an Investment Agreement entered into by and between the Company and Iconic, dated July 11, 2016 (the “Investment Agreement”).
From time to time during the term of the Investment Agreement, and at our sole discretion, we may present Iconic with a put notice requiring Iconic
to purchase shares of our common stock. The purchase price to be paid by Iconic will be 80% of the lowest volume weighted average price of our
common stock during the five consecutive trading days prior to the date on which written notice is sent by us to the investor stating the number of
shares that the Company is selling to the investor, subject to certain adjustments. As a result, our existing shareholders will experience immediate
dilution upon the purchase of any of the shares by Iconic. The issue and sale of the shares under the Investment Agreement may also have an adverse
effect on the market price of the common shares. Iconic may resell some, if not all, of the shares that we issue to it under the Investment Agreement
and such sales could cause the market price of the common stock to decline significantly. To the extent of any such decline, any subsequent puts
would require us to issue and sell a greater number of shares to Iconic in exchange for each dollar of the put amount. Under these circumstances, the
existing shareholders of our company will experience greater dilution. The effect of this dilution may, in turn, cause the price of our common stock to
decrease further, both because of the downward pressure on the stock price that would be caused by a large number of sales of our shares into the
public market by Iconic, and because our existing stockholders may disagree with a decision to sell shares to Iconic at a time when our stock price is
low, and may in response decide to sell additional shares, further decreasing our stock price. If we draw down amounts under the Investment
Agreement when our share price is decreasing, we will need to issue more shares to raise the same amount of funding. During the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, we issued 5,797,348 and 5,074,068 shares pursuant to draws under the Investment Agreement, respectively, for gross
proceeds of $489,286 and $929,986, respectively.
There is no guarantee that we will be able to fully utilize the Investment Agreement, if at all.
The purchase price and number of shares we can sell to Iconic under the Investment Agreement shall depend on our stock price and stock
volume, and we cannot guarantee that our stock price and trading volume will be adequate to allow us to raise sufficient funds under the agreement.
The purchase price for shares sold to Iconic shall be 80% of the lowest volume weighted average price of our common stock during the five
consecutive trading days prior to the date on which written notice is sent by us to the investor, subject to certain discounts and adjustments. The
maximum Put Amount that the Company shall be entitled to put to Iconic per any applicable put notice is an amount of shares of common stock up to
or equal to two times 100% of the average of the daily trading volume for the ten consecutive trading days immediately prior to the applicable put
notice date, so long as such amount is at least $5,000 and does not exceed $3,000,000, as calculated by multiplying the Put Amount by the average
daily weighted average price of our common stock for the ten consecutive trading days immediately prior to the applicable put notice date. In order to
access cash available under the Investment Agreement, our common stock must be listed on a recognized stock exchange or market and the shares
underlying the arrangement must be subject to an effective registration statement. We must also have complied with our obligations and otherwise
not be in material breach or default of the Convertible Notes and warrants issued to Iconic. If we are unable to meet these requirements, we will not
have access to funds under this arrangement. There can be no assurances that we will be able to meet these requirements. All convertible notes held
by Iconic were converted into common stock in January 2021.
Certain restrictions on the extent of puts and the delivery of advance notices may have little, if any, effect on the adverse impact of our issuance
of shares in connection with the Investment Agreement and as such, Iconic may sell a large number of shares, resulting in substantial dilution to
the value of shares held by existing stockholders.
Iconic has agreed, subject to certain exceptions listed in the investment agreement with Iconic, to refrain from holding a number of shares
which would result in Iconic or its affiliates owning more than 9.99% of the then-outstanding shares of our common stock at any one time. These
restrictions, however, do not prevent Iconic from selling shares of our common stock received in connection with a put, and then receiving additional
shares of our common stock in connection with a subsequent put. In this way, Iconic could sell more than 9.99% of the outstanding common stock in
a relatively short time frame while never holding more than 9.99% at one time.
As an “emerging growth company” under applicable law, we will be subject to lessened disclosure requirements, which could leave our
shareholders without information or rights available to shareholders of more mature companies.
For as long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we have elected to take advantage of certain
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including,
but not limited to:
●

not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

●

being permitted to provide only two years of audited financial statements with correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure;

●

taking advantage of an extension of time to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards;

●

reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements and registration statements;
and

●

exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved.
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We expect to take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” Because of these
lessened regulatory requirements, our shareholders may be left without information or rights available to shareholders of more mature companies.
We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common
stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and have elected to follow certain scaled
disclosure requirements available to smaller reporting companies.
Because we have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards for an “emerging growth
company” our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates.
We have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards under Section 102(b)(1) of
the JOBS Act. This election allows us to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and
private companies until those standards apply to private companies. While we are not currently delaying the implementation of any relevant
accounting standards, in the future we may avail ourselves of this right, and as a result of this election, our financial statements may not be
comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates. Because our financial statements may not be comparable to companies
that comply with public company effective dates, investors may have difficulty evaluating or comparing our business, performance or prospects in
comparison to other public companies, which may have a negative impact on the value and liquidity of our common stock.
Our stockholders are subject to significant dilution upon the occurrence of certain events which could result in a decrease in our stock price.
As of March 30, 2021, we had approximately 85,186,784 shares of our common stock reserved or designated for future issuance upon the
exercise of outstanding options, warrants, and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. Future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock into
the public and the issuance of the shares reserved for future issuance, in payment of our debt, and/or upon exercise of outstanding options and
warrants, will be dilutive to our existing stockholders and could result in a decrease in our stock price.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
The Company leases its operating facilities pursuant to the following lease agreements: (i) lease agreement for our NWC practice for
approximately 3,650 square feet that commenced in August 2020 and expires in July 2023, located in Naples, FL; (ii) lease agreement for our BTG
practice for approximately 2,150 square feet that commenced in April 2020 and expires in March 2023, located in Bonita Springs, FL; (iii) lease
agreement for our NCFM practice for approximately 3,700 square feet that commenced in April 2019 and expires in May 2022, located in Naples,
FL; (iv) lease agreement for our ACO/MSO division for approximately 2,500 square feet on a month-to-month basis located in Jacksonville, FL; and
(iv) lease agreement for our corporate office for approximately 2,700 square feet that commenced in December 2020 and expires November 2023,
located in Naples, FL.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings, which arise, in the ordinary course of business.
However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our
business.
We are not aware of any such legal proceedings that we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or operating results..
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Since May 10, 2017, our common stock has been eligible for quotation and trades on the OTCQB under the symbol “HLYK.” Quotations on
the OTCQB reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.
Holders
As of March 30, 2021, we had 194 record holders of our common stock.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock
in the foreseeable future. Rather, we expect to retain future earnings (if any) to fund the operation and expansion of our business and for general
corporate purposes.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table summarizes the total number of outstanding options and shares available for other future issuances of options under the
2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “EIP”) as of December 31, 2020. All of the outstanding awards listed below were granted under the EIP.
Number of
Number of
Shares
Shares to be
WeightedRemaining
Issued Upon
Average
Available for
Exercise of Exercise Price Future Issuance
Outstanding of Outstanding Under the Equity
Options,
Options,
Compensation Plan
Warrants and
Warrants
(Excluding Shares
Rights
and Rights
in First Column)
------3,311,750 $
0.20
9,805,903

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders

On January 1, 2016, the Company instituted the EIP for the purpose of having equity awards available to allow for equity participation by its
employees. The EIP allows for the issuance of up to 15,503,680 shares of the Company’s common stock to employees, which may be issued in the
form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, or restricted shares. The EIP is governed by the Company’s board of directors, or a committee that
may be appointed by the board of directors in the future. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company made grants totaling
774,465 and 135,313 shares, respectively, of common stock pursuant to the EIP. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company
also made grants pursuant to the EIP totaling 60,000 and 1,078,750 shares of common stock underlying stock options. Certain of the stock options
grants are subject to time-based vesting requirements, generally over a period of 4 years, and certain of the stock options are subject to performancebased vesting requirements based on future company revenue and earnings metrics as well as individual performance goals.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
Except as previously disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K or in a Form 10-Q, or as set forth below, the Company has not sold
securities that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), during the year ended December 31, 2020:
On October 19, 2020, we issued 19,045,564 shares to the selling equity members as partial consideration for our acquisition of MOD.
On November 4, 2020, we issued 927,398 shares pursuant to the cashless exercise of an outstanding warrant.
On November 18, 2020, we issued 100,000 shares of unregistered common stock to a consultant for services provided.
During the three months ended December 31, 2020, we sold 245,238 shares of common stock in 2 separate private placement
transactions and received $26,000 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with the stock sales, we also issued 122,619 five-year warrants to
purchase shares of common stock at exercise price between $0.205 and $0.24 per share.
The sales of the above securities were exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities
Act, as transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering. The recipients of the securities in each of these transactions represented their
intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate
legends were placed upon the stock certificates issued in these transactions.
Recent Repurchases of Securities.
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information required
under this item.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial
statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this report. In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those discussed below.
Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below, and those discussed in the section
titled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All amounts in this report are in U.S. dollars, unless
otherwise noted.
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Overview
HealthLynked Corp. (the “Company,” “we,” “our, or “us”) was incorporated in the State of Nevada on August 4, 2014. We currently operate
in four distinct divisions: the Health Services Division, the Digital Healthcare Division, the ACO/MSO (Accountable Care Organization / Managed
Service Organization) Division, and the Medical Distribution Division. Our Health Services division is comprised of the operations of (i) Naples
Women’s Center (“NWC”), a multi-specialty medical group including OB/GYN (both Obstetrics and Gynecology) and General Practice, (ii) Naples
Center for Functional Medicine (“NCFM”), a Functional Medical Practice acquired in April 2019 that is engaged in improving the health of its
patients through individualized and integrative health care, and (iii) Bridging the Gap Physical Therapy (“BTG”), a physical therapy practice in
Bonita Springs, FL opened in January 2020 that provides hands-on functional manual therapy techniques to speed patients’ recovery and manage
pain without pain medication or surgery. Our Digital Healthcare division develops and operates an online personal medical information and record
archive system, the “HealthLynked Network,” which enables patients and doctors to keep track of medical information via the Internet in a cloudbased system. Our ACO/MSO Division is comprised of the business acquired of Cura Health Management LLC (“CHM”) and its subsidiary ACO
Health Partners LLC (“AHP”), which were acquired by the Company on May 18, 2020. CHM and AHP operate an Accountable Care Organization
(“ACO”) and Managed Service Organization (“MSO”) that assists physician practices in providing coordinated and more efficient care to patients via
the Medicare Shared Savings Program (“MSSP”) as administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (the “CMS”), which rewards
providers for efficiency in patient care. Our Medical Distribution Division is comprised of the operations of MedOffice Direct LLC (“MOD”), a
virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both consumers and medical practices throughout the United States we acquired on
October 19, 2020.
Recent Developments
On August 20, 2020, we completed a financing transaction (the “August 2020 Equity Transaction”) with trusts (the “Trusts”) controlled by
our CEO, Dr. Michael Dent, pursuant to which the Trusts contributed an aggregate of 76,026 shares of common stock of NeoGenomics, Inc. (NEO”
and the “NEO Shares”) with a fair value of $3,066,889 to us, in exchange for an aggregate of 2,750,000 shares of our newly designated Series B
Preferred Stock and an aggregate of 24,522,727 shares of our common stock.
Using in part the proceeds from sale of the NEO Shares received in the August 2020 Equity Transaction, during the year ended December
31, 2020 we retired debt with a face value of $1,658,750, including $1,012,750 convertible notes with adjustable conversion rates pegged to a fixed
discount to the trading price of our common stock. As of December 31, 2020, we had no further outstanding convertible notes with such adjustable
conversion rates. We also retired accrued interest of $292,678 related to repayment of debt obligations during the quarter, including forgiveness of
$105,003 accrued interest on notes payable to our CEO, Dr. Michael Dent.
On October 19, 2020, we acquired MedOfficeDirect L.L.C. (“MOD”), a virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both
consumers and medical practices throughout the United States. With over 13,000 name brand medical products in over 150 different categories,
MOD leverages Group Purchasing Organization pricing discounts with a small unit-of-measure direct-to-consumer shipping model to make ordering
medical supplies both convenient and highly cost effective for its users.
Critical accounting policies and significant judgments and estimates
See Note 2, “Significant Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to consolidated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations: Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
The following table summarizes the changes in our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared with the year
ended December 31, 2019:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Patient service revenue, net
Medicare shared savings revenue
Consulting revenue
Product revenue
Total revenue

$

Operating Expenses and Costs
Practice salaries and benefits
Other practice operating expenses
Medicare shared savings expenses
Cost of product revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Loss from operations
Other Income (Expenses)
Loss on sales of marketable securities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of debt
Financing cost
Amortization of original issue and debt discounts on notes payable and
convertible notes
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Change in fair value of contingent acquisition consideration
Loss on settlement of litigation and other dispute
Interest expense
Total other expenses
Net loss

$

4,743,811
767,744
432,977
188,588
6,133,120

$

4,018,818
------4,018,818

Change
$
$

%

724,993
767,744
432,977
188,588
2,114,302

18%
100%
100%
100%
53%

187,527
304,048
1,017,494
146,461
147,610
173,981
137,181

8%
16%
100%
100%
5%
237%
4%

2,581,481
2,149,118
1,017,494
146,461
3,063,029
247,366
(3,071,829)

2,393,954
1,845,070
----2,915,419
73,385
(3,209,010)

(282,107)
(1,347,371)
(381,835)
---

--(1,229,777)
(121,508)
(135,528)

(282,107)
(117,594)
(260,327)
135,528

100%
-10%
-214%
100%

(530,930)
739,485
75,952
(706,862)
(249,759)
(2,683,427)

(1,260,513)
671,822
----(244,085)
(2,319,589)

729,583
67,663
75,952
(706,862)
(5,674)
(363,838)

58%
-10%
-100%
-100%
-2%
-16%

(5,755,256) $

(5,528,599) $

(226,657)

-4%

Patient service revenue increased by $724,993, or 18%, from 2019 to 2020, primarily as a result of higher revenue from NCFM (which was
acquired April 15, 2019 and therefore only reflected in our operating results for five-and-a-half months of the 2019 period) and revenue from BTG
(which started January 9, 2020 with no corresponding revenue in 2019), offset by lower revenue from NWC.
Medicare shared savings revenue increased by $767,744, or 100% from 2019 to 2020. The primary source of revenue of CHM, which we
acquired in May 2020, is from payments earned under the Medicare shared savings program. Such amounts are determined annually when we are
notified by CMS of the amount of shared savings earned. Accordingly, we recognize Medicare shared savings revenue in the period in which the
CMS notifies us of the exact amount of shared savings to be paid, which historically has occurred during the three-month period ended September 30
for the program year ended December 31 of the previous year. During September 2020, we were notified of, and received payment for, our shared
savings revenue relating to program year 2019 in the amount of $767,744, which amount was recognized as Medicare shared savings revenue in the
year ended December 31, 2020.
Consulting revenue increased by $432,977, or 100%, from 2019 to 2020. Consulting revenue was earned by the newly formed ACO/MSO
Division comprised of the operations acquired with CHM in May 2020.
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Product revenue increased by $188,588, or 100%, from 2019 to 2020. Product revenue was earned by the newly formed Medical
Distribution Division comprised of the operations acquired with MOD in October 2020.
Practice salaries and benefits increased by $187,527, or 8%, in 2020 primarily as a result of new practice salary and benefits expense from
the inception of BTG in 2020 and a full year of NCFM operating costs in 2020 compared to only eight-and-a-half months in 2019.
Other practice operating costs increased by $304,048, or 16%, in 2020 primarily as a result of a full period of practice operating costs related
to BTG and NCFM in 2020, offset by lower practice operating costs corresponding to lower revenue and cost cutting measures at NWC.
Medicare shared savings expenses increased by $1,017,494, or 100%, in 2020. Medicare shared savings expenses represent costs incurred to
deliver Medicare shared savings revenue, including overhead and consulting fees related to advising participating physician practices, as well as the
physicians’ contractual portion of any shared savings received by the ACO. There was no corresponding Medicare shared savings expense in 2019 as
CHM was acquired in May 2020.
Cost of product revenue increased by $146,461, or 100%, in 2020. Cost of product revenue relates to the cost of medical products sold by
the newly formed Medical Distribution Division, which is comprised of the operations acquired with MOD in October 2020.
Selling, general and administrative costs increased by $147,610, or 5%, in 2020 primarily due to increased legal, accounting and software
development fees in 2020 offset by lower corporate overhead expense associated with a shift from a direct sales to an indirect sale approach for our
Digital Healthcare segment.
Depreciation and amortization increased by $173,981, or 237%, in 2020 primarily as a result of depreciation of amortization of intangible
assets acquired in MOD acquisition and fixed and intangible assets acquired in the NCFM acquisition.
Loss from operations decreased by $137,181, or 4%, in 2020 primarily as a result of profits from the ACO/MSO business acquired in May
2020 and improved profits from the Health Services Division, offset by higher selling, general and administrative costs.
Loss on sales of marketable securities increased by $282,107, or 100%, in 2020. Such losses arose from sales of marketable securities
acquired in the August 2020 Equity Transaction at prices below the acquisition price.
Loss on extinguishment of debt increased by $117,594, or 10%, primarily as a result of the impact of repayment and conversion of
convertible notes payable. Losses on extinguishment of debt arise when the fair value consideration paid to retire a convertible note exceeds the
carrying value of the instrument being retired, including any related derivative financial instruments such as embedded conversion features (“ECFs”).
Moreover, during the first quarter of 2020 we changed from the Black-Scholes model to a binomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of certain
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments associated with outstanding convertible notes retired during 2020. The change in
methodology generally resulted in lower values of our ECF derivative financial instruments, which in turn resulted in higher losses on debt
extinguishment when such liabilities were retired.
Losses from the change in fair value of debt increased by $260,327, or 214%, in 2020. Such gains and losses result from certain convertible
notes and notes payable to related parties that, in previous periods, were extended and treated as an extinguishment and reissuance for accounting
purposes, requiring these notes to be subsequently carried at fair value. The change in fair value at the end of each reporting period is recorded as
“Change in fair value of debt.”
Financing cost decreased by $135,528, or 100% in 2020. Financing cost arises when the inception date fair value of embedded conversion
features on a convertible note are greater than the face value of the note. No such notes were issued in 2020.
Amortization of original issue and debt discounts decreased by $729,583, or 58%, in 2020 as a result of the amortization of convertible
notes with smaller average discount balances being amortized in 2020 as floating rate convertible notes were converted and paid down with proceeds
from equity-based financing transactions.
Gains from the change in fair value of derivative financial instruments increased by $67,663, or 10%. The change is due primarily to our
change on January 1, 2020 from the Black-Scholes model to a binomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of certain financial instruments,
including derivative financial instruments. We believe that the binomial lattice model results in a better estimate of fair value because it embodies all
of the requisite assumptions (including the underlying price, exercise price, term, volatility, and risk-free interest-rate) necessary to fair value these
instruments and, unlike the Black-Scholes model, also accommodates assumptions regarding investor exercise behavior and other market conditions
that market participants would likely consider in negotiating the transfer of such an instruments. Moreover, we retired all derivative financial
instruments in 2020 with the repayment of all adjustable-rate convertible notes payable that had associated embedded conversion feature derivatives.
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Gain from the change in the fair value of contingent acquisition consideration increased by $75,952, or 100%, in 2020. There was no
corresponding change in 2019. Fair value of contingent acquisition consideration relates to future acquisition consideration that may be payable if
certain prescribed performance milestones are met by businesses acquired by us, including NCFM (acquired in April 2019), CHM (acquired in May
2020), and MOD (acquired in October 2020). The fair value of contingent acquisition consideration is remeasured at each reporting period using a
probability-weighted discounted cash flow model.
Loss on settlement of litigation and other dispute increased by $706,862, or 100%, in 2020. Loss on settlement of litigation and other dispute
arose from the settlement in first quarter 2021 of ongoing litigation and non-litigation disputes related to a 2018 financing transaction.
Interest expense increased by $5,674, or 2%, as a result of slightly higher average balance on convertible notes and notes payable to related
parties during 2020.
Total other expenses increased by $363,838, or 16%, in 2020 primarily as a result of losses on settlement of litigation and other disputes
arising in 2020, higher losses on extinguishment of debt related to repayment of convertible notes payable, losses on sales of marketable securities
incurred in 2020 with no corresponding charges in 2019, and higher losses on the change in fair value of debt. These gains were offset by lower
amortization of debt discounts on convertible notes payable, the absence of financing cost in 2020, and larger gains from changes in fair values of
derivative financial instruments and contingent acquisition consideration.
Net loss increased by $226,657, or 4%, in 2020 primarily as a result of losses on settlement of litigation and other disputes arising in 2020,
higher losses on extinguishment of debt related to repayment of convertible notes payable losses on sales of marketable securities incurred in 2020
with no corresponding charges in 2019, higher losses from the change in fair value of debt, and higher losses on extinguishment of debt related to
repayment of convertible notes payable, offset by improved profits from the Health Services Division, new profits from the ACO/MSO business
acquired in May 2020 and Medial Distribution business acquired in October 2020, as well as lower amortization of debt discounts on convertible
notes payable.
Seasonal Nature of Operations
We acquired CHM in May 2020. CHM’s primary source of revenue is derived from payments earned under the Medicare shared savings
program. Such amounts are determined annually when we are notified by CMS of the amount of shared savings earned. Accordingly, we recognize
Medicare shared savings revenue in the period in which the CMS notifies us of the exact amount of shared savings to be paid, which historically has
occurred during the three-month period ended September 30 for the program year ended December 31 of the previous year. Medicare shared savings
revenue for the program year ended December 31, 2019, for which we received notification and payment in September 2020, was $767,744. Future
recognition of Medicare shared savings revenue is expected to result in a material increase in our consolidated revenues in the third fiscal quarter of
each year compared to the first, second and fourth fiscal quarters. Likewise, in the period in which we recognize Medicare shared savings revenue,
we also determine the amount of shared savings expense to be paid to physicians participating in our ACO. This expense is also expected to be
recognized in the third fiscal quarter of each year and is expected to materially increase our total operating expenses in the third fiscal quarter
compared to other quarters of the fiscal year.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity Condition
As of December 31, 2020, we had cash balances of $162,184, a working capital deficit of $4,478,223 and accumulated deficit $21,784,910.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, we had a net loss of $5,755,256 and net cash used by operating activities of $2,117,297. Net cash provided
by investing activities was $1,812,239, including $2,784,782 received from the sale of marketable securities received in an August 2020 financing
transaction. Net cash provided by financing activities was $356,801, resulting principally from $1,071,069 proceeds from loans issued by the federal
government, $827,500 net proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes, and $149,000 proceeds from the issuance of related party loans. We also
repaid $1,882,405 of convertible notes, $967,756 of related party loans and $27,893 of vendor notes payable during 2020.
Subsequent to December 31, 2020 and through March 30, 2021, we raised $4,389,361 through sales of our common stock in private
placement transactions and Investment Agreement puts. We believe that our current cash balances on hand following the capital infusion is adequate
to meet our cash requirements for the next twelve months.
In July 2016, we entered into an Investment Agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) with Iconic Holdings, LLC (the “Investor”), pursuant
to which the Investor agreed to purchase up to $3,000,000 of our common stock over a three-year period starting upon registration of the underlying
shares, with such shares put to the Investor by us pursuant to a specified formula that limits the number of shares able to be put to the Investor to the
number equal to the average trading volume of our common shares for the ten consecutive trading days prior to the put notice being issued. In May
2020, the Investment Agreement, which was scheduled to expire on May 15, 2020, was extended an additional two years to May 15, 2022. During
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we issued 5,797,348 and 5,074,068 shares pursuant to draws under the Investment Agreement,
respectively, for gross proceeds of $489,286 and $929,986, respectively. Subsequent to December 31, 2020 and through March 30, 2021, we issued
3,006,098 shares pursuant to draws under the Investment Agreement for gross proceeds of $900,636.
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We intend that the longer term (i.e., beyond twelve months) cost of completing additional intended acquisitions, implementing our
development and sales efforts related to the HealthLynked Network and maintaining existing and expanding overhead and administrative costs will
be financed from (i) cash on hand resulting from our fund raising efforts in the first quarter of 2021, (ii) profits generated by NCFM, CHM and AHP,
and (ii) the use of further outside funding sources, including the put rights associated with the Investment Agreement, sales of common and/or
preferred stock, and government loans. No assurances can be given that the Company will be able to access additional outside capital in a timely
fashion. If necessary funds are not available, the Company’s business and operations would be materially adversely affected and in such event, the
Company would attempt to reduce costs and adjust its business plan.
COVID-19
A novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, that was first identified in China in December 2019, has surfaced in several regions across the
world and resulted in travel restrictions and business slowdowns or shutdowns in affected areas. The further spread of COVID-19, and the
requirement to take action to limit the spread of the illness, may impact our ability to carry out our business as usual and may materially adversely
impact global economic conditions, our business and financial condition, including our potential to conduct financings on terms acceptable to us, if at
all. The extent to which COVID-19 may impact our business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted
with confidence, such as the ultimate geographic spread of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, travel restrictions and social distancing in the
United States and other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other
countries to contain and treat the disease.
Significant Liquidity Events
Through December 31, 2020, we have funded our operations principally through a combination of convertible promissory notes, private
placements of our common stock, promissory notes and related party debt, as described below.
First Quarter 2021 Equity Transactions
Subsequent to December 31, 2020 and through March 30, 2021, we sold 11,787,766 shares of common stock in 46 separate private
placement transactions. We received $3,488,725 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with these stock sales, we also issued 5,893,889 five-year
warrants to purchase shares of common stock at exercise prices between $0.27 and $1.05 per share. We also issued 3,006,098 shares pursuant to
draws under the Investment Agreement for additional gross proceeds of $900,636.
August 2020 Equity Transaction
On August 20, 2020, we completed the August 2020 Equity Transaction with Trusts controlled by our CEO, Dr. Michael Dent, pursuant to
which the Trusts contributed an aggregate of 76,026 NEO Shares with a fair value of $3,066,889 to us, in exchange for an aggregate of 2,750,000
shares of our newly designated Series B Preferred Stock and an aggregate of 24,522,727 shares of our common stock. Through December 31, 2020,
we sold all 76,026 of the NEO Shares and received proceeds of $2,784,782.
Beginning on December 31, 2022, each share of Series B Preferred Stock is convertible into five shares of our common stock, subject to
customary anti-dilution adjustments, including in the event of any stock split. The Series B Preferred Stock ranks senior to the common stock. Upon a
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, our assets available for distribution to its stockholders will
be distributed to holders of Series B Preferred Stock on an as converted basis and pro rata with the holders of common stock. Holders of Series B
Preferred Stock are also entitled to participate in dividends declared or paid on the common stock on an as-converted basis.
The holders of Series B Preferred Stock generally are entitled to vote with the holders of the shares of common stock on all matters
submitted for a vote of holders of shares of common stock (voting together with the holders of shares of common stock as one class). The holder of
the shares of Preferred B Stock shall have that number of votes (identical in every other respect to the voting rights of the holders of common stock
entitled to vote at any regular or special meeting of the shareholders) equal to 100 shares of common stock for each share of Preferred B Preferred
Stock held (which shall never be deemed less than 51% of the vote required to approve any action), which Nevada law provides may or must be
approved by vote or consent of the holders of common stock or the holders of other securities entitled to vote, if any.
Investment Agreement
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we issued 5,797,348 and 5,074,068 shares pursuant to draws under the Investment
Agreement, respectively, for gross proceeds of $489,286 and $929,986, respectively. During May 2020, the Investment Agreement was extended by
two years and now expires on May 15, 2022.
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Other Sales of Common Stock
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we sold 7,022,867 shares of common stock in 21 separate private placement transactions and
received $698,000 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with the stock sales, we also issued 3,511,444 five-year warrants to purchase shares of
common stock at exercise price between $0.16 and $0.27 per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we sold 3,239,924 shares of common stock in eight separate private placement transactions. We
received $670,000 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with these stock sales, we also issued 1,619,962 five-year warrants to purchase shares of
common stock at exercise prices between $0.22 and $0.40 per share and 250,000 three-year warrants to purchase shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $0.50 per share.
Convertible Notes Payable
As of December 31, 2020, we had the following outstanding convertible notes payable:

Face Value
550,000
50,000
81,000
357,500
$ 1,038,500

$550k Note - July 2016
$50k Note - July 2016
$111k Note - May 2017
$357.5k Note - April 2019

$

Interest
Rate
6%
10%
10%
10%

Conversion
Price/
Discount
$
0.08
$
0.10
$
0.35
$
0.20

On January 6, 2021, the holder of the above convertible notes agreed to extend the maturity date from December 31, 2020 to January 14,
2021. In exchange for the extension, the Company agreed to extend the expiration date of 3,508,333 existing warrants held by the holder from dates
between July 2021 and March 2022 until March 2023.
On January 14, 2021, the Company and the holder entered into a series of agreements pursuant to which (i) the holder agreed to convert the
full face value of $1,038,500 on outstanding convertible notes, plus $317,096 of accrued interest on such notes, into 13,538,494 shares of common
stock pursuant to the original conversion terms of the underlying notes, (ii) the holder agreed to a 180-day leak out provision, whereby, from and
after January 14, 2021, it may not sell in shares of the Company’s common stock in excess of 5% of the Company’s daily trading volume for the first
90 days and 10% of the Company’s daily volume for the next 90 days, subject to certain exceptions, (iii) the holder agreed to release all security
interests and share reserves related to the above convertible notes, and (iv) the Company issued to the holder a new five-year warrant to purchase
13,538,494 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.30 per share.
Plan of operation and future funding requirements
Our plan of operations is to profitably operate our Health Services and Medical Distribution businesses and continue to invest in our Digital
Healthcare business, including our cloud-based online personal medical information and record archiving system, the “HealthLynked Network.”
We intend to market the HealthLynked Network via telesales targeting physicians’ offices, direct to patient marketing, affiliated marketing
campaigns, co-marketing with our Medical Distribution businesses retailer MOD, and expanded southeast regional sales efforts. We intend that our
initial primary sales strategy will be physician telesales through the use of telesales representatives whom we will hire as access to capital allows. In
combination with our telesales, we intend to also utilize Internet based marketing to increase penetration to targeted geographical areas. These
campaigns will be focused on both physician providers and patient members. We also intend to leverage MOD’s discounted medical supplies as an
offering to our patient and physician members in both the HealthLynked Network and our ACO network and plans. If we fail to complete the
development of, or successfully market, the HealthLynked Network, our ability to realize future increases in revenue and operating profits could be
impacted, and our results of operations and financial position would be materially adversely affected.
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A summarized timeline of our strategic acquisition transactions and the related funding sources is as follows:
●

In July 2018 we raised approximately $1.8 million in the July 2018 Private Placement for the purpose of technology enhancement, sales
and marketing initiatives and to fund a portion of the first phase of our planned acquisition strategy.

●

In 2019, we continued our plan to acquire health service businesses and offer physician owners cash, stock, and deferred compensation.

●

On April 15, 2019, we acquired HCFM for $750,000 in cash, $750,000 in shares of our common stock and $500,000 in a three-year
performance-based payout.

●

On May 18, 2020, we acquired CHM for $214,000 in cash, $201,675 in shares of our common stock, up to $223,000 cash and $660,000
in shares of our common stock based on a target MSSP payment of $1,725,000 in the current year, and up to $437,500 in a four-year
performance-based payout.

●

On August 20, 2020, we completed the August 2020 Equity Transaction with Trusts controlled by our CEO, Dr. Michael Dent, pursuant
to which the Trusts contributed an aggregate of 76,026 NEO Shares with a fair value of $3,066,889 to us, in exchange for an aggregate
of 2,750,000 shares of our newly designated Series B Preferred Stock and an aggregate of 24,522,727 shares of our common stock.

●

On October 19, 2020, we acquired MOD, a virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both consumers and medical
practices throughout the United States, in exchange for 19,045,563 restricted shares of our common stock, the issuance of an aggregate
of up to 10,004,749 restricted shares of our common stock over a four year period based on MOD achieving certain revenue targets, and
(iii) the partial satisfaction of certain outstanding debt obligations of MOD in the amount of $703,200 in cash by us.

●

During the second half of 2020, we retired floating rate convertible debt with a face value of $1,012,750 through conversions and
repayments and repaid related party notes with a face value of $646,000 in an effort to improve our balance sheet;

●

During January 2021, the holder of $1,038,500 fixed rate convertible debt converted the full face value of $1,038,500, plus $317,096 of
accrued interest on such notes, into 13,538,494 shares of common stock pursuant to the original conversion terms of the underlying
notes. Following the conversion, we had no further convertible debt outstanding.

●

Subsequent to December 31, 2020 and through March 30, 2021, we sold 11,787,766 shares of common stock in 46 separate private
placement transactions. We received $3,488,725 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with these stock sales, we also issued
5,893,889 five-year warrants to purchase shares of common stock at exercise prices between $0.27 and $1.05 per share. We also issued
3,006,098 shares pursuant to draws under the Investment Agreement for additional gross proceeds of $900,636.

Currently, we are focusing on acquiring additional profitable ACOs with a concentration on physician-based ACOs in Florida, the
Southeast, Texas, New Jersey and Arizona. ACOs’ objectives are to reduce patients’ healthcare costs while improving their health. Our initial targets
are physician-based Florida Medicare ACOs. Profitable ACOs have shared savings, which are payments made by the Medicare governing body CMS
to ACOs whose Medicare patients have aggregate total savings over the regional threshold for all Medicare patients in the territory and that meet
CMS’ quality standards. Given HealthLynked’s goal to improve healthcare and reduce healthcare costs for all patients, we anticipate that the ACO
acquisition model can help us expand both physician and patient utilization of the HealthLynked Network while continuing to add incremental
revenue and profit from to our health services and ACO segments.
We plan to raise additional capital to fund our ongoing acquisition strategy.
Historical Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities
Investing Activities
Financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash

$

$

(2,117,297) $
1,812,239
356,801
51,743 $

(2,362,851)
(475,056)
2,812,570
(25,337)

Operating Activities – During the year ended December 31, 2020, we used cash from operating activities of $2,117,297, as compared with
$2,362,851 in the same period of 2019. The decrease in cash usage results primarily from new profits generated by our ACO/MSO business
(acquired in May 2020) and our new physical therapy practice BTG (started in January 2020), as well as increased profits generated by our NCFM
practice, which was acquired in April 2019 and therefore only reflected in our results for eight-and-a-half months of 2019.
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Investing Activities – During the year ended December 31, 2020, we generated $1,812,239 from investing activities, including $2,784,782
received from the sale of marketable securities received in an August 2020 financing transaction, offset by $810,156 used to acquire CHM and MOD
(net of $107,044 cash received), $137,390 paid against contingent acquisition consideration related to the acquisitions of NCFM and CHM and
$24,997 for the acquisition of computers and equipment. During the same period of 2019, we used $465,000 for the acquisition of HCFM (net of
$35,000 cash received) and $10,056 for the acquisition of computers and equipment.
Financing Activities – During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we realized $356,801 and $2,812,570, respectively, from
financing activities. Cash realized in 2020 was comprised mainly of $1,187,286 from the proceeds of the sale of shares of common stock to investors
and pursuant to the Investment Agreement, $1,071,069 net proceeds from government loans, $827,500 from the issuance of convertible notes, and
$149,000 from related party loans. We also repaid $1,882,405 of convertible loans and $967,756 of related party loans. During 2019, we realized
$1,658,986 from the proceeds of the sale of shares of common stock to investors and pursuant to the Investment Agreement and $2,175,000 net
proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes, while repaying $1,020,491 of convertible notes and repurchasing $1,200 of treasury stock.
Exercise of Warrants and Options
There were no proceeds generated from the exercise of warrants or options during the year ended December 31, 2020. During the year
ended December 31, 2019, we generated $275 from the exercise of 2,745,757 warrants.
Other Outstanding Obligations at December 31, 2020
Warrants
As of December 31, 2020, 51,352,986 shares of our Common Stock are issuable pursuant to the exercise of warrants with exercise prices
ranging from $0.0001 to $1.00.
Options
As of December 31, 2020, 3,111,750 shares of our Common Stock are issuable pursuant to the exercise of options with exercise prices
ranging from $0.08 to $0.31.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have, during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under
applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules.
Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2020 were as follows:
Operating
Leases
$
284,506
238,637
140,944
664,087
(240,046)
$
424,041

2021
2022
2023
Total lease payments
Less interest
Present value of lease liabilities

Our operating lease commitments relate to the following office leases: (i) lease agreement for our NWC practice for approximately 3,650
square feet that commenced in August 2020 and expires in July 2023, located in Naples, FL; (ii) lease agreement for our BTG practice for
approximately 2,150 square feet that commenced in April 2020 and expires in March 2023, located in Bonita Springs, FL; (iii) lease agreement for
our NCFM practice for approximately 3,700 square feet that commenced in April 2019 and expires in May 2022, located in Naples, FL; (iv) lease
agreement for our ACO/MSO division for approximately 2,500 square feet on a month-to-month basis located in Jacksonville, FL; and (iv) lease
agreement for our corporate office for approximately 2,700 square feet that commenced in December 2020 and expires November 2023, located in
Naples, FL.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Pursuant to Item 305(e) of Regulation S-K (§229.305(e)), the Company is not required to provide the information required by this Item as it
is a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Rule 229.10(f)(1).
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
HealthLynked Corporation and Subsidiaries
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of HealthLynked Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,
2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we
are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error
or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ RBSM LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
New York, NY
March 31, 2021
F-2
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2020
2019
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $13,972 and $13,972 as of December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other
Total Current Assets

$

Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $177,457 and $749,316 as of December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $151,776 and $5,908 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively
Goodwill
ROU lease assets and deposits
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Contract liabilities
Lease liability, current portion
Due to related party, current portion
Notes payable to related party, current portion
Government and vendor notes payable, current portion
Convertible notes payable, net of original issue discount and debt discount of $-0- and $777,668 as of December
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
Contingent acquisition consideration, current portion
Derivative financial instruments
Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities
Government and vendor notes payable, long term portion
Contingent acquisition consideration, long term portion
Lease liability, long term portion

162,184

$

110,441

87,153
95,200
59,003
403,540

83,251
70,460
138,531
402,683

437,286

513,788

5,601,762
1,148,105
435,855

1,265,092
71,866
293,125

$

8,026,548

$

2,546,554

$

1,891,749
89,425
150,251
300,600
--411,427

$

836,465
--201,523
493,457
743,955
---

1,336,350
701,961
--4,881,763

1,542,036
100,000
991,288
4,908,724

722,508
798,479
273,790

--400,000
80,510

Total Liabilities
6,676,540
5,389,234
Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 500,000,000 shares authorized, 187,967,881 and 109,894,490 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively Series B convertible preferred stock,
par value $0.001 per share, 20,000,000
18,797
10,990
Series B convertible preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, 20,000,000 shares authorized, 2,750,000 and -0shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
2,750
--Common stock issuable, $0.0001 par value; 2,150,020 and 1,047,904 shares as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively
262,273
159,538
Additional paid-in capital
22,851,098
13,016,446
Accumulated deficit
(21,784,910)
(16,029,654)
Total Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
1,350,008
(2,842,680)
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
$ 8,026,548 $ 2,546,554
See the accompanying notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Revenue
Patient service revenue, net
Medicare shared savings revenue
Consulting revenue
Product revenue
Total revenue

$

Operating Expenses and Costs
Practice salaries and benefits
Other practice operating expenses
Medicare shared savings expenses
Cost of product revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total Operating Expenses and Costs

4,743,811
767,744
432,977
188,588
6,133,120

$

4,018,818
------4,018,818

2,581,481
2,149,118
1,017,494
146,461
3,063,029
247,366
9,204,949

2,393,954
1,845,070
----2,915,419
73,385
7,227,828

Loss from operations

(3,071,829)

(3,209,010)

Other Income (Expenses)
Loss on sales of marketable securities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of debt
Financing cost
Amortization of original issue and debt discounts on notes payable and convertible notes
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Change in fair value of contingent acquisition consideration
Loss on settlement of litigation and other dispute
Interest expense
Total other expenses

(282,107)
(1,347,371)
(381,835)
--(530,930)
739,485
75,952
(706,862)
(249,759)
(2,683,427)

--(1,229,777)
(121,508)
(135,528)
(1,260,513)
671,822
----(244,085)
(2,319,589)

Net loss before provision for income taxes

(5,755,256)

(5,528,599)

---

Provision for income taxes
Net loss

$

(5,755,256) $
(446,036)

Deemed dividend - amortization of beneficial conversion feature and down round adjustment to warrants

--(5,528,599)
---

Net loss to common stockholders

$

(6,201,292) $

(5,528,599)

Net loss per share to common stockholders, basic and diluted:
Basic
Fully diluted

$
$

(0.04) $
(0.04) $

(0.06)
(0.06)

Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic
Fully diluted

142,824,870
142,824,870

See the accompanying notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
Common Additional
Total
Number of Shares
Common Preferred Common Preferred Stock
Paid-in Accumulated Shareholders’
Stock
Stock
Stock
Stock
Issuable
Capital
Deficit
Equity (Deficit)
(#)
(#)
($)
($)
($)
($)
($)
($)
Balance at December 31, 2018
Acquisition of Hughes Center for
Functional Medicine
Sale of common stock
Fair value of warrants allocated to
proceeds of common stock
Shares issued with convertible notes
payable
Fair value of warrants allocated to
proceeds of convertible notes payable
Fair value of warrants issued and
modifications of beneficial conversion
feature to extend convertible notes
payable
Conversion of convertible notes payable
to common stock
Fair value of warrants issued for
professional services
Consultant fees payable with common
shares and warrants
Shares and options issued pursuant to
employee equity incentive plan
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of stock warrants
Repurchase of treasury stock
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2019
Sales of common stock
Fair value of warrants allocated to
proceeds of common stock
Sale of common and preferred stock in
exchange for marketable securities
Conversion of convertible notes payable
to common stock
Gain on extinguishment of related party
debt allocated to additional paid in
capital
Acquisition of Cura Health Management
LLC
Acquisition of MedOffice Direct LLC
Contingent acquisition consideration
issued
Exercise of stock warrants
Consultant and director fees payable
with common shares and warrants
Shares and options issued pursuant to
employee equity incentive plan
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2020

85,178,902

---

8,518

---

26,137

7,531,553

(10,501,055)

(2,934,847)

3,968,254
8,313,992

-----

397
832

-----

--59,000

999,603
1,444,504

-----

1,000,000
1,504,336

---

---

---

---

---

154,650

---

154,650

140,500

---

14

---

---

28,303

---

28,317

---

---

---

---

---

225,323

---

225,323

---

---

---

---

---

1,046,399

---

1,046,399

6,332,893

---

633

---

---

1,218,922

---

1,219,555

---

---

---

---

---

54,257

---

54,257

560,000

---

56

---

67,240

108,026

---

175,322

349,063
113,141
4,937,745
-----

-----------

35
11
494
-----

-----------

7,161
---------

206,336
(11)
(219)
(1,200)
---

109,894,490

---

10,990

---

159,538 13,016,446

13,264,262

---

1,327

---

(59,000)

---

---

---

---

24,522,727 2,750,000

2,452

14,197,123

---

---

--------(5,528,599)

213,532
0
275
(1,200)
(5,528,599)

(16,029,654)

(2,842,680)

1,058,684

---

1,001,011

---

186,275

---

186,275

2,750

---

3,061,687

---

3,066,889

1,420

---

---

1,664,096

---

1,665,516

---

---

---

---

283,862

---

283,862

2,240,838
19,045,564

-----

224
1,904

-----

-----

201,451
2,702,565

-----

201,675
2,704,469

1,835,626
927,398

-----

184
93

-----

-----

292,599
(93)

-----

292,783
---

1,114,861

---

111

---

153,940

159,817

---

313,868

924,992
---

-----

92
---

-----

7,795
---

223,709
---

--(5,755,256)

231,596
(5,755,256)

187,967,881 2,750,000

18,797

2,750

262,273 22,851,098

(21,784,910)

1,350,008

See the accompanying notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation, including amortization of prepaid fees
Amortization of original issue discount and debt discount on convertible notes
Loss on sales of marketable securities
Financing cost
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of debt
Change in fair value of contingent acquisition consideration
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and deposits
ROU lease assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Lease liability
Due to related party, current portion
Contract liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities
Acquisition, net of cash acquired
Payment of contingent acquisition consideration
Acquisition of property and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Repayment of convertible notes
Proceeds from related party loans
Repayment of related party loans
Proceeds from government loans
Repayment of notes payable
Repurchase and retirement of treasury stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) increase in cash
Cash, beginning of period

(5,755,256) $
247,366
564,667
530,930
282,107
--(739,485)
1,347,371
381,835
(75,952)

73,385
519,930
1,260,513
--135,528
(671,822)
1,229,777
121,508
---

86,295
(24,740)
73,125
222,781
983,904
(221,009)
46,370
(67,606)
(2,117,297)

31,633
1,654
(96,696)
282,372
492,212
(278,017)
63,771
--(2,362,851)

2,784,782
(810,156)
(137,390)
(24,997)
1,812,239

--(465,000)
--(10,056)
(475,056)

1,187,286
--827,500
(1,882,405)
149,000
(967,756)
1,071,069
(27,893)
--356,801

1,658,986
275
2,175,000
(1,020,491)
--------(1,200)
2,812,570

51,743
110,441

Cash, end of period

$
(continued)
F-6

(5,528,599)

162,184

(25,337)
135,778
$

110,441
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest
Cash paid during the period for income tax
Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Initial derivative liability and fair value of beneficial conversion feature and original issue discount allocated to
proceeds of variable convertible notes payable
Common stock issuable issued during period
Fair value of warrants issued for professional service
Conversion of convertible note payable to common shares
Fair value of common shares issued with convertible notes payable
Cashless exercise of options and warrants
Adoption of lease obligation and ROU asset
Fair value of shares issued as acquisition consideration
Fair value of contingent acquisition consideration issued
Fair value of warrants issued and modifications of beneficial conversion feature to extend convertible notes
payable
Fair value of warrants issued to extend related party notes payable
Derivative liabilities written off with repayment of convertible notes payable
Derivative liabilities written off with conversion of convertible notes payable
Reduction in contingent acquisition consideration
Fair value of marketable securities received as consideration for sale of common and preferred shares
Fair value of warrants allocated to proceeds of fixed convertible notes payable
Gain on extinguishment of related party debt allocated to additional paid in capital
See the accompanying notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements
F-7

$
$

203,396
---

$
$

38,126
---

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

211,497
66,161
--1,665,516
----365,563
2,906,145
1,999,676

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,870,234
35
54,257
1,219,555
28,318
230
560,050
1,000,000
500,000

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

----328,000
135,300
200,328
3,066,889
--283,862

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

703,267
274,801
608,390
------225,323
---
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 1 – BUSINESS AND BUSINESS PRESENTATION
HealthLynked Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the State of Nevada on August 4, 2014. On September 2, 2014, the Company filed
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of Nevada setting the total number of authorized shares at 250,000,000
shares, which included up to 230,000,000 shares of common stock and 20,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock. On February 5, 2018, the
Company filed an Amendment to its Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of Nevada to increase the number of
authorized shares of common stock to 500,000,000 shares.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company operated in four distinct divisions: the Health Services Division, the Digital Healthcare Division, the
ACO/MSO (Accountable Care Organization / Managed Service Organization) Division, and the Medical Distribution Division. The Health Services
division is comprised of the operations of (i) Naples Women’s Center (“NWC”), a multi-specialty medical group including OB/GYN (both Obstetrics
and Gynecology) and General Practice, (ii) Naples Center for Functional Medicine (“NCFM”), a Functional Medical Practice acquired in April 2019
that is engaged in improving the health of its patients through individualized and integrative health care, and (iii) Bridging the Gap Physical Therapy
(“BTG”), a physical therapy practice in Bonita Springs, FL opened in January 2020 that provides hands-on functional manual therapy techniques to
speed patients’ recovery and manage pain without pain medication or surgery. The Digital Healthcare division develops and operates an online
personal medical information and record archive system, the “HealthLynked Network,” which enables patients and doctors to keep track of medical
information via the Internet in a cloud-based system. The ACO/MSO Division is comprised of the business acquired of Cura Health Management
LLC (“CHM”) and its subsidiary ACO Health Partners LLC (“AHP”), which were acquired by the Company on May 18, 2020. CHM and AHP
operate an Accountable Care Organization (“ACO”) and Managed Service Organization (“MSO”) that assists physician practices in providing
coordinated and more efficient care to patients via the Medicare Shared Savings Program (“MSSP”) as administered by the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services (the “CMS”), which rewards providers for efficiency in patient care. The Medical Distribution Division is comprised of the
operations of MedOffice Direct LLC (“MOD”), a virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both consumers and medical practices
throughout the United States acquired by the Company on October 19, 2020.
On a consolidated basis, the Company’s operations are comprised of the parent company, HealthLynked Corp., and its six subsidiaries: NWC,
NCFM, BTG, CHM, AHP and MOD. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation. In addition,
certain amounts in the prior periods’ consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.
These consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments including normal recurring adjustments, which, in the opinion of management, are
necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in accordance with the accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated upon consolidation. In addition, certain amounts in the prior periods’ consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform
to the current period presentation.
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A summary of the significant accounting policies applied in the presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements follows:
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“US GAAP”).
All amounts referred to in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are in United States Dollars ($) unless stated otherwise.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those
estimates. Significant estimates include assumptions about fair valuation of acquired intangible assets, cash flow and fair value assumptions
associated with measurements of contingent acquisition consideration and impairment of intangible assets and goodwill, valuation of inventory,
collection of accounts receivable, the valuation and recognition of stock-based compensation expense, valuation allowance for deferred tax assets,
borrowing rate consideration for right-of-use (“ROU”) lease assets including related lease liability and useful life of fixed assets.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02”) using the required
modified retrospective approach. ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to record most leases on their balance sheets but recognize expenses on their income
statements in a manner similar to current accounting. See discussion below under the caption “Leases” in this Note 2 and in Note 9 for more detail on
the Company’s accounting policy with respect to lease accounting.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 expands the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods
and services from nonemployees and supersedes the guidance in Subtopic 505-50, Equity - Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees. The adoption
of this guidance did not materially impact the Company’s financial statements and related disclosures.
Revenue Recognition
Patient service revenue
Patient service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for
providing patient care. These amounts are due from patients and third-party payors (including health insurers and government programs) and include
variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Company bills
patients and third-party payors within days after the services are performed and/or the patient is discharged from the facility. Revenue is recognized
as performance obligations are satisfied.
Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the Company. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied
over time is recognized based on actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges. The Company believes that this method provides a
faithful depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance obligation based on the inputs needed to satisfy the obligation. Revenue
for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is recognized when goods or services are provided and the Company does not believe it is
required to provide additional goods or services to the patient.
The Company determines the transaction price based on standard charges for goods and services provided, reduced by contractual adjustments
provided to third-party payors, discounts provided to uninsured patients in accordance with the Company’s policy, and/or implicit price concessions
provided to uninsured patients. The Company determines its estimates of contractual adjustments and discounts based on contractual agreements, its
discount policies, and historical experience. The Company determines its estimate of implicit price concessions based on its historical collection
experience with this class of patients.
Agreements with third-party payors typically provide for payments at amounts less than established charges. A summary of the payment
arrangements with major third-party payors follows:
●

Medicare: Certain inpatient acute care services are paid at prospectively determined rates per discharge based on clinical, diagnostic and
other factors. Certain services are paid based on cost-reimbursement methodologies subject to certain limits. Physician services are paid
based upon established fee schedules. Outpatient services are paid using prospectively determined rates.

●

Medicaid: Reimbursements for Medicaid services are generally paid at prospectively determined rates per discharge, per occasion of
service, or per covered member.

●

Other: Payment agreements with certain commercial insurance carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider
organizations provide for payment using prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts from established charges, and
prospectively determined daily rates.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, are complex and subject to varying interpretation. As a
result of investigations by governmental agencies, various health care organizations have received requests for information and notices regarding
alleged noncompliance with those laws and regulations, which, in some instances, have resulted in organizations entering into significant settlement
agreements. Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant
regulatory action, including fines, penalties, and potential exclusion from the related programs. There can be no assurance that regulatory authorities
will not challenge the Company’s compliance with these laws and regulations, and it is not possible to determine the impact, if any, such claims or
penalties would have upon the Company. In addition, the contracts the Company has with commercial payors also provide for retroactive audit and
review of claims.
Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews or investigations are considered variable consideration and are
included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for providing patient care. These settlements are estimated based on the terms of the
payment agreement with the payor, correspondence from the payor and the Company’s historical settlement activity, including an assessment to
ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated
with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved. Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as
years are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations.
The Company also provides services to uninsured patients, and offers those uninsured patients a discount, either by policy or law, from standard
charges. The Company estimates the transaction price for patients with deductibles and coinsurance and from those who are uninsured based on
historical experience and current market conditions. The initial estimate of the transaction price is determined by reducing the standard charge by any
contractual adjustments, discounts, and implicit price concessions. Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded
as adjustments to patient service revenue in the period of the change. Patient services provided by NCFM are provided on a cash basis and not
submitted through third party insurance providers.
Medicare Shared Savings Revenue
The Company earns Medicare shared savings revenue based on performance of the population of patient lives for which it is accountable as an ACO
against benchmarks established by the MSSP. Because the MSSP, which was formed in 2012, is relatively new and has limited historical experience,
the Company cannot accurately predict the amount of shared savings that will be determined by CMS. Such amounts are determined annually when
the Company is notified by CMS of the amount of shared savings earned. Accordingly, the Company recognizes Medicare shared savings revenue in
the period in which the CMS notifies the Company of the exact amount of shared savings to be paid, which historically has occurred during the fiscal
quarter ended September 30 for the program year ended December 31 of the previous year. The Company was notified of the amount of Medicare
shared savings and received payment for such savings in September 2020. Accordingly, the Company recognized Medicare shared savings revenue
of $767,744 in the year ended December 31, 2020. Based on the ACO operating agreements, the Company bears all costs of the ACO operations
until revenue is recognized. At that point, the Company shares in up to 100% of the revenue to recover its costs incurred.
Consulting Revenue
Also pursuant to ASC 606, the Company recognizes service revenue as services are provided, with any unearned but paid amounts recorded as a
contract liability at each balance sheet date.
Product Revenue
Revenue is derived from the distribution of medical products that are sourced from a third party. The Company recognizes revenue at a point in time
when title transfers to customers and the Company has no further obligation to provide services related to such products, which occurs when the
product ships. The Company is the principal in its revenue transactions and as a result revenue is recorded on a gross basis. The Company has
determined that it controls the ability to direct the use of the product provided prior to transfer to a customer, is primarily responsible for fulfilling the
promise to provide the product to its customer, has discretion in establishing prices, and ultimately controls the transfer of the product to the
customer. Shipping and handling costs billed to customers are recorded in revenue. Contract liabilities were $5,782 and $-0- as of December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. There were no contract assets as of December 31, 2020 or 2019.
Sales are made inclusive of sales tax, where such sales tax is applicable. Sales tax is applicable on sales made in the state of Florida, where the
Company has physical nexus. The Company has determined that it does not have economic nexus in any other states. The Company does not sell
products outside of the United States.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
The Company maintains a return policy that allows customers to return product within a specified period of time prior to and subsequent to the
expiration date of the product. The Company analyzes the need for a product return allowance at the end of each period based on eligible products.
Product return allowance was $26,839 and $-0- as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities represent payments from customers for consulting services, patient services and medical products that precede the Company’s
service or product fulfillment performance obligation. The Company’s contract liabilities balance was $89,425 and $-0- as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
Provider shared savings expense
Provider shared savings expense represents payments made to the ACO’s participating providers. The pool of provider shared savings expense paid
to all participating providers, as well as the amounts paid to each individual participating provider from the pool, is determined by ACO
management. Shared Savings expense is recognized in the period in which the size of the payment pool is determined, which typically corresponds
the period in which the shared saving payment is received from CMS and shared savings revenue is recognized. This typically occurs in the second
half of the year following the completion of the program year. The Company was notified of the amount of Medicare shared savings and received
payment for such savings in September 2020 totaling $767,744, of which $388,884 was determined to be provider shared savings expense that was
paid to the providers in the fourth quarter of 2020.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For financial statement purposes, the Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and
cash equivalents. Accounts at each institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250,000. At December 31,
2020 and 2019, the Company had $18,227 and $279 in excess of the FDIC insured limit, respectively.
Accounts Receivable
Trade receivables are carried at their estimated collectible amounts. Trade credit is generally extended on a short-term basis; thus trade receivables do
not bear interest. Trade accounts receivable are periodically evaluated for collectability based on past collectability of the insurance companies,
government agencies, and customers’ accounts receivable during the related period which generally approximates 47.3% of total billings. Trade
accounts receivable are recorded at this net amount. As of and December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s gross patient services accounts
receivable were $165,464 and $188,503, respectively, and net patient services accounts receivable were $71,655 and $83,251, respectively, based
upon net reporting of accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s allowance of doubtful accounts was $13,972 and
$13,972, respectively. The Company also had $15,498 accounts receivable related to amounts billed under consulting contracts.
Leases
Upon transition under ASU 2016-02, the Company elected the suite of practical expedients as a package applied to all of its leases, including (i) not
reassessing whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) not reassessing the lease classification for any expired or existing
leases, and (iii) not reassessing initial direct costs for any existing leases. For new leases, the Company will determine if an arrangement is or
contains a lease at inception. Leases are included as ROU assets within other assets and ROU liabilities within accrued expenses and other liabilities
and within other long-term liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company’s
leases do not provide an implicit rate. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in
determining the present value of lease payments. The ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. Lease
expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 in the first quarter of
2019. See Note 9 for more complete details on balances as of the reporting periods presented herein. The adoption had no material impact on cash
provided by or used in operating, investing or financing activities on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.
Inventory
Inventory consisting of supplements, is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method.
Outdated inventory is directly charged to cost of goods sold.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill is recognized as the excess cost of an acquired entity over the net amount assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is
not amortized, but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis and more often if circumstances require. Impairment losses are recognized
whenever the implied fair value of goodwill is less than its carrying value.
The Company recognizes an acquired intangible apart from goodwill whenever the intangible arises from contractual or other legal rights, or
whenever it can be separated or divided from the acquired entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or in
combination with a related contract, asset or liability. Such intangibles are amortized over their estimated useful lives unless the estimated useful life
is determined to be indefinite. Amortizable intangible assets are being amortized primarily over useful lives of five years. The straight-line method of
amortization is used as it has been determined to approximate the use pattern of the assets. Impairment losses are recognized if the carrying amount
of an intangible that is subject to amortization is not recoverable from expected future cash flows and its carrying amount exceeds its fair value.
The Company also maintains intangible assets with indefinite lives, which are not amortized. These intangibles are tested for impairment on an
annual basis and more often if circumstances require. Impairment losses are recognized whenever the implied fair value of these assets is less than
their carrying value. No impairment charges were recognized in the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to a concentration of credit risk are cash and accounts receivable. There are no
patients/customers that represent 10% or more of the Company’s revenue or accounts receivable. Generally, the Company’s cash and cash
equivalents are in checking accounts.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. When retired or otherwise disposed, the related carrying value and accumulated depreciation are removed
from the respective accounts and the net difference less any amount realized from disposition, is reflected in earnings. For consolidated financial
statement purposes, property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 5
to 7 years. The cost of repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred; major replacements and improvements are capitalized.
The Company examines the possibility of decreases in the value of fixed assets when events or changes in circumstances reflect the fact that their
recorded value may not be recoverable. The Company recognizes an impairment loss when the sum of expected undiscounted future cash flows is
less than the carrying amount of the asset. The amount of impairment is measured as the difference between the asset’s estimated fair value and its
book value. As of December 31, 2020, the Company wrote off fully depreciated property and equipment with an original cost and related
accumulated depreciation of $673,357. Because the property and equipment were fully depreciated as of December 31, 2020, there was no related
impairment charge.
Convertible Notes
Convertible notes are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an equity component. The component parts of
compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At
the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible
instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost basis until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date.
The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognized as additional paid-in capital and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. After initial
measurement, they are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Convertible notes for which the maturity date has been extended
and that qualify for debt extinguishment treatment are recorded at fair value on the extinguishment date and then revalue at the end of each reporting
period, with the change recorded to the statement of operations under “Change in Fair Value of Debt.”
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company reviews the terms of convertible debt, equity instruments and other financing arrangements to determine whether there are embedded
derivative instruments, including embedded conversion options that are required to be bifurcated and accounted for separately as a derivative
financial instrument. Also, in connection with the issuance of financing instruments, the Company may issue freestanding options or warrants that
may, depending on their terms, be accounted for as derivative instrument liabilities, rather than as equity. Derivative financial instruments are
initially measured at their fair value. For derivative financial instruments that are accounted for as liabilities, the derivative instrument is initially
recorded at its fair value and is then re-valued at each reporting date, with changes in the fair value reported as charges or credits to income. To the
extent that the initial fair values of the freestanding and/or bifurcated derivative instrument liabilities exceed the total proceeds received, an
immediate charge to income is recognized, in order to initially record the derivative instrument liabilities at their fair value. The discount from the
face value of convertible debt instruments resulting from allocating some or all of the proceeds to the derivative instruments is amortized over the life
of the instrument through periodic charges to income.
The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is reassessed at the end
of each reporting period. If reclassification is required, the fair value of the derivative instrument, as of the determination date, is reclassified. Any
previous charges or credits to income for changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument are not reversed. Derivative instrument liabilities are
classified in the balance sheet as current or non-current based on whether or not net-cash settlement of the derivative instrument could be required
within twelve months of the balance sheet date. The Company does not use derivative instruments to hedge exposures to cash flow, market, or
foreign currency risks.
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
Fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e. an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants. In determining fair value, the accounting standards have established a
three-level hierarchy that distinguishes between (i) market data obtained or developed from independent sources (i.e., observable data inputs) and (ii)
a reporting entity’s own data and assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability (i.e., unobservable data inputs).
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured and reported at fair value are classified in one of the following categories, in order of priority of
observability and objectivity of pricing inputs:
●

Level 1 – Fair value based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

●

Level 2 – Fair value based on significant directly observable data (other than Level 1 quoted prices) or significant indirectly observable data
through corroboration with observable market data. Inputs would normally be (i) quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or
liabilities, (ii) quoted prices in inactive markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities or (iii) information derived from or corroborated
by observable market data;

●

Level 3 – Fair value based on prices or valuation techniques that require significant unobservable data inputs. Inputs would normally be a
reporting entity’s own data and judgments about assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The fair value measurement level for an asset or liability is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
Valuation techniques should maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
Prior to January 1, 2020, the Company utilized the closed-form Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of options, warrants,
beneficial conversion features and other Level 3 financial assets and liabilities. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company changed to a binomial lattice
option pricing model. The Company believes that the binomial lattice model results in a better estimate of fair value because it embodies all of the
requisite assumptions (including the underlying price, exercise price, term, volatility, and risk-free interest-rate) necessary to fair value these
instruments and, unlike the Black-Scholes model, also accommodates assumptions regarding investor exercise behavior and other market conditions
that market participants would likely consider in negotiating the transfer of such an instruments.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation to employees and nonemployees under ASC 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation”
using the fair value-based method. Under this method, compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the value of the award and is
recognized over the service period, which is usually the vesting period. This guidance establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in
which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. It also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange
for goods or services that are based on the fair value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity
instruments. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company uses a binomial lattice pricing model to estimate the fair value of options and warrants granted.
In prior periods, the Company used the Black-Scholes pricing model.
Income Taxes
The Company follows Accounting Standards Codification subtopic 740-10, Income Taxes (“ASC 740-10”) for recording the provision for income
taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based upon the difference between the financial statement and income tax basis of assets and
liabilities using the enacted marginal tax rate applicable when the related asset or liability is expected to be realized or settled. Deferred income tax
expenses or benefits are based on the changes in the asset or liability during each period. If available evidence suggests that it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is required to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount
that is more likely than not to be realized. Future changes in such valuation allowance are included in the provision for deferred income taxes in the
period of change. Deferred income taxes may arise from temporary differences resulting from income and expense items reported for financial
accounting and tax purposes in different periods. Deferred taxes are classified as current or non-current, depending on the classification of assets and
liabilities to which they relate. Deferred taxes arising from temporary differences that are not related to an asset or liability are classified as current or
non-current depending on the periods in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse and are considered immaterial. No Income Tax has
been provided for the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019, since the Company has sustained a loss for both periods. Due to the uncertainty of the
utilization and recoverability of the loss carry-forwards and other deferred tax assets, management has determined a full valuation allowance for the
deferred tax assets, since it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realizable.
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
The carrying value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities is their cost, which may differ from fair value. The carrying value of
cash held as demand deposits, money market and certificates of deposit, marketable investments, accounts receivable, short-term borrowings,
accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and derivative financial instruments approximated their fair value.
Deemed Dividend
The Company incurs a deemed dividend on Series B Convertible Preferred Voting Stock (the “Series B Preferred”). As the intrinsic price per share of
the Series B Preferred was less than the deemed fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of issuance of the Series B Preferred, the
Series B Preferred contains a beneficial conversion feature as described in FASB ASC 470-20, “Debt with Conversion and Other Options.” The
difference in the stated conversion price and estimated fair value of the common stock is accounted for as a beneficial conversion feature and affects
income or loss available to common stockholders for purposes of earnings per share available to common stockholders. The Company incurs further
deemed dividends on certain of its warrants containing a down round provision equal to the difference in fair value of the warrants before and after
the triggering of the down round adjustment.
Net Loss per Share
Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company reported a net loss and excluded all outstanding
stock options, warrants and other dilutive securities from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share because inclusion of these securities
would have been anti-dilutive. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, potentially dilutive securities were comprised of (i) 51,352,986 and 47,056,293
warrants outstanding, respectively, (ii) 3,111,750 and 3,269,250 stock options outstanding, respectively, (iii) 10,298,333 and 23,210,423 shares
issuable upon conversion of convertible notes, respectively, (iv) 400,000 and 332,500 unissued shares subject to future vesting requirements granted
pursuant to the Company’s Employee Incentive Plan, and (v) up to 13,750,000 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of Series B
Preferred.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Common stock awards
The Company grants common stock awards to non-employees in exchange for services provided. The Company measures the fair value of these
awards using the fair value of the services provided or the fair value of the awards granted, whichever is more reliably measurable. The fair value
measurement date of these awards is generally the date the performance of services is complete. The fair value of the awards is recognized on a
straight-line basis as services are rendered. The share-based payments related to common stock awards for the settlement of services provided by
non-employees is recorded on the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss in the same manner and charged to the same account as if such
settlements had been made in cash.
Warrants
In connection with certain financing, consulting and collaboration arrangements, the Company has issued warrants to purchase shares of its common
stock. The outstanding warrants are standalone instruments that are not puttable or mandatorily redeemable by the holder and are classified as equity
awards. The Company measures the fair value of the awards using the Black-Scholes pricing model as of the measurement date. Effective January 1,
2020, the Company uses a binomial lattice pricing model to estimate the fair value of compensation options and warrants. In prior periods, the
Company used the Black-Scholes pricing model. Warrants issued in conjunction with the issuance of common stock are initially recorded at fair
value as a reduction in additional paid-in capital of the common stock issued. All other warrants are recorded at fair value as expense over the
requisite service period or at the date of issuance, if there is not a service period. Certain of the Company’s warrants include a so-called down round
provision. The Company accounts for such provisions pursuant to ASU No. 2017-11, Earnings Per Share, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and
Derivatives and Hedging, which calls for the recognition of a deemed dividend in the amount of the incremental fair value of the warrant due to the
down round when triggered, Warrants granted in connection with ongoing arrangements are more fully described in Note 15, Shareholders’ Equity
(Deficit).
Business Segments
The Company uses the “management approach” to identify its reportable segments. The management approach designates the internal organization
used by management for making operating decisions and assessing performance as the basis for identifying the Company’s reportable segments.
Using the management approach, the Company determined that it has four operating segments: Health Services (multi-specialty medical group
including the NWC OB/GYN practice, the NCFM practice acquired in April 2019 and the BTG physical therapy practice launched in 2020), Digital
Healthcare (develops and markets the “HealthLynked Network,” an online personal medical information and record archive system), ACO/MSO
(comprised of the ACO/MSO business acquired with CHM in May 2020, which assists physician practices in providing coordinated and more
efficient care to patients via the MSSP), and Medical Distribution (comprised of the operations of MOD, a virtual distributor of discounted medical
supplies selling to both consumers and medical practices acquired by the Company on October 19, 2020).
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02”) using the required
modified retrospective approach. ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to record most leases on their balance sheets but recognize expenses on their income
statements in a manner similar to current accounting. See discussion below under the caption “Leases” in this Note 2 and in Note 9 for more detail on
the Company’s accounting policy with respect to lease accounting.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 expands the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods
and services from nonemployees and supersedes the guidance in Subtopic 505-50, Equity - Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees. The adoption
of this guidance did not materially impact the Company’s financial statements and related disclosures.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments — Overall: Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. The guidance affects the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option and the presentation
and disclosure requirements of financial instruments. The guidance is effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2019. We adopted this guidance effective
January 1, 2019. The adoption of this guidance did not materially impact our financial statements and related disclosures.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-11, Earnings Per Share, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and Derivatives and Hedging, which
changes the accounting and earnings per share for certain instruments with down round features. The amendments in this ASU should be applied
using a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the beginning of the fiscal year or retrospective adjustment to each period presented and is effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those periods. We adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2019.
The adoption of this guidance did not materially impact our financial statements and related disclosures.
In February 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASC Update No 2018-02 (Topic 220) Income Statement – Reporting
Comprehensive Income: Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. This ASC update allows for a
reclassification into retained earnings of the stranded tax effects in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) resulting from the enactment
of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”). The updated guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. We
adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2019. The adoption of this guidance did not materially impact our financial statements and related
disclosures.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based
Payment Accounting, to expand the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from
nonemployees and supersedes the guidance in Subtopic 505-50, Equity - Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees. Under ASU 2018-07, equityclassified nonemployee share-based payment awards are measured at the grant date fair value on the grant date The probability of satisfying
performance conditions must be considered for equity-classified nonemployee share-based payment awards with such conditions. ASU 2018-07 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. We adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2019. The
adoption of this guidance did not materially impact our financial statements and related disclosures.
In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-09 to provide clarification and correction of errors to the Codification. The amendments in this update
cover multiple Accounting Standards Updates. Some topics in the update may require transition guidance with effective dates for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2018. We adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2019. The adoption of this guidance did not materially impact our
financial statements and related disclosures.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12”).
ASC 2019-12 is a new accounting standard to simplify accounting for income taxes and remove, modify, and add to the disclosure requirements of
income taxes. The standard is effective for public companies with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The
Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326) (“ASU 2016-13”) which introduces new guidance
for the accounting for credit losses on certain instruments within its scope. ASU 2016-13 introduces an approach based on expected losses to estimate
credit losses on certain types of financial instruments. For trade receivables, the Company will be required to use a forward-looking expected loss
model rather than the incurred loss model for recognizing credit losses, which reflects losses that are probable. Credit losses relating to available-forsale debt securities will also be recorded through an allowance for credit losses rather than as a reduction in the amortized cost basis of the securities.
On July 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13 under the modified retrospective approach by initially applying ASU 2016-13 at the adoption
date, rather than at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. This guidance was adopted with no material impact to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s
Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (“ASU 2018-15”). ASU 2018-15
aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software, including hosting arrangements that include an internal-use
software license. This guidance was adopted with no material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement, (ASU 2018-13). The new standard removes certain disclosures, modifies certain disclosures and adds
additional disclosures related to fair value measurement. The new standard became effective on January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did
not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement
That Is a Service Contract.” The ASU clarifies certain aspects of ASU 2015-05, “Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement,” which was issued in April 2015. Specifically, the ASU 2018-15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred
in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internaluse software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license).” The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this guidance effective
January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808): Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and
Topic 606. The main provisions of ASU 2018-18 include: (i) clarifying that certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants
should be accounted for as revenue when the collaborative arrangement participant is a customer in the context of a unit of account and
(ii) precluding the presentation of transactions with collaborative arrangement participants that are not directly related to sales to third parties together
with revenue. This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those
annual reporting periods, and early adoption is permitted. The guidance per ASU 2018-18 is to be adopted retrospectively to the date of initial
application of Topic 606. The Company adopted ASU 2018-18 on January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which eliminates the need for an organization to
analyze whether the following apply in a given period: (1) exception to the incremental approach for intra-period tax allocation; (2) exceptions to
accounting for basis differences when there are ownership changes in foreign investments; and (3) exceptions in interim period income tax
accounting for year-to-date losses that exceed anticipated losses. ASU No. 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020,
and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company does not expect that this standard will have a material effect on its consolidated financial
statements.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-03, “Codification Improvements to Financial Instruments”: The amendments in this update are to
clarify, correct errors in, or make minor improvements to a variety of ASC topics. The changes in ASU 2020-03 are not expected to have a
significant effect on current accounting practices. The ASU improves various financial instrument topics in the Codification to increase stakeholder
awareness of the amendments and to expedite the improvement process by making the Codification easier to understand and easier to apply by
eliminating inconsistencies and providing clarifications. The ASU is effective for smaller reporting companies for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2022 with early application permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance may have on its
consolidated financial statements.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06 Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and
Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) related to the measurement and disclosure requirements for convertible instruments
and contracts in an entity’s own equity. The pronouncement simplifies and adds disclosure requirements for the accounting and measurement of
convertible instruments and the settlement assessment for contracts in an entity’s own equity. This pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and
for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2021 and early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this
standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
No other new accounting pronouncements were issued or became effective in the period that had, or are expected to have, a material impact on our
consolidated Financial Statements.
NOTE 3 – LIQUIDITY
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash balances of $162,184, a working capital deficit of $4,478,223 and accumulated deficit
$21,784,910. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we had a net loss of $5,755,256 and net cash used by operating activities of $2,117,297. Net
cash provided by investing activities was $1,812,239, including $2,784,782 received from the sale of marketable securities received in an August
2020 financing transaction. Net cash provided by financing activities was $356,801, resulting principally from $1,071,069 proceeds from loans and
grants issued by the federal government under the Payroll Protection Act, $827,500 net proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes, and
$149,000 proceeds from the issuance of related party loans. The Company also repaid $1,882,405 of convertible notes, $967,756 of related party
loans and $27,893 of vendor notes payable during 2020.
Subsequent to December 31, 2020 and through March 30, 2021, the Company raised $4,389,361 through sales of or common stock in private
placement transactions and puts pursuant to the July 2016 $3 million investment agreement (the “Investment Agreement”). The Company believes
that cash balances following the capital infusion are adequate to meet the Company’s cash requirements for the next twelve months.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 3 – LIQUIDITY (CONTINUED)
The Company intends that the longer term (i.e., beyond twelve months) cost of completing additional intended acquisitions, implementing its
development and sales efforts related to the HealthLynked Network and maintaining existing and expanding overhead and administrative costs will
be financed from (i) cash on hand resulting from fund raising efforts in the first quarter of 2021, (ii) profits generated by NCFM, CHM and AHP, and
(ii) the use of further outside funding sources, including the put rights associated with the Investment Agreement, sales of common and/or preferred
stock, and government loans. No assurances can be given that the Company will be able to access additional outside capital in a timely fashion. If
necessary funds are not available, the Company’s business and operations would be materially adversely affected and in such event, the Company
would attempt to reduce costs and adjust its business plan.
A novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, that was first identified in China in December 2019, has surfaced in several regions across the world and
resulted in travel restrictions and business slowdowns or shutdowns in affected areas. The further spread of COVID-19, and the requirement to take
action to limit the spread of the illness, may impact our ability to carry out our business as usual and may materially adversely impact global
economic conditions, our business and financial condition, including our potential to conduct financings on terms acceptable to us, if at all. The
extent to which COVID-19 may impact our business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with
confidence, such as the ultimate geographic spread of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, travel restrictions and social distancing in the United
States and other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other countries to
contain and treat the disease. In response to COVID-19, the Company implemented additional safety measures in its patient services locations and its
corporate headquarters.
NOTE 4 – MARKETABLE SECURITIES
On August 20, 2020, the Company entered into a contribution agreement (the “Contribution Agreement”) with Michael T. Dent, Trustee of the Mary
S. Dent Gifting Trust dated January 31, 2006 (the “Gifting Trust”), Michael Thomas Dent, Trustee under the Michael Thomas Dent Declaration of
Trust dated March 23, 1998, as amended (the “MTD Trust” and together with the Gifting Trust, the “Trusts”), and Michael T. Dent, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, the Trusts contributed an
aggregate of 76,026 freely trading shares of common stock of NeoGenomics, Inc. (“NEO” and the “NEO Shares”) (NASD:NEO) with a fair value of
$3,066,889 to the Company. In consideration for the foregoing, the Company issued the Trusts an aggregate of 2,750,000 shares of the Company’s
newly designated Series B Preferred stock and an aggregate of 24,522,727 shares of the Company’s common stock (collectively, the “August 2020
Equity Transaction”). During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold all 76,026 of the NEO Shares and received proceeds of
$2,784,782, realizing losses of $282,107.
NOTE 5 – ACQUISITIONS
Hughes Center for Functional Medicine – April 2019
On April 12, 2019, the Company acquired a 100% interest in Hughes Center for Functional Medicine (“HCFM”), a medical practice engaged in
improving the health of its patients through individualized and integrative health care. Under the terms of acquisition, the Company paid HCFM
shareholders $500,000 in cash, issued 3,968,254 shares of the Company’s common stock and agreed to an earn-out provision of $500,000 that may
be earned based on the performance of HCFM in the years ended on the first, second and third anniversary dates of the acquisition closing. The total
consideration fair value represents a transaction value of $1,799,672. The Company accounted for the transaction as an acquisition of a business
pursuant to ASC 805, “Business Combinations” (“ASC 805”).
Following the acquisition, HCFM was rebranded as NCFM and was combined with NWC to form the Company’s Health Services segment. As a
result of the acquisition, the Company is expected to be a leading provider of Functional Medicine in Southwest Florida. The Company also expects
to reduce costs in its Health Services segment through economies of scale.
The following table summarizes the fair value of consideration paid for HCFM:
Cash
Common Stock (3,968,254 shares)
Fair Value of Contingent Acquisition Consideration
Less cash received

$

500,000
1,000,000
299,672
(35,000)

Fair Value of Total Consideration

$

1,764,672
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DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 5 – ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)
The fair value of the 3,968,254 common shares issued as part of the acquisition consideration was determined using the intraday volume weighted
average price of the Company’s common shares on the acquisition date. The terms of the earn out require the Company to pay the former owner of
HCFM up to $100,000, $200,000 and $200,000 on the first, second and third anniversary, respectively, based on achievement by NCFM of revenue
of at least $3,100,000 (50% weighting) and EBITDA of at least $550,000 (50% weighting) in the year preceding each anniversary date. The fair
value of the contingent acquisition consideration related to the future earn-out payments was calculated using a probability-weighted discounted cash
flow projection. The fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration is remeasured at the end of each reporting period and changes are included
in the statement of operations under the caption “Change in fair value of contingent acquisition consideration.” During the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, the Company recognized losses on the change in the fair value of contingent acquisition consideration of $48,564 and $-0-,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid the seller $47,000 in satisfaction of the first year of earn-out.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired at the acquisition date. There were no liabilities assumed in the
acquisition of HCFM.
Hyperbaric Chambers
Medical Equipment
Computer Equipment/Software
Office Furniture & Equipment
Inventory
Leasehold Improvements
Website
Patient Management Platform Database

$

452,289
29,940
19,739
23,052
72,114
25,000
41,000
1,101,538

Fair Value of Identifiable Assets Acquired

$

1,764,672

The fair value of the website of $41,000 was determined based upon the cost to reconstruct and put into use applying current market rates. The fair
value of the Patient Management Platform Database of $1,101,538 was estimated by applying the income approach. Under the income approach, the
expected future cash flows generated by the Patient Management Platform Database are estimated and discounted to their net present value at an
appropriate risk-adjusted rate of return. Significant factors considered in the calculation of the rate of return are the weighted average cost of capital
and return on assets, as well as the risks inherent in the business. Cash flows were estimated based on EBITDA using forecasted revenue and costs.
The measure is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market (i.e. Level 3 inputs). Key assumptions include (i) a capitalization rate
of 11.75% (ii) sustainable growth of 5% and (iii) a benefit stream using EBITDA cash flow. The Company finalized the purchase price allocation in
March 2020 and determined that no goodwill was included in the acquisition.
Cura Health Management LLC – May 2020
On May 18, 2020, the Company acquired a 100% interest in CHM and its wholly owned subsidiary AHP. CHM and AHP assist physician practices
in providing coordinated and more efficient care to patients via the MSSP. The Company accounted for the transaction as an acquisition of a business
pursuant to ASC 805. Following the acquisition, the business of CHM comprised the Company’s ACO/MSO Division.
Under the terms of acquisition, the Company paid CHM shareholders the following consideration: (i) $214,000 in cash paid at closing, (ii) 2,240,838
shares of HealthLynked common stock issued at closing, (iii) up to $223,500 additional cash and $660,000 in additional shares of HealthLynked
common payable at the time CHM receives the final assessment of the calculation of MSSP savings for the 2019 program year, with this amount
prorated based on a target MSSP payment (plus other ancillary revenue) of $1,725,000, and (iv) up to $437,500 based on the business achieving
annual revenue of $2,250,000 and annual profit of $500,000 in each of the four years following closing.
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The total consideration fair value represents a transaction value of $1,423,465. The following table summarizes the fair value of consideration paid:
Cash paid at closing
Shares issued at closing (2,240,838 shares)
Cash and shares contingent upon 2019 program year MSSP payment target
Cash contingent upon four-year earn-out
Less cash received

$

$

214,000
201,675
778,192
279,593
(49,995)
1,423,465

The fair value of the 2,240,838 common shares issued at closing was determined using the intraday average high and low trading price of the
Company’s common shares on the acquisition date. The terms of the earn out require the Company to pay the former owners of CHM (i) up to
$223,500 additional cash and to $660,000 of additional shares of Company common stock when CHM receives the final assessment of the
calculation of 2019 plan year MSSP revenue (the “Current Earnout”), and (ii) up to $62,500, $125,000, $125,000 and $125,000 on the first, second,
third and fourth anniversary, respectively, based on achievement by the underlying business of revenue of at least $2,250,000 (50% weighting) and
profit of at least $500,000 (50% weighting) in the year preceding each anniversary date (the “Future Earnout”). During September 2020, pursuant to
a Second Amendment to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and in satisfaction of the Current Earnout, the Company paid $90,389 cash, issued
1,835,625 shares and agreed that the balance of the Current Earnout that was not earned in 2020, being $124,043 cash and $366,300 in shares of
Company common stock, would be deferred until the first future earnout year in which MSSP revenue exceeds $1.725 million and revenue from
other services exceeds $605,000.
The fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration related to both the Current Earnout and the Future Earnout were calculated using a
probability-weighted discounted cash flow projection. The fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration is remeasured at the end of each
reporting period and changes are included in the statement of operations under the caption “Change in fair value of contingent acquisition
consideration.” During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized losses on the change in the fair value of contingent
acquisition consideration of $8,048 and $-0-, respectively.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:
Accounts receivable
Prepayments
ACO physician contracts
Goodwill
Accounts payable
Contract liabilities

90,197
15,294
1,073,000
381,856
(32,848)
(104,034)

Fair Value of Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

$

1,423,465

The fair value of the ACO Physician Contracts of $1,073,000 was estimated by applying the income approach. Under the income approach, the
expected future cash flows generated by the ACO Physician Contracts are estimated and discounted to their net present value at an appropriate riskadjusted rate of return. Significant factors considered in the calculation of the rate of return are the weighted average cost of capital and return on
assets, as well as the risks inherent in the business. Cash flows were estimated based on EBITDA using forecasted revenue and costs. The measure is
based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market (i.e. Level 3 inputs). Key assumptions include (i) a capitalization rate of 24.24% (ii)
sustainable growth of 5.00% and (iii) a benefit stream using EBITDA cash flow. Goodwill of $381,856 arising from the acquisition consists of value
associated with the legacy name. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
MedOffice Direct LLC – October 2020
On October 19, 2020, the Company acquired a 100% interest in MOD, a virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both consumers
and medical practices throughout the United States. With over 13,000 name brand medical products in over 150 different categories, MOD leverages
pricing discounts with a small unit-of-measure direct-to-consumer shipping model to make ordering medical supplies more convenient and cost
effective for its users. The Company accounted for the transaction as an acquisition of a business pursuant to ASC 805. Following the acquisition, the
business of MOD comprised the Company’s Medical Distribution Division.
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NOTE 5 – ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)
Under the terms of acquisition, the Company paid the following consideration: (i) 19,045,563 shares of Company common stock issued at closing,
(ii) partial satisfaction of certain outstanding debt obligations of MOD in the amount of $703,200 in cash paid by the Company, and (iii) up to
10,004,749 restricted shares of the Company’s common stock over a four-year period based on MOD achieving prescribed revenue targets in
calendar years 2021 through 2024.
Dr. Michael Dent, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company, George O’Leary, the Chief Financial
Officer and a director of the Company, and Robert Gasparini, a director of the Company, were members of MOD and received consideration in
connection with Company’s acquisition of MOD as follows: (1) Dr. Dent received 10,573,745 Company common shares at closing, may earn up to
5,554,452 additional Company common shares pursuant to the earn-out, and received $457,200 cash repayment of debt, (2) Mr. O’Leary received
1,130,213 Company common shares at closing, may earn up to 593,707 additional Company common shares pursuant to the earn-out, and received
$66,000 cash repayment of debt, and (3) Mr. Gasparini received 99,437 Company common shares at closing and may earn up to 52,235 additional
Company common shares pursuant to the earn-out.
The total consideration fair value represents a transaction value of $3,999,730. The following table summarizes the fair value of consideration paid:
Shares issued at closing (19,045,563 shares)
Payment of MOD debt obligations in cash
Shares contingent upon four-year earn-out
Less cash received

$

2,704,470
703,200
649,108
(57,048)

$

3,999,730

The fair value of the 19,045,563 common shares issued at closing was determined using the average closing price for the five days prior to the
closing date of October 19, 2020. The terms of the earn out require the Company to issue to the former equity members of MOD up to 1,9688,448
shares, 3,154,264 shares, 2,631,195 shares and 2,250,842 shares, respectively, (the “MOD Earnout Shares”) based on achievement by the underlying
business of revenue of at least $1,500,000 in 2021, $1,875,000 in 2022, $2,344,000 in 2023 and $2,930,000 in 2024. The MOD Earnout Shares are
issuable by April 30 of the year following the measurement year.
The fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration related to the MOD Earnout Shares was calculated using a probability-weighted discounted
cash flow projection. The fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration is remeasured at the end of each reporting period and changes are
included in the statement of operations under the caption “Change in fair value of contingent acquisition consideration.” During the year ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized gains on the change in the fair value of contingent acquisition consideration related to the
MOD Earnout Shares of $132,564 and $-0-, respectively.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:
Website
Goodwill
Accounts payable and accruals
Notes payable
Contract liabilities
Fair Value of Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

$

3,538,000
766,249
(160,762)
(90,759)
(52,998)

$

3,999,730

The fair value of the website of $3,538,000 was estimated by applying the income approach. Under the income approach, the expected future cash
flows generated by the asset are estimated and discounted to their net present value at an appropriate risk-adjusted rate of return. Significant factors
considered in the calculation of the rate of return are the weighted average cost of capital and return on assets, as well as the risks inherent in the
business. Cash flows were estimated based on EBITDA using forecasted revenue and costs. The measure is based on significant inputs that are not
observable in the market (i.e. Level 3 inputs). Key assumptions include (i) a discount rate of 23.48% (ii) sustainable growth of 3.00% and (iii) a
benefit stream using EBITDA cash flow. The website is being amortized over a five-year expected life. Goodwill of $766,249 arising from the
acquisition consists of value associated with the legacy name. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 5 – ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)
Pro Forma Financial Information
The following represents the pro forma consolidated income statement as if HCFM, CHM and MOD had been included in the consolidated results of
the Company for the entire years ending December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$ 7,174,911 $ 4,914,468
$ (6,599,368) $ (5,457,676)

Revenue
Net loss

These amounts have been calculated after applying the Company’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of HCFM, CHM and MOD to reflect
the additional depreciation and amortization that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets had been applied on January 1, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
NOTE 6 – PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER
On March 22, 2017, the Company granted to the investor in the Investment Agreement warrants to purchase 4,000,000 shares at $0.25 per share,
2,000,000 shares at $0.50 per share and 1,000,000 shares at $1.00 per share. On June 7, 2017, the Company also granted warrants to purchase
200,000 shares at $0.25 per share, 100,000 shares at $0.50 per share and 50,000 shares at $1.00 per share to an advisor as a fee in connection with the
Investment Agreement. The aggregate fair value of these warrants totaling $153,625 was recorded as a deferred offering cost and was amortized over
the initial period during which the Company was able access the financing, which began on May 15, 2017 and ended on May 15, 2020. The
Company recognized general and administrative expense related to the cost of the warrants of $19,203 and $51,208 in the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively.
On December 6, 2018, the Company granted three-year warrants to purchase 240,000 shares at an exercise price of $0.20 per share to two advisors
for services to be provided over a three-month period. The fair value of the warrants of $35,462 was amortized over a three-month service period.
The Company recognized general and administrative expense related to the warrants of $-0- and $25,612 in the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
NOTE 7 – PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
December 31,
2020
2019
Capital lease equipment
Medical equipment
Furniture, telephone and office equipment

$

Total property, plant and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

--484,126
130,617

$

614,743
(177,457)

Property, plant and equipment, net

$

Depreciation expense during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $101,498 and $67,477, respectively.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 8 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Intangible assets at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
December 31,
2020
2019
NCFM: Medical database
NCFM: Website
CHM: ACO physician contracts
MOD: Website

$

Total intangible assets
Less: accumulated amortization

1,101,538
41,000
1,073,000
3,538,000

$

5,753,538
(151,776)

Intangible assets, net

$

5,601,762

1,230,000
41,000
----1,271,000
(5,908)

$

1,265,092

Goodwill and intangible assets arose from the acquisitions of NCFM in April 2019, CHM in May 2020, and MOD in October 2020. The NCFM
medical database is assumed to have an indefinite life and is not amortized and the website is being amortized on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of five years. The CHM ACO physician contracts are assumed to have an indefinite life and are not amortized. The MOD
website is being amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five years. Goodwill represents the excess of consideration
transferred over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired related to the acquisition of CHM and MOD.
Amortization expense in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $145,868 and $5,908, respectively. No impairment charges were
recognized related to goodwill and intangible assets in the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.
NOTE 9 – LEASES
The Company has four operating leases for office space related to its NWC, NCFM and BTG practices and to its corporate headquarters that expire
in July 2023, May 2022, March 2023, and November 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s weighted-average remaining
lease term relating to its operating leases was 2.4 years, with a weighted-average discount rate of 32.62%. The Company was also lessee in a capital
equipment finance lease for medical equipment entered into in March 2015 that expired in March 2020.
The table below summarizes the Company’s lease-related assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Lease assets
Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities (short term)
Lease liabilities (long term)
Total lease liabilities

As of December 31, 2020
Operating
Financing
Total
Leases
Leases
Leases
$
417,913 $
--- $
417,913

As of December 31, 2019
Operating
Financing
Total
Leases
Leases
Leases
$
273,196 $
4,482 $
277,678

$

$

$

150,251
273,790
424,041

$
$

-------

$
$

150,251
273,790
424,041

$

197,041
80,510
277,551

$
$

4,482
--4,482

$
$

201,523
80,510
282,033

Lease expense in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was as follow:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Operating leases
Financing leases

$

296,027
4,587

$

239,974
13,761

Total lease expense

$

300,614

$

253,735
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 9 – LEASES (CONTINUED)
Maturities of operating lease liabilities were as follows as of December 31, 2020:
2021
2022
2023
Total lease payments
Less interest
Present value of lease liabilities

$

$

284,506
238,637
140,944
664,087
(240,046)
424,041

NOTE 10 – CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Amounts related to contract liabilities in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follow:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Balance, beginning of period
Acquired contract liabilities
Payments received for unearned revenue
Revenue earned

$

Balance, end of period

$

--- $
157,032
418,368
(485,975)
89,425

---------

$

---

Deferred revenue relates to contracted consulting services at CHM for which payment has been made but services have not yet been rendered as of
the measurement date, physical therapy services purchased as a prepaid bundle for which services have not yet been provided, and MOD products
that have been ordered and paid for by the customer but which have not been shipped as of the measurement date. The Company typically satisfies its
performance obligations related to such contracts upon completion of service or shipment of product. Payment is typically made in the period prior to
the services being provided.
Amounts due to related parties as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were comprised of the following:
December 31,
2020
2019
Due to related party:
Deferred compensation, Dr. Michael Dent
Accrued interest payable to Dr. Michael Dent
Total due to related party
Notes payable to related party:
Notes payable to Dr. Michael Dent and family (all current)

$

300,600
--300,600

$

300,600
192,857
493,457

$

---

$

743,955

Notes Payable to Dr. Dent
Our founder and CEO, Dr. Michael Dent, made loans to the Company from time to time in the form of unsecured promissory notes payable (the
“Dent Notes”). The carrying values of the Dent Notes as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $-0- and $743,955. Prior to extinguishment as
described below, the Dent Notes were carried at fair value and revalued at each period end, with changes to fair value recorded to the statement of
operations under “Change in Fair Value of Debt.” The changes in fair value during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $80,935 and
$24,098, respectively.
On September 21, 2020, the Company and Dr. Dent entered into an agreement pursuant to which the Company repaid all obligations under the Dent
Notes in exchange for one-time cash payment of $780,256. The payment was calculated as the face value of the Dent Notes of $646,000, plus
$134,256 of interest accrued on the notes issued in 2017 and 2018. As part of the Agreement, Dr. Dent agreed to forgive interest of $105,003 accrued
on the remaining Dent Notes. In connection with the agreement and repayment, the Company realized a gain of $283,863, being the excess of the
carrying value of the Dent Notes over the consideration paid. This amount was recorded to additional paid in capital.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 11 – AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other Amounts Due to Dr. Dent
On January 7, 2020, the Company entered into a Merchant Cash Advance Factoring Agreement (“MCA”) with a trust controlled by Dr. Dent,
pursuant to which the Company received an advance of $149,000 (the “2020 MCA”). The Company was required to repay the 2020 MCA, which
acts like an ordinary note payable, at the rate of $7,212 per week until the balance of $187,500 is repaid, which was scheduled for July 2020. At
inception, the Company recognized a note payable in the amount of $187,500 and a discount against the note payable of $38,500. The discount was
amortized over the life of the instrument. The Company made installment payments against the MCA of $187,500 and $-0-, respectively, during the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company recognized amortization of the discount in the amount of $38,500 and $-0-, respectively,
during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The 2020 MCA was repaid in full and retired during July 2020.
Interest accrued on the above notes payable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $-0- and $192,888, respectively. Interest expense on the above
unsecured promissory notes was $46,370 and $63,771 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Investment Transaction with Dr. Dent – August 2020
On August 20, 2020, the Company entered into the Contribution Agreement with the Trusts and Michael T. Dent, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, the Trusts contributed an aggregate of 76,026 shares of
common stock of NeoGenomics, Inc. with a fair value of $3,066,889 to the Company. In consideration for the foregoing, the Company issued the
Trusts an aggregate of 2,750,000 shares of the Company’s newly designated Series B Preferred stock and an aggregate of 24,522,727 shares of the
Company’s common stock.
Beginning on December 31, 2022, each share of Series B Preferred Stock is convertible into five shares of the Company’s common stock, subject to
customary anti-dilution adjustments, including in the event of any stock split. The Series B Preferred Stock ranks senior to the common stock. Upon a
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the assets of the Company available for distribution to its
stockholders will be distributed to holders of Series B Preferred Stock on an as converted basis and pro rata with the holders of common stock.
Holders of Series B Preferred Stock are also entitled to participate in dividends declared or paid on the common stock on an as-converted basis.
The holders of Series B Preferred Stock generally are entitled to vote with the holders of the shares of common stock on all matters submitted for a
vote of holders of shares of common stock (voting together with the holders of shares of common stock as one class). The holder of the shares of
Preferred B Stock shall have that number of votes (identical in every other respect to the voting rights of the holders of common stock entitled to vote
at any regular or special meeting of the shareholders) equal to 100 shares of common stock for each share of Preferred B Preferred Stock held (which
shall never be deemed less than 51% of the vote required to approve any action), which Nevada law provides may or must be approved by vote or
consent of the holders of common stock or the holders of other securities entitled to vote, if any.
Other Related Transactions
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company paid Dr. Dent’s spouse $132,864 and $139,423, respectively, in consulting fees
pursuant to a consulting agreement.
NOTE 12 – GOVERNMENT AND VENDOR NOTES PAYABLE
Government and vendor notes payable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were comprised of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
PPP loans
Disaster relief loans
Vendor note
Total government and vendor notes payable
Less: long term portion
Government and vendor notes payable, current portion

$

$

F-25
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51,109
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 12 – GOVERNMENT AND VENDOR NOTES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)
During May and June 2020, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries received an aggregate of $621,069 in loans under the Paycheck Protection
Program (the “PPP”). The Company also acquired a PPP loan in the MOD acquisition with an inception date of April 3, 2020 and a face value of
$11,757. The PPP loans, administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”) and processed through Wells Fargo bank, were issued
under the recently enacted Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, also known as the CARES Act. The loans bear interest at 1% per
annum and mature in May 2022. Principal and interest payments are deferred for the first six months of the loans. Pursuant to the terms of the PPP,
principal amounts may be forgiven if loan proceeds are used for qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act, including costs such as payroll,
benefits, employer payroll taxes, rent and utilities. The Company used the proceeds from the PPP loans in accordance with the CARES Act, and as
such believes that the PPP loans will be waived when the instituting bank processes the waiver request, which is expected in second quarter 2021.
During June, July and August 2020, the Company and its subsidiaries received an aggregate of $450,000 in Disaster Relief Loans from the SBA. The
loans bear interest at 3.75% per annum and mature 30 years from issuance. Mandatory principal and interest payments begin 12 months from the
inception date of each loan.
In connection with the October 19, 2020 of MOD, the Company acquired (i) a PPP loan with an inception date of April 3, 2020 and a face value of
$11,757, and (ii) a note payable to MOD’s primary product vendor with a remaining principal balance of $79,002 as of the acquisition date that was
reduced to $51,109 via repayments as of December 31, 2020. The balance on the vendor note was repaid in full in March 2021.
Interest accrued on government and vendor notes payable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $12,240 and $-0-, respectively. Interest expense on
the loans was $12,240 and $-0- for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 13 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE
Convertible notes payable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were comprised of the following:
December 31,
2020
2019
$550k Note - July 2016
$50k Note - July 2016
$111k Note - May 2017
$357.5k Note - April 2019
$154k Note - June 2019
$136k Notes - July 2019
$78k Note III - July 2019
$230k Note - July 2019
$108.9k Note - August 2019
$142.5k Note - October 2019
$103k Note V - October 2019
$108.9k Note II - October 2019
$128.5k Note - October 2019
$103k Note VI - November 2019
$78.8k Note II - December 2019

$

Less: unamortized discount
Convertible notes payable, net of original issue discount and debt discount
*

- Denotes that convertible note payable is carried at fair value
F-27

$

719,790* $
71,611*
120,659*
424,290*
----------------------1,336,350
--1,336,350 $

548,010*
56,866*
118,606*
328,728*
50,000
135,850
78,000
230,000
108,947
142,500
103,000
108,947
128,500
103,000
78,750
2,319,704
(777,668)
1,542,036
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 13 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount recognized on each convertible note outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019 were as follows:
Interest expense
Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$550k Note - July 2016
$50k Note - July 2016
$111k Note - May 2017
$171.5k Note - October 2017
$103k Note I - October 2018
$103k Note II - November 2018
$153k Note - November 2018
$103k Note III - December 2018
$78k Note I - January 2019
$78k Note II - January 2019
$103k Note III - April 2019
$104.5k Note - April 2019
$104.5k Note II - April 2019
$357.5k Note - April 2019
$103k Note IV - May 2019
$154k Note - June 2019
$67.9k Note - July 2019
$67.9k Note II - July 2019
$78k Note III - July 2019
$230k Note - July 2019
$108.9k Note - August 2019
$142.5k Note - October 2019
$103k Note V - October 2019
$108.9k Note II - October 2019
$128.5k Note - October 2019
$103k Note VI - November 2019
$78.8k Note II - December 2019
$131.3k Note - January 2020
$78k Note IV - January 2020
$157.5k Note - March 2020
$157.5k Note II - April 2020
$135k Note - April 2020
$83k Note II - April 2020
$128k Note - April 2020

$

$

F-28

62,775 $
4,986
(909)
--------------------37,950
--46
707
177
492
3,041
2,564
12,882
2,653
3,970
5,149
3,527
3,344
6,545
3,975
7,681
6,688
5,585
3,752
4,945
182,525

$

Amortization of Debt Discount
Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019

33,000
5,000
16,537
1,786
2,653
3,584
7,008
4,261
3,889
3,868
5,108
5,768
5,325
33,550
4,120
8,526
3,220
3,220
3,587
10,460
3,791
1,366
2,568
1,851
2,183
1,609
626
---------------

$

------------------------------1,093
7,252
2,813
6,208
58,527
21,038
92,663
29,143
33,205
51,705
39,450
27,111
16,205
14,955
20,044
21,436
17,718
13,767
18,097

$

--------33,972
44,952
91,451
42,611
52,000
47,858
56,323
58,246
53,107
257,821
63,118
85,027
34,765
34,765
45,343
104,317
31,560
35,430
28,213
14,805
21,768
17,989
5,072
---------------

178,464

$

492,430

$

1,260,513

f10k2020_healthlynkedcorp.htm

Form Type: 10-K

Page 63

Edgar Agents LLC

HealthLynked Corp.

03/30/2021 04:06 PM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 13 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)
Unamortized debt discount on outstanding convertible notes payable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are comprised of the following:
December 31,
2020
2019
$154k Note - June 2019
$67.9k Note - July 2019
$67.9k Note II - July 2019
$78k Note III - July 2019
$230k Note - July 2019
$108.9k Note - August 2019
$142.5k Note - October 2019
$103k Note V - October 2019
$108.9k Note II - October 2019
$128.5k Note - October 2019
$103k Note VI - November 2019
$78.8k Note II - December 2019

$

-------------------------

$

$

21,175
20,497
20,497
32,657
125,684
59,392
107,070
70,686
72,592
106,732
81,740
58,946

$

777,668

Certain of our convertible notes payable are also carried at fair value and revalued at each period end, with changes to fair value recorded to the
statement of operations under “Change in Fair Value of Debt.” The changes in fair value during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and
the fair value as of such instruments as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
Change in Fair Value of Debt
Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
$550k Note - July 2016
$50k Note - July 2016
$111k Note - May 2017
$171.5k Note - October 2017
104.5k Note II - April 2019
$357.5k Note - April 2019

Fair Value of Debt as of
December 31,
2020
2019

$

171,780
14,745
18,812
----95,562

$

70,285
7,125
14,789
1,781
3,431
---

$

719,790
71,611
120,659
----424,290

$

548,010
56,866
118,606
----328,727

$

300,899

$

97,411

$

1,336,350

$

1,052,209

Convertible Note Payable ($550,000) – July 2016
On July 7, 2016, the Company entered into a 6% fixed convertible secured promissory note with an investor with a face value of $550,000. The
$550k Note and related interest was convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at the discretion of the note holder at a fixed price of
$0.08 per share of the Company’s common shares and is secured by all of the Company’s assets. The $550k Note was scheduled to mature on
January 14, 2021. The $550k Note is carried at fair value due to an extinguishment and reissuance recorded in 2017 and is revalued at each period
end, with changes to fair value recorded to the statement of operations under “Change in Fair Value of Debt.” The holder converted the full principal
of $550,000 plus $180,129 of accrued interest into 9,126,610 shares of common stock on January 14, 2021.
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DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 13 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (CONTINUED)
Convertible Note Payable ($50,000) – July 2016
On July 7, 2016, the Company entered into a 10% fixed convertible commitment fee promissory note with an investor with a face value of $50,000.
The $50k Note was scheduled to mature on January 14, 2021. The $50k note was issued as a commitment fee payable to the Investment Agreement
investor in exchange for the investor’s commitment to enter into the Investment Agreement, subject to registration of the shares underlying the
Investment Agreement. The $50k Note and related interest is convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at the discretion of the note
holder at a fixed price of $0.10 per share. The $50k Note was carried at fair value due to an extinguishment and reissuance recorded in 2017 and is
revalued at each period end, with changes to fair value recorded to the statement of operations under “Change in Fair Value of Debt.” The holder
converted the full principal of $50,000 plus $22,630 of accrued interest into 726,302 shares of common stock on January 14, 2021.
Convertible Note Payable ($111,000) – May 2017
On May 22, 2017, the Company entered into a 10% fixed convertible secured promissory note with an investor with a face value of $111,000. The
$111k Note and related interest was convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at the discretion of the note holder at a fixed price of
$0.15 per share and is secured by all of the Company’s assets. The Company received $100,000 net proceeds from the note after an $11,000 original
issue discount. At inception, the investors were also granted a five-year warrant to purchase 133,333 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $0.75 per share. The $111k Note was scheduled to mature on January 14, 2021. On February 6, 2020, the holder of the $111k Note
converted $30,000 principal on the note into 448,029 shares of Company common stock. In connection with the conversion, the Company recognized
a loss on debt extinguishment of $25,394, representing the excess of the fair value of the shares issued at conversion over the carrying value of the
portion of the host instrument and the bifurcated conversion feature converted. The holder converted the remaining principal of $81,000 plus
$180,129 of accrued interest into 815,787 shares of common stock on January 14, 2021.
Extensions of Iconic Convertible Notes Payable – December 2019
On December 31, 2019, Iconic and the Company agreed to extend the maturity date of the $550k Note, the $50k Note, the $111k Note and the
$357.5k Note (as defined below) until December 31, 2020 in exchange for (i) a new five-year warrant to Iconic to purchase 1,907,143 shares at an
exercise price of $0.14 per share, (ii) extension of the expiration date on 12,586,111 warrants held by Iconic until January 1, 2025, (iii) repricing of
the exercise price 3,508,333 warrants held by Iconic from various prices above $0.50 to $0.25, (iv) a reduction of the conversion price of the $111k
Note from $0.35 to $0.15 and of the $357.5k Note from $0.20 to $0.15, and (v) the Company agreed to allow a one-time conversion of up to $30,000
on the $111k Note at a reduced conversion rate.
The fair value of consideration issued was calculated as follows: (i) the new warrant was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model at
$220,758, (ii) the incremental fair value of the extended warrants was $395,158 and the incremental fair value of the repriced warrants was $87,351,
being the excess of the fair value of the warrants immediately after the change in terms over the fair value immediately before the change in terms,
(iii) the incremental fair value of the reduction in conversion price, which represented a change to the beneficial conversion feature, was $142,617,
being the excess of the fair value of the conversion feature immediately after the change in terms over the fair value immediately before the change in
terms, and (iv) the one-time conversion feature was valued using the Black-Scholes pricing model at $29,642. Because the fair value of consideration
issued was greater than 10% of the present value of the remaining cash flows under the modified promissory notes, the transaction was treated as a
debt extinguishment and reissuance of new debt instruments pursuant to the guidance of ASC 470-50. A loss on debt extinguishment was recorded in
the amount of $697,722 in the year ended December 31, 2019, equal to the fair value of the consideration issued of $875,526, less the excess of
$177,804 of the carrying value of the existing debt instruments at the time of extinguishment over the fair value of the reissued debt instruments. As a
result of the agreement, the $357.5k Note was subsequently carried at fair value and revalued at each period end. The $550k Note, the $50k Note and
the $111k Note were already carried at fair value due to extinguishment and reissuance transactions in prior periods.
Convertible Note Payable ($171,500) – October 2017
On October 27, 2017, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement for the issuance of a $171,500 convertible note (the “$171.5k Note”)
to an individual lender. On February 7, 2019, the holder of the $171.5k Note converted the entire principal balance of $171,500 into 2,512,821 shares
of Company common stock. In connection with the conversion, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $139,798, representing the
excess of the fair value of the shares issued at conversion over the carrying value of the host instrument and the bifurcated conversion feature at the
time of conversion.
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Convertible Notes Payable ($103,000) – October 2018
On October 18, 2018, the Company issued a $103,000 convertible note (the “$103k Note I”). On April 4, 2019, the Company prepaid the balance on
the $103k Note I, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $134,500. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a
gain on debt extinguishment of $28,169 in the year ended December 31, 2019, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of
the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Notes Payable ($103,000) – November 2018
On November 12, 2018, the Company issued a $103,000 convertible note (the “$103k Note II”). On May 7, 2019, the Company prepaid the balance
on the $103k Note II, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $134,888. In connection with the repayment, the Company
recognized a gain on debt extinguishment of $23,821 in the nine months ended September 30, 2019, equal to the excess of the payment amount over
the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Notes Payable ($153,000) – November 2018
On November 19, 2018, the Company issued a $153,000 convertible note (the “$153k Note”). During the year ended December 31, 2019, the holder
converted the full principal in the amount of $153,000 and $8,768 of accrued interest into 1,070,894 shares of Company common stock. In
connection with the conversion, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $44,993, equal to the excess of the payment amount over
the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Notes Payable ($103,000) – December 2018
On December 3, 2018, the Company issued a $103,000 convertible note (the “$103k Note III”). On May 31, 2019, the Company prepaid the balance
on the $103k Note III, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $135,029. In connection with the repayment, the Company
recognized a gain on debt extinguishment of $20,445 in the year ended December 31, 2019, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the
carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($78,000) – January 2019
On January 14, 2019, the Company issued a $78,000 convertible note (the “$78k Note”). The $78k Note, including accrued interest, was repaid in
July 2019 for a one-time cash payment of $102,321. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of
$6,258 in the year ended December 31, 2019, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded
conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($78,000) – January 2019
On January 24, 2019, the Company issued a $78,000 convertible note (the “$78k Note II”). The $78k Note II, including accrued interest, was repaid
in July 2019 for a one-time cash payment of $102,255. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a gain on debt extinguishment of
$11,161 in the year ended December 31, 2019, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded
conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($103,000) – April 2019
On April 3, 2019, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement for the sale of a $103,000 convertible note (the “$103k Note III”).
During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company prepaid the balance on the $103k Note III, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment
of $135,099.
Convertible Note Payable ($104,500) – April 2019
On April 11, 2019, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements for the issuance of a $104,500 convertible note (the “$104.5k Note I”).
During the fourth quarter of 2019, the holder of the $104.5k Note I converted the full principal in the amount of $104,500 and $5,768 of accrued
interest into 1,176,189 shares of Company common stock.
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Convertible Note Payable ($104,500) – April 2019
On April 11, 2019, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements for the issuance of a second $104,500 convertible note (the “$104.5k
Note II”). During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company prepaid the balance on the $104.5k Note II, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash
payment of $142,500.
Convertible Note Payable ($357,500) – April 2019
On April 15, 2019, the Company issued a fixed convertible note with a face value of $357,500 (the “$357.5k Note”). The $357.5k Note had an
interest rate of 10%, matures on December 31, 2020, and may be converted into common stock of the Company by the holder at any time, subject to
a 9.99% beneficial ownership limitation, at a fixed conversion price per share of $0.15, or 2,383,333 shares. The holder converted the full principal of
$357,500 plus $72,969 of accrued interest into 2,869,795 shares on January 14, 2021.
Convertible Note Payable ($103,000) – May 2019
On May 7, 2019, the Company issued a $103,000 convertible note (the “$103k Note IV”). During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company prepaid
the balance on the $103k Note IV, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $133,900.
Convertible Note Payable ($154,000) – June 2019
On June 3, 2019, the Company issued a $154,000 convertible note (the “$154k Note”), of which $104,000 was converted in the fourth quarter of
2019. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the holder converted the remaining unpaid principal balance of $50,000 and accrued interest of
$8,572 into 968,390 shares of Company common stock. In connection with the conversion, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of
$125,865 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded
conversion feature and accrued interest over the carrying value of the portion of the host instrument and the bifurcated conversion feature converted.
Convertible Note Payable ($67,925) – July 2019
On July 11, 2019, the Company issued a $67,925 convertible note (the “$67.9k Note I”). During the year ended December 31, 2020, the holder
converted the full principal of $67,925 and accrued interest of $3,926 into 885,847 shares of Company common stock. In connection with the
conversion, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $55,117 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the
payment amount over the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($67,925) – July 2019
On July 11, 2019, the Company issued a second $67,925 convertible note (the “$67.9k Note II”). During the year ended December 31, 2020, the
Company prepaid the balance on the $67.9k Note II, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $89,152. In connection with the
repayment, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $26,890 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the
payment amount over the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($78,000) – July 2019
On July 16, 2019, the Company issued a $78,000 convertible note (the “$78k Note III”). During the first quarter of 2020, the Company prepaid the
balance on the $78k Note III, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $102,388. In connection with the repayment, the Company
recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $31,432 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the
carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
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Convertible Note Payable ($230,000) – July 2019
On July 18, 2019, the Company issued a convertible note with a face value of $230,000 (the “$230k Note”). During the first quarter of 2020, the
holder converted $80,000 of principal and $4,373 of accrued interest on the note into 1,236,668 shares of Company common stock and the Company
repaid principal of $150,000 and accrued interest of $9,128 for cash payments totaling $181,554. The note was retired upon these conversions and
repayments. In connection with the conversions and repayments, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $112,498 in the year
ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the cash payment amount and the fair value of the shares issued at conversion over the carrying
value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($108,947) – August 2019
On August 26, 2019, the Company issued a convertible note with a face value of $108,947 (the “$108.9k Note”). During the year ended December
31, 2020, the holder converted the full principal of $108,947 and accrued interest of $6,354 into 2,650,251 shares of Company common stock. In
connection with the conversions, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $161,617 in the year ended December 31, 2020,
representing the excess of the fair value of the shares issued at conversion over the carrying value of the portion of the host instrument and the
bifurcated conversion feature converted.
Convertible Note Payable ($142,500) – October 2019
On October 1, 2019, the Company issued a convertible note with a face value of $142,500 (the “$142.5k Note”). During the year ended December
31, 2020, the holder converted the full principal of $142,500 and accrued interest of $14,250 into 2,855,191 shares of Company common stock. In
connection with the conversions, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $305,100 in the year ended December 31, 2020,
representing the excess of the fair value of the shares issued at conversion over the carrying value of the portion of the host instrument and the
bifurcated conversion feature converted.
Convertible Note Payable ($103,000) – October 2019
On October 1, 2019, the Company issued a $103,000 convertible note (the “$103k Note V”). On April 3, 2020, 2020, the Company prepaid the
balance on the $103k Note V, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $135,205. In connection with the repayment, the Company
recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $43,777 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the
carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($108,947) – October 2019
On October 30, 2019, the Company issued a convertible note with a face value of $108,947 (the “$108.9k Note II”). During the year ended
December 31, 2020, the holder converted the full principal of $108,947 and accrued interest of $5,821 into 1,954,870 shares of Company common
stock. In connection with the conversions, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $76,895 in the year ended December 31, 2020,
representing the excess of the fair value of the shares issued at conversion over the carrying value of the portion of the host instrument and the
bifurcated conversion feature converted.
Convertible Note Payable ($128,500) – October 2019
On October 30, 2019, the Company issued a $128,500 convertible note (the “$128.5k Note”). During the year ended December 31, 2020, the holder
converted the full principal of $128,500 and accrued interest of $8,832 into 3,197,877 shares of Company common stock. In connection with the
conversion, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $154,248 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the
payment amount over the carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($103,000) – November 2019
On November 4, 2019, the Company issued a $103,000 convertible note (the “$103k Note VI”). On May 4, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance
on the $103k Note VI, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $135,099. In connection with the repayment, the Company
recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $45,077 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the
carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
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Convertible Note Payable ($78,750) – December 2019
On December 2, 2019, the Company issued a $78,750 convertible note (the “$78.8k Note”). On June 3, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance on
the $78.8k Note, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $103,359. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a
loss on debt extinguishment of $37,554 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of
the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($131,250) – January 2020
On January 13, 2020, the Company issued a $131,250 convertible note (the “$131.3k Note”). On July 13, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance on
the $131.3k Note, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $172,108. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a
loss on debt extinguishment of $24,663 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of
the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($78,000) – January 2020
On January 16, 2020, the Company issued a $78,000 convertible note (the “$78k Note IV”). On July 20, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance on
the $78k Note IV, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $102,308. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a
loss on debt extinguishment of $9,104 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of
the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($157,500) – March 2020
On March 10, 2020, the Company issued a $157,500 convertible note (the “$157.5k Note”). On September 4, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance
on the $157.5k Note, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $206,314. In connection with the repayment, the Company
recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $28,150 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the
carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($157,500) – April 2020
On April 2, 2020, the Company issued a $157,500 convertible note (the “$157.5k Note II”). On September 4, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance
on the $157.5k Note, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $205,235. In connection with the repayment, the Company
recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $31,490 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the
carrying value of the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($135,000) – April 2020
On April 6, 2020, the Company issued a $135,000 convertible note (the “$135k Note”). On September 4, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance on
the $135k Note, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $175,592. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a
loss on debt extinguishment of $18,479 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of
the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
Convertible Note Payable ($83,000) – April 2020
On April 6, 2020, the Company issued an $83,000 convertible note (the “$83k Note”). On September 18, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance on
the $83k Note, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $108,127. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized a
loss on debt extinguishment of $13,012 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of
the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
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Convertible Note Payable ($128,000) – April 2020
On April 30, 2020, the Company issued a $128,000 convertible note (the “$128k Note”). On September 18, 2020, the Company prepaid the balance
on the $128k Note, including accrued interest, for a one-time cash payment of $165,962. In connection with the repayment, the Company recognized
a loss on debt extinguishment of $21,000 in the year ended December 31, 2020, equal to the excess of the payment amount over the carrying value of
the note, derivative embedded conversion feature and accrued interest.
NOTE 14 – DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivative financial instruments are comprised of the fair value of embedded conversion features (“ECFs”) in convertible promissory notes for which
the conversion rate is not fixed, but instead is adjusted based on a discount to the market price of the Company’s common stock. The fair market
value of the ECF derivative liabilities was calculated at inception of each convertible promissory note for which the conversion rate is not fixed and
allocated to the respective convertible notes, with any excess recorded as a charge to “Financing cost.” Derivative financial instruments are revalued
at the end of each period, with the change in value recorded to “Change in fair value of on derivative financial instruments.”
Derivative financial instruments and changes thereto recorded in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 include the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Balance, beginning of period
Inception of derivative financial instruments related to issuance of convertible notes payable
Inception of derivative financial instruments related to extinguishment and reissuance of convertible notes
payable
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Conversion or extinguishment of derivative financial instruments

$

Balance, end of period

$

991,288
211,498

$

--(739,485)
(463,301)
---

800,440
1,870,234
51,169
(671,822)
(1,058,733)

$

991,288

Fair market value of the derivative financial instruments was measured using the following assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Pricing model utilized
Risk free rate range
Expected life range (in years)
Volatility range
Dividend yield

Binomial Lattice
0.05% to 1.61%
0.14 to 1.00
117.48% to 144.51%
0.00%

Black/Scholes
1.55% to 2.73%
0.011 to 1.00
119.04% to 293.97%
0.00%

In addition, specific assumptions regarding investor exercise behavior were used in 2020, including probability assumptions related to estimated
exercise behavior. The entire amount of derivative instrument liabilities is classified as current due to the fact that settlement of the derivative
instruments could be required within twelve months of the balance sheet date.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repaid 13 outstanding convertible notes and holders converted in part or in full an
additional eight convertible notes for which the conversion rate was adjusted based on a discount to the market price of the Company’s common
stock, which gave rise to ECF-related derivative financial instruments. Accordingly, the Company had no further derivative financial instruments
outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
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Investment Transaction – August 2020
On August 20, 2020, the Company entered into the Contribution Agreement with the Trusts and Michael T. Dent, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, the Trusts contributed an aggregate of 76,026 shares of
common stock of NeoGenomics, Inc. with a fair value of $3,066,889 to the Company. In consideration for the foregoing, the Company issued the
Trusts an aggregate of 2,750,000 shares of the Company’s newly designated Series B Preferred stock and an aggregate of 24,522,727 shares of the
Company’s common stock.
Beginning on December 31, 2022, each share of Series B Preferred Stock is convertible into five shares of the Company’s common stock, subject to
customary anti-dilution adjustments, including in the event of any stock split. The Series B Preferred Stock ranks senior to the common stock. Upon a
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the assets of the Company available for distribution to its
stockholders will be distributed to holders of Series B Preferred Stock on an as converted basis and pro rata with the holders of common stock.
Holders of Series B Preferred Stock are also entitled to participate in dividends declared or paid on the common stock on an as-converted basis.
The holders of Series B Preferred Stock generally are entitled to vote with the holders of the shares of common stock on all matters submitted for a
vote of holders of shares of common stock (voting together with the holders of shares of common stock as one class). The holder of the shares of
Preferred B Stock shall have that number of votes (identical in every other respect to the voting rights of the holders of common stock entitled to vote
at any regular or special meeting of the shareholders) equal to 100 shares of common stock for each share of Preferred B Preferred Stock held (which
shall never be deemed less than 51% of the vote required to approve any action), which Nevada law provides may or must be approved by vote or
consent of the holders of common stock or the holders of other securities entitled to vote, if any.
At inception of the transaction, the Company recognized a beneficial conversion feature in the amount of $825,000, representing the difference
between (i) the intrinsic price per share of the Series B Preferred based on the portion of proceeds allocated to the fair value of the Series B Preferred,
and (ii) the fair value of the Company’s common stock. The beneficial conversion feature is being amortized as a deemed dividend from the
inception date of the transaction through the end of the Series B Preferred conversion restriction on December 31, 2022. Amortization of the
beneficial conversion feature is reflected in loss available to common stockholders on the statement of operations and totaled $117,857 in the year
ended December 31, 2020. Further, since the Company have negative retained earnings, so there is no change to APIC or anywhere else in net equity
from the deemed dividend and therefore nothing to show on the statement of equity.
Other Private Placements
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold 7,022,867 shares of common stock in 21 separate private placement transactions and
received $698,000 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with the stock sales, the Company also issued 3,511,444 five-year warrants to purchase
shares of common stock at exercise price between $0.16 and $0.27 per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold 3,239,924 shares of common stock in eight separate private placement transactions.
The Company received $670,000 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with these stock sales, the Company also issued 1,619,962 five-year
warrants to purchase shares of common stock at exercise prices between $0.22 and $0.40 per share and 250,000 three-year warrants to purchase
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.50 per share.
Investment Agreement Draws
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company issued 5,797,348 and 5,074,068 common shares, respectively, pursuant to draws
made by the Company under the Investment Agreement and received an aggregate of $489,286 and $929,986, respectively, in net proceeds from the
draws.
Shares issued to Consultants
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company issued 1,114,861 and 560,000 common shares, respectively, to consultants for
services rendered. In connection with the issuances, the Company recognized expenses totaling $206,483 and $153,936 in the years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Common Stock Issuable
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company was obligated to issue the following shares:
December 31, 2020
Amount
Shares
Shares issuable to consultants, employees and directors
Shares issuable pursuant to stock subscriptions received

$
$

262,273
--262,273

2,150,020
--2,150,020

December 31, 2019
Amount
Shares
$

100,538
59,000
159,538

$

568,142
479,762
1,047,904

During December 2019, the Company completed stock subscription agreements totaling $59,000 for the sale of 479,762 shares of common stock.
The funds were received and shares were issued in January and February 2020.
Stock Warrants
Transactions involving our stock warrants during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized as follows:
2020

2019

Number
47,056,293
3,582,873
1,949,535
(1,185,715)
(50,000)

Outstanding at beginning of the period
Granted during the period
Contractual adjustments to number of warrant shares during the period
Exercised during the period
Expired during the period
Outstanding at end of the period
Exercisable at end of the period
Weighted average remaining life

51,352,986

$
$
$
$
$
$

51,352,986

$

3.1

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.17
0.20
0.08
(0.07)
0.40
0.17

Number
46,161,463
5,864,843
--(4,970,013)
--47,056,293

$
$
$
$
$
$

0.17

47,056,293

$

years

3.0

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.18
0.22
--(0.00)
--0.21
0.21
years

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2020:

$
$
$
$
$

Exercise
Prices
0.0001 to 0.09
0.10 to 0.24
0.25 to 0.49
0.50 to 1.00
0.05 to 1.00

Warrants Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Number
Contractual
Outstanding
Life (years)
15,708,376
21,805,216
9,899,394
3,940,000
51,352,986

Warrants Exercisable
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
3.8
2.7
3.5
1.2
3.1

$
$
$
$
$
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0.07
0.18
0.28
0.28
0.17

Number
Exercisable
15,708,376
21,805,216
9,899,394
3,940,000
51,352,986

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
$
$
$
$
$

0.07
0.18
0.28
0.28
0.17
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NOTE 15 – SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (CONTINUED)
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company issued 3,582,873 and 5,864,843 warrants, respectively, the aggregate grant date
fair value of which was $231,800 and $933,399, respectively. The fair value of the warrants was calculated using the following range of assumptions:

Pricing model utilized
Risk free rate range
Expected life range (in years)
Volatility range
Dividend yield

2020

2019

Binomial Lattice
0.19% to 1.59%
5.00 years
119.69% to 132.19%
0.00%

Black/Scholes
1.54% to 2.52%
3.00 to 5.00
118.60% to 216.35%
0.00%

In addition, specific assumptions regarding investor exercise behavior were used in 2020, including probability assumptions related to estimated
exercise behavior. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized a deemed dividend of $328,179 related to a down round price
protection feature in two separate outstanding warrants. The deemed dividend represented the incremental fair value of the warrant before and after
giving consideration to the price protection feature. The warrants were exercised in full during 2020 and first quarter 2021. Following the exercise,
the Company had no additional outstanding warrants with a down round provision.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 927,398 common shares upon exercise of 1,185,715 warrant shares exercised using a
cashless exercise feature. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 4,844,184 common shares upon the cash exercise of the
same number of warrants and 93,561 common shares upon exercise of 125,000 warrant shares exercised using a cashless exercise feature.
Employee Equity Incentive Plan
On January 1, 2016, the Company instituted the Employee Equity Incentive Plan (the “EIP”) for the purpose of having equity awards available to
allow for equity participation by its employees. The EIP allows for the issuance of up to 15,503,680 shares of the Company’s common stock to
employees, which may be issued in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, or restricted shares. The EIP is governed by the Company’s
board, or a committee that may be appointed by the board in the future.
The following table summarizes the status of shares issued and outstanding under the EIP outstanding as of and for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019:
2020
1,874,063
791,465
(62,500)
2,603,028

Outstanding at beginning of the period
Granted during the period
Forfeited during the period
Outstanding at end of the period
Shares vested at period-end
Weighted average grant date fair value of shares granted during the period
Aggregate grant date fair value of shares granted during the period
Shares available for grant pursuant to EIP at period-end

$
$

2,403,528
0.13
18,760
9,788,403

2019
1,738,750
135,313
--1,874,063

$
$

1,535,313
0.26
12,805
10,360,368

Total stock-based compensation recognized for grants under the EIP was $135,002 and $86,523 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Total unrecognized stock compensation related to these grants was $21,293 as of December 31, 2020.
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NOTE 15 – SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (CONTINUED)
A summary of the status of nonvested shares issued pursuant to the EIP as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is presented
below:
2020

2019

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares
Fair Value
332,500 $
0.17
791,965 $
0.13
(836,965) $
(0.15)
(87,500) $
0.06
200,000 $
0.17

Nonvested at beginning of period
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested at end of period

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares
Fair Value
540,000 $
0.16
--- $
--(207,500) $
(0.14)
--- $
--332,500 $
0.17

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company issued 924,992 and 349,063 shares to employees under the EIP pursuant to the
grants and vesting described in the tables above.
Employee Stock Options
The following table summarizes the status of options outstanding as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
2020

Number
3,269,250
60,000
--(217,500)
3,111,750

Outstanding at beginning of the period
Granted during the period
Exercised during the period
Forfeited during the period
Outstanding at end of the period
Options exercisable at period-end
Weighted average remaining life (in years)
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the period
Options available for grant at period-end

$

$
$
$
$
$

2,067,375
6.7
0.07
9,805,903

2019
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.21
0.09
--(0.26)
0.20

Number
3,707,996
1,078,750
(154,166)
(1,363,330)
3,269,250

$
$
$
$
$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
0.80
0.26
(0.20)
(0.18)
0.21

1,633,000
7.7
$
0.20
10,360,368

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2020:

$
$
$

Exercise
Prices
--- to 0.10
0.11 to 0.31
0.08 to 0.31

Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Number
Contractual
Outstanding
Life (years)
1,283,000
5.0
1,828,750
7.9
3,111,750
6.7

Options Exercisable
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
$
$
$
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0.08
0.28
0.20

Number
Exercisable
1,283,000
784,375
2,067,375

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

$

0.08
0.30
0.16
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NOTE 15 – SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (CONTINUED)
Total stock-based compensation recognized related to option grants was $79,817 and $127,010 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
A summary of the status of nonvested options issued pursuant to the EIP as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is presented
below:
2020

2019

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares
Fair Value
1,636,250 $
0.22
60,000 $
0.07
(491,875) $
(0.21)
(160,000) $
(0.21)
1,044,375 $
0.21

Nonvested at beginning of period
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested at end of period

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares
Fair Value
2,332,413 $
0.13
1,078,750 $
0.20
(414,583) $
(0.19)
(1,360,330) $
(0.07)
1,636,250 $
0.22

NOTE 16 – CONTINGENT ACQUISITION CONSIDERATION
Contingent acquisition consideration as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was comprised of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Fair value of HCFM contingent acquisition consideration
Fair value of CHM contingent acquisition consideration
Fair value of MOD contingent acquisition consideration

$

301,236
682,661
516,543

$

500,000
-----

$

1,500,440

$

500,000

Contingent acquisition consideration relates to future earn-out payments potentially payable related to the Company’s acquisitions of HCFM, CHM
and MOD. The terms of the earn-outs related to each acquisition require the Company to pay the former owners additional acquisition consideration
for the achievement of prescribed revenue and/or earnings targets for performance of the underlying business for up to four years after the respective
acquisition date. Contingent acquisition consideration for each entity is recorded at fair value using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow
projection. The fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration is remeasured at the end of each reporting period and changes are included in
the statement of operations under the caption “Change in fair value of contingent acquisition consideration.” Change in fair value of contingent
acquisition consideration was $75,952 and $-0- during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Maturities of contingent acquisition consideration were as follows as of December 31, 2020:
2021
2022
2023
2024

$

$
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Contracts Related to Medicare Shared Savings Revenue
The Company acquired CHM and its subsidiary AHP on May 18, 2020. CHM and AHP combine to operate an ACO under the terms of the MSSP as
administered by the CMS. The MSSP is a program created under the Affordable Care Act (the “ACA,” also known as “Obamacare”) designed to
enhance the efficiency of healthcare provided to patients covered by Medicare. The program allows for the creation of ACOs, which are
organizations that agree to take responsibility for the efficiency of healthcare services provided by a group of participating healthcare providers under
Medicare. The ACO is held accountable for the efficiency of the healthcare services of its participating providers as measured against benchmarks
prescribed in the MSSP and earns shared savings payments if such benchmarks are met.
The Company, via AHP is party to a Medicare Shared Savings Program Accountable Care Organization Participation Agreement with the CMS that
establishes AHP as an ACO. The agreement is effective through December 31, 2024. The Company must comply with the terms and conditions of
the agreement in order to maintain its status as an ACO and generate shared savings revenue.
The Company, via CHM, is party to 33 separate participant agreements with participating providers that are members of the Company’s ACO with
expiration dates between 2020 and 2024. These agreements include certain restrictions and requirements to which the participating providers must
adhere in order to maintain participation in the ACO.
Supplier Concentration
The Company relies on a sole supplier for the fulfillment of all of its product sales made through MOD, which was acquired by the Company in
October 2020.
Service contracts
The Company carries various service contracts on its office buildings & certain copier equipment for repairs, maintenance and inspections. All
contracts are short term and can be cancelled.
Litigation
On July 20, 2020, Empery Asset Master Ltd., Empery Tax Efficient, LP and Empery Tax Efficient II, LP, (“Empery”) filed a complaint against the
Company in the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The Complaint alleged that the Company’s acquisition of CHM, in which the Company
issued stock consideration of 2,240,838 common shares, triggered a change of control clause in warrants held by Empery that would allow Empery to
demand cash value for their warrants. On January 15, 2021, Empery agreed to fully exercise warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock held by them with respect to 8,000,000 warrants issued pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 22, 2018 (the “Empery
Warrants”). The Empery Warrants were exercised pursuant to a reduction in the exercise price from $0.223 to $0.0296 via a cashless exercise
provision contained in the original warrant agreements, which resulted in the issuance of 7,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. As a
result of the exercise of the Empery Warrants, Empery and the Company entered into a stipulation of dismissal to dismiss with prejudice the litigation
between Empery and the Company. Empery also agreed to a 180-day leak out provision, whereby it may not sell shares of the Company’s common
stock issued pursuant to the Empery Warrant exercise after the effective date in excess of 5% of the Company’s daily trading volume for the first 90
days after issuance of the shares and 10% of the Company’s daily volume for the next 90 days. In connection with the settlement, the Company
recognized litigation settlement expense and a related accrued liability of $265,714 in the year ended December 31, 2020, representing the difference
in the fair value of the warrants before and after the modification in terms. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded an
additional loss on settlement of litigation and other dispute in the amount of $441,148 related to placement agent warrants issued in the same
transaction that were exercised in March 2021.
On August 24, 2020, the Company entered into a settlement agreement in response to a complaint filed by Delaney Equity Group LLC seeking
unpaid fees from a 2015 Advisor, Consulting and Investment Banking Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement, the Company agreed to
make cash payments totaling $75,000 over a six-month period. The $75,000 payments were made in full.
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Leases
Maturities of operating lease liabilities were as follows as of December 31, 2020:
2021
2022
2023
Total lease payments
Less interest
Present value of lease liabilities

$

$

284,506
238,637
140,944
664,087
(240,046)
424,041

Employment/Consulting Agreements
The Company has employment agreements with certain of its physicians, nurse practitioners and physical therapists in the Health Services division.
The agreements generally call for a fixed salary at the beginning of the contract with a transaction to performance-based pay later in the contract.
On July 1, 2016, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Michael Dent, Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of
Directors. Dr. Dent’s employment agreement continues until terminated by Dr. Dent or the Company. If Dr. Dent’s employment is terminated by the
Company (unless such termination is “For Cause” as defined in his employment agreement), then upon signing a general waiver and release, Dr.
Dent will be entitled to severance in an amount equal to 12 months of his then-current annual base salary, as well as the pro-rata portion of any bonus
that would be due and payable to him. In the event that Dr. Dent terminates the employment agreement, he shall be entitled to any accrued but unpaid
salary and other benefits up to and including the date of termination, and the pro-rata portion of any unvested time-based options up until the date of
termination.
On July 1, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with Mr. George O’Leary, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and a member of the
Board of Directors, extending his prior agreement with the Company. Mr. O’Leary’s employment agreement continues until terminated by Mr.
O’Leary or the Company. If Mr. O’Leary employment is terminated by the Company (unless such termination is “For Cause” as defined in his
employment agreement), then upon signing a general waiver and release, Mr. O’Leary will be entitled to receive his base salary and the Company
shall maintain his employee benefits for a period of twelve (12) months beginning on the date of termination. In the event that Mr. O’Leary
terminates the agreement, he shall be entitled to any accrued by unpaid salary and other benefits up to and including the date of termination. On July
1, 2018, the Company and Mr. O’Leary entered into an Extension Letter Agreement pursuant to which Mr. O’Leary was increased to full time
employment (previously half-time) and agreed to extend the term of his employment to September 30, 2022. In addition to a base salary, the
extension provides Mr. O’Leary with certain performance-based cash bonuses, stock grants, and stock option grants.
On May 18, 2020, the Company entered into separate 4-year consulting services agreements with each of the two principals of the ACO/MSO
business acquired in May 2020 that call for each person to earn fixed annual consulting fees and a share of Medicare shared savings revenue,
consulting revenue and overall profits generated by the underlying business.
NOTE 18 – INCOME TAXES
The tax reform bill that Congress voted to approve December 20, 2017, also known as the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”, made sweeping modifications to
the Internal Revenue Code, including a much lower corporate tax rate, changes to credits and deductions, and a move to a territorial system for
corporations that have overseas earnings. The act replaced the prior-law graduated corporate tax rate, which taxed income over $10 million at 35%,
with a flat rate of 21%. Due to the continuing loss position of the Company, management believes changes from the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act” should
not be material in the periods presented.
The components of income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31,2020 and 2019 are as follows:
2020
Current taxes:
Federal

$

Total current taxes
Deferred tax provision (benefit)

2019
---

$

-----

Income tax provision (benefit)

$
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NOTE 18 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
A reconciliation of the income tax (provision) benefit at the statutory rate of 21% for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 to the Company’s
effective tax rate is as follows:
Federal
Pre-tax book loss

$

Expected tax at statutory rate
Meals and entertainment deduction
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss on settlement of litigation
Stat income tax, net of federal benefit
Current year charge in valuation allowance

(5,755,256)
$
5,197
974,502
706,862

Income tax expense

State
21%

$

(1,208,604)
1,091
204,645
148,441
38,090
816,337
---

Total
4.46%
$

(181,382)
181,382
$

--- $

(1,208,604)
1,091
204,645
148,441
(143,292)
997,719
---

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Net operating loss deferred tax asset
Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments
Change in fair value of contingent
acquisition consideration
Change in fair value of debt
Valuation allowance

Federal
$ 3,960,030

$

(148,369)

$

(15,239)
76,611
(3,873,033)
--- $

2020
State
879,883

$

(32,966)
(3,386)
17,022
(860,553)
--- $

Total
4,839,913

Federal
$ 3,056,697

(181,335)
(18,625)
93,633
(4,733,586)
--- $

$

------(3,056,697)
--- $

2019
State
679,171

$

------(679,171)
--- $

Total
3,735,868
------(3,735,868)
---

As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company had available for income tax purposes approximately $19.7 million and $15.2 million respectively
in federal and state net operating loss carry forwards, which may be available to offset future taxable income. $2.5 million of loss carry-forwards
expire in 2026 through 2027 and $17.2 million of loss carry forwards indefinitely. Due to the uncertainty of the utilization and recoverability of the
loss carry-forwards and other deferred tax assets, Management has determined a full valuation allowance for the deferred tax assets, since it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realizable.
Prior to 2014, the Company was an S-Corporation, as defined in the Internal Revenue Code. As an S-Corporation, income/losses were passed
through to the stockholders for each year. During 2014, the Company failed to meet the requirements of an S-Corporation when it authorized and
issued a second class of stock other than common stock. The S-Corporation requirements allow only one class of stock, among other certain
requirements, to maintain S-Corporation status, as defined. The Company upon failing to maintain its S Corporation status became a C-Corporation
during 2014. Prior year losses and up to the date that the Company lost its S-Corporation status are not available to the Company since such losses
were passed through to qualified S-Corporation shareholders. The net operating loss (“NOL”) carryovers presented in this note are estimates based
on the losses reported at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. While such NOL carryovers could also be subject to IRC Section 382/383 change of
ownership rules, management has not reviewed the Company’s ownership changes at the date of this filing. If an ownership change has occurred, the
entire amount of Deferred Tax Assets could be limited or possibly eliminated. Based upon management’s assessment a full valuation allowance has
been placed upon the net deferred tax assets, since it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized. Therefore, no financial statement
benefit has been taken for the deferred tax assets, as of the filing date.
Prior to September 5, 2014, the date on which NWC and HLYK completed the Restructuring, the Company’s business was comprised of the
operations of NWC, which at the time was an LLC comprised of two members. All income taxes resulting from the operation of NWC were passed
through to the personal income tax returns of the LLC members. Subsequent to September 5, 2014, HLKD reports the consolidated operations of
NWC and HLKD in its tax returns. On a consolidated basis, the Company did not have any tax liability for 2018 or 2019 due to its pre-tax losses.
Such return filings are being reviewed by management, based upon the Company failing to meet the S-Corporation status, as described. The
Company believes there would be no tax liability created for the S corporation failure, since the Company has had losses for the periods presented in
this filing.
The Company has not taken any uncertain tax positions on any of its open income tax returns filed through the period ended December 31, 2020. The
Company’s methods of accounting are based on established income tax principles in the Internal Revenue Code and are reflected within its filed
income tax returns on the accrual basis.
The Company re-assesses the validity of its conclusions regarding uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis to determine if facts or circumstances
have arisen that might cause the Company to change its judgment regarding the likelihood of a tax position’s sustainability under audit. The
Company has determined that there were no uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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NOTE 19 – SEGMENT REPORTING
The Company has four reportable segments: Health Services, Digital Healthcare, ACO/MCO and Medical Distribution. Health Services division is
comprised of the operations of (i) Naples Women’s Center (“NWC”), a multi-specialty medical group including OB/GYN (both Obstetrics and
Gynecology), and General Practice, (ii) Naples Center for Functional Medicine (“NCFM”), a Functional Medical Practice acquired in April 2019 that
is engaged in improving the health of its patients through individualized and integrative health care, and (iii) Bridging the Gap Physical Therapy
(“BTG”), a physical therapy practice in Bonita Springs, FL that provides hands-on functional manual therapy techniques to speed patients’ recovery
and manage pain without pain medication or surgery. The Company’s Digital Healthcare segment develops and plans to operate an online personal
medical information and record archive system, the “HealthLynked Network,” which will enable patients and doctors to keep track of medical
information via the Internet in a cloud-based system. The ACO/MSO Division is comprised of the business acquired with CHM, which assists
physician practices in providing coordinated and more efficient care to patients via the MSSP as administered by the CMS, which rewards providers
for efficiency in patient care. The Medical Distribution Division is comprised of the operations of MedOffice Direct LLC (“MOD”), a virtual
distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both consumers and medical practices throughout the United States acquired by the Company on
October 19, 2020.
The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from operations before income taxes. The accounting policies of
the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.
Segment information for the year ended December 31, 2020 was as follows:
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Digital
ACO /
Medical
Healthcare
MSO
Distribution

Health
Services
Revenue
Patient service revenue, net
Medicare shared savings revenue
Consulting revenue
Product revenue
Total revenue

$

Operating Expenses
Practice salaries and benefits
Other practice operating expenses
Medicare shared savings expenses
Cost of product revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total Operating Expenses
(Loss) income from operations

4,743,811
------4,743,811

$

2,581,481
2,149,118
------107,341
4,837,940
$

-----------

$

--------3,017,115
2,379
3,019,494

(94,129) $

$

----1,017,494
------1,017,494

(3,019,494) $

Other Segment Information
Interest expense
Loss on sales of marketable securities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Amortization of original issue and debt discounts on
convertible notes
Change in fair value of debt
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Change in fair value of contingent acquisition consideration
Litigation settlement expense

$
$
$

40,070
-----

$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

-----------

$
$
$
$
$

530,930
381,835
(739,485)
(75,952)
706,862

Identifiable assets
Goodwill

$
$

2,120,714
---

$
$

192,568
---

F-44

--767,744
432,977
--1,200,721

208,977
282,107
1,347,371

------188,588
188,588

Total
$

------146,461
45,914
137,646
330,021

4,743,811
767,744
432,977
188,588
6,133,120
2,581,481
2,149,118
1,017,494
146,461
3,063,029
247,366
9,204,949

183,227

$

(141,433) $

(3,071,829)

$
$
$

-------

$
$
$

712
-----

$
$
$

249,759
282,107
1,347,371

$
$
$
$
$

-----------

$
$
$
$
$

-----------

$
$
$
$
$

3,450,013
766,249

$
$

December 31, 2020
$ 1,115,148 $
$
381,856 $

530,930
381,835
(739,485)
(75,952)
706,862

6,878,443
1,148,105
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Segment information for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Digital
Medical
Healthcare
ACO / MSO
Distribution

Health
Services
Revenue
Patient service revenue, net
Medicare shared savings revenue
Consulting revenue
Product revenue
Total revenue

$

Operating Expenses
Practice salaries and benefits
Other practice operating expenses
Medicare shared savings expenses
Cost of product revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total Operating Expenses
Loss from operations
Other Segment Information
Interest expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Financing cost
Amortization of original issue and debt discounts on
convertible notes
Change in fair value of debt
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments

Identifiable assets
Goodwill

4,018,818
------4,018,818

$

2,393,954
1,845,070
------71,006
4,310,030
$

-----------

$

--------2,915,419
2,379
2,917,798

(291,212) $

-----------

$

---------------

(2,917,798) $

-----------

Total
$

---------------

4,018,818
------4,018,818
2,393,954
1,845,070
----2,915,419
73,385
7,227,828

---

$

---

$

(3,209,010)

$
$
$

22,782
-----

$
$
$

221,303
1,229,777
135,528

$
$
$

-------

$
$
$

-------

$
$
$

244,085
1,229,777
135,528

$
$
$

-------

$
$
$

1,260,513 $
121,508 $
(671,822) $

-------

$
$
$

-------

$
$
$

1,260,513
121,508
(671,822)

$
$

2,356,886
71,866

$
$

2,474,688
71,866

$
$

117,802
---

December 31, 2019
$
--- $
$
--- $

-----

The Digital Healthcare segment recognized revenue of $5,251 and $6,374 in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to
subscription revenue billed to and paid for by the Company’s physicians for access to the HealthLynked Network. The revenue for Digital Healthcare
and related expense for Health Services were eliminated on consolidation.
NOTE 20 – FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, approximate
their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of such instruments. The Company measures certain financial instruments at fair value on a
recurring basis, including certain convertible notes payable and related party loans which were extinguished and reissued and are therefore subject to
fair value measurement, as well as derivative financial instruments arising from conversion features embedded in convertible promissory notes for
which the conversion rate is not fixed. All financial instruments carried at fair value fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as their value is
based on unobservable inputs. The Company evaluates its financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to
determine the appropriate level in which to classify them for each reporting period. This determination requires significant judgments to be made.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 20 – FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The following table summarizes the conclusions reached regarding fair value measurements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:
As of December 31, 2020
Level 1

Level 2

Convertible notes payable
Contingent acquisition consideration

$

-----

$

-----

Level 3
$ 1,336,350
1,500,440

Total

$

---

$

---

$

2,836,790

Total
Fair Value
$ 1,336,350
1,500,440
$

2,836,790

As of December 31, 2019
Level 1

Level 2

Convertible notes payable
Notes payable to related party
Derivative financial instruments
Contingent acquisition consideration

$

---------

$

---------

Level 3
$
723,482
193,007
991,288
500,000

Total

$

---

$

---

$

2,407,777

Total
Fair Value
$
723,482
193,007
991,288
500,000
$

2,407,777

The changes in Level 3 financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Convertible notes payable
Notes payable to related party
Derivative financial instruments
Contingent acquisition consideration

$

Total

$

(300,899) $
(80,936)
739,485
75,952
433,602

$

(97,410)
(24,098)
671,822
--550,314

NOTE 21 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On January 6, 2021, the holder of the Company’s four remaining fixed rate convertible promissory notes with a face value of $1,038,500 agreed to
extend the maturity date to January 14, 2021. In exchange for the extension, the Company agreed to extend the expiration date of 3,508,333 existing
warrants held by the holder from dates between July 2021 and March 2022 until March 2023.
On January 14, 2021, the Company and the holder entered into a series of agreements pursuant to which (i) the holder agreed to convert the full face
value of $1,038,500 on outstanding convertible notes, plus $317,096 of accrued interest on such notes, into 13,538,494 shares of common stock
pursuant to the original conversion terms of the underlying notes, (ii) the holder agreed to a 180-day leak out provision, whereby, from and after
January 14, 2021, it may not sell in shares of the Company’s common stock in excess of 5% of the Company’s daily trading volume for the first 90
days and 10% of the Company’s daily volume for the next 90 days, subject to certain exceptions, (iii) the holder agreed to release all security
interests and share reserves related to the above convertible notes, and (iv) the Company issued to the holder a new five-year warrant to purchase
13,538,494 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.30 per share.
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HEALTHLYNKED CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
NOTE 21 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED)
On July 20, 2020, Empery Asset Master Ltd., Empery Tax Efficient, LP and Empery Tax Efficient II, LP, (“Empery”) filed a complaint against the
Company in the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The Complaint alleges that the Company’s acquisition of CHM, in which the Company
issued stock consideration of 2,240,838 common shares, triggered a change of control clause in warrants held by Empery that would allow Empery to
demand cash value for their warrants. On January 15, 2021, Empery agreed to fully exercise warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock held by them with respect to 8,000,000 warrants issued pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 22, 2018 (the “Empery
Warrants”). The Empery Warrants were exercised pursuant to a cashless exercise provision contained in the original warrant agreements, which
resulted in the issuance of 7,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. As a result of the exercise of the Empery Warrants, Empery and the
Company entered into a stipulation of dismissal to dismiss with prejudice the litigation between Empery and the Company. Empery also agreed to a
180-day leak out provision, whereby it may not sell shares of the Company’s common stock issued pursuant to the Empery Warrant exercise after the
effective date in excess of 5% of the Company’s daily trading volume for the first 90 days after issuance of the shares and 10% of the Company’s
daily volume for the next 90 days.
Subsequent to December 31, 2020 and through March 30, 2021, the Company sold 11,787,766 shares of common stock in 46 separate private
placement transactions. The Company received $3,488,725 in proceeds from the sales. In connection with these stock sales, the Company also issued
5,893,889 five-year warrants to purchase shares of common stock at exercise prices between $0.27 and $1.05 per share. The Company also issued
3,006,098 shares pursuant to draws under the Investment Agreement for additional gross proceeds of $900,636.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in Exchange Act reports is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Our management evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 based on the framework in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 2013. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting was effective at December 31, 2020.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.
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PART III.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers and directors. All directors hold office for one-year terms until
the election and qualification of their successors. Officers are elected by the board of directors and serve at the discretion of the board.
Name
Michael Dent, MD
George O’Leary
Robert Mino
Robert Gasparini
Heather Monahan
Daniel Hall

Age
56
58
45
66
46
48

Positions with the Company
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chief Financial Officer and Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Michael T. Dent, MD, Founder, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. Dr. Dent founded the Naples Women’s
Center in 1996 where he served as its principal executive from formation through February 2016. He is also Co-Founder and Managing Director of
InLight Capital Partners LLC since January 2014 and is responsible for its healthcare, information technology and life science investments. He has
held key leadership positions in business development, operations, corporate development, and strategy in the healthcare and technology industries
since the mid-90s. Prior to founding InLight Capital Partners, Dr. Dent was Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of NeoGenomics
Laboratories (Nasdaq: NEO) where he was on the Board of Directors from 1998 until July 2015. As a retired physician, Dr. Dent is uniquely
qualified to understand the challenges and opportunities in healthcare and emerging technologies. Dr. Dent received his bachelor’s degree from
Davidson College, where he majored in both Biology and Pre-Med, and went on to earn his medical degree from The University of South Carolina in
Charleston, South Carolina. Dr. Dent also attended Florida Gulf Coast University’s Business Executive Education program. Dr. Dent holds a board
affiliation with MedOfficeDirect (Founder). Our board of directors believes Dr. Dent’s perspective as the founder of the Company, his industry
knowledge and prior experience as a director of a public company and familiarity with public company governance, provide him with the
qualifications and skills to serve as a director.
George G. O’Leary, Chief Financial Officer and Member of the Board of Directors. Mr. O’Leary has served as our Chief Financial
Officer since August 6, 2014. Mr. O’Leary is also Co-Founder and Managing Director of InLight Capital Partners LLC since January 2014. He is a
financially trained senior executive specializing in innovative strategic problem solving across functional and industry boundaries. Mr. O’Leary was
the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Timios Holdings Corp. from March 2014 through January 2021 and on the Board of Directors of
MedOfficeDirect since October 2013. From June 2009 to May 2013 Mr. O’Leary was Chairman of the Board and Chief Financial Officer of
Protection Plus Securities Corporation until it was sold to Universal Protection Services. From February 2007 to June 2015, Mr. O’Leary was a
member of the Board of Directors of NeoMedia Technologies. Mr. O’Leary is founder and President of SKS Consulting of South Florida Corp.
(“SKS”) since June 2006 where he works with public and private companies in board representation and/or under consulting agreements providing
executive level management expertise, as well as helping the implementation and execution of their companies’ strategic & operational plans. Mr.
O’Leary started SKS with the mission to help companies focus on high growth initiatives and execution of their core business while shedding noncore business assets. From 1996 to 2000, Mr. O’Leary was Chief Executive Officer and President of Communication Resources Incorporated
(“CRI”), where annual revenues grew from $5 million to $40 million during his tenure. Prior to CRI, Mr. O’Leary was Vice President of Operations
of Cablevision Industries, where he ran $125 million of business until it was sold to Time Warner. Mr. O’Leary started his professional career as a
senior accountant with Peat Marwick and Mitchell (KPMG). Mr. O’Leary holds a B.B.A. degree in Accounting with honors from Siena College. Our
board of directors believes Mr. O’Leary’s extensive business experience provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director.
Robert P. Mino, JD, MBA, MS, Director. Mr. Mino has served as General Counsel of Applied Food Technologies (a testing laboratory),
General Manager at Somahlution (a medical device company) and Corporate Counsel and VP, Business Development at Sancilio Pharmaceuticals (a
pharmaceutical and dietary supplement company), performing on the executive leadership teams of each. Mr. Mino began his career conducting
molecular biology research before holding several positions of increasing responsibility at Sigma Aldrich, Roche Diagnostics and Applied
Biosystems, respectively, starting in field sales and culminating as the strategic marketing manager N. and S. America for DNA Sequencing. In 2011,
Mr. Mino opened his own law and consulting practice where he practices today. Mr. Mino earned a JD, MBA, and MS (Medical Sciences) from
University of Florida and a B.S. (Genetics) from the University of Georgia. He also earned a Certificate in Copyright Law from Harvard University
and a Regulatory Affairs Certificate (Drug and Device) from RAPS. Our board of directors believes Mr. Mino’s extensive business experience and
scientific knowledge provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director.
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Robert Gasparini, Director. Mr. Gasparini started his career in the genetics laboratories at the University of CT and became an assistant
professor there from 1985-1990. From 1990-1993 he was Technical Director of Genetics at Tufts and from 1993-1997 he was Assistant Director for
the Prenatal Diagnostic Center in Lexington MA (a Mass General affiliate). Mr. Gasparini also worked as a Manager of Worldwide and Strategic
Marketing with Ventana Medical Systems from 1998-2000 and in 2001, he became Director of Genetics for US Labs in Irvine California. Mr.
Gasparini was a key executive at NeoGenomics Laboratories serving in many capacities with the company including President and Chief Scientific
Officer as well as being on the Board of Directors from 2004-2014. Mr. Gasparini has 28 years of combined service on national committees and
Boards of Directors and has published 15 peer-reviewed articles and over 30 peer-reviewed abstracts. Our board of directors believes Mr. Gasparini’s
extensive business experience provides him with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director.
Heather Monahan, Director. Ms. Monahan is a best-selling author, keynote speaker, Ted-X speaker, Executive Coach and founder of Boss
In Heels. Ms. Monahan is a Glass Ceiling Award winner, was named one of the most Influential Women in Radio in 2017 and was selected as a
Limit Breaking Female Founder by Thrive Global in 2018. Her book “Confidence Creator” was #1 on Amazon’s Business Biographies and Business
Motivation lists the first week it debuted. Her podcast, Creating Confidence, which features noteworthy celebrities and entrepreneurs, debuted on the
Top 200 Apple podcasts. Ms. Monahan was named one of the Top 40 Female Keynote Speakers for 2020 by Real Leaders. Her Ted-X talk was
promoted to TED and translated into 6 languages. Harper Collins Leadership is publishing her new book, Leapfrogging Villains, in 2021. Ms.
Monahan has been featured in USA Today, CNN, Forbes, Fast Company and The Steve Harvey Show, and recently was named a Guest Professor at
Harvard.
Daniel Hall, Director. Mr. Hall began his career performing a wide variety of accounting services for a wholly owned subsidiary of
ConAgra. In 1995, Mr. Hall transitioned into the medical device industry when he began working for Arthrex, Inc., a world leader in orthopedic
surgical device design, research, manufacturing and medical education. He has held various positions of increasing responsibility culminating in his
current role as Vice-President of Shareholder Relations and Taxation, where he is responsible for the global enterprise’s treasury, investment,
financial audit, tax strategy/compliance, and corporate structuring activities. In addition to his role with Arthrex, Mr. Hall is also Vice-President of
Krisdan Management, Inc. a Single-Family Office. In this capacity, he is responsible for ultra-high net worth tax planning, strategy and compliance,
as well as trust and estate planning, investment oversight, philanthropy and financial reporting. Mr. Hall earned a BS in Business Administration and
Accounting from North Dakota State University. Mr. Hall is a also Florida registered Certified Public Accountant and a member of both the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and the Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants (FICPA).
Family Relationships
No family relationships exist between any of our current or former directors or executive officers.
Involvement is Certain Legal Proceedings
No director, executive officer or control person of the Company has been involved in any legal proceeding listed in Item 401(f) of
Regulation S-K in the past 10 years.
Limitation of Liability of Directors
Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation states that directors and officers shall be indemnified and held harmless to the fullest
extend legally permissible under the laws of the State of Nevada, from time to time, against all expenses, liability and loss (including attorney’s fees,
judgments, fines and amounts paid or to be paid in settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by him/her in connection with acts performed in such
capacity. Such right of indemnification shall be a contract right, which may be enforced in a nay manner desired by such person. The expenses of
officers and directors incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding must be paid by the Company as they are incurred and in
advance of the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding.
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Board Independence
Because the Company’s Common Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange, the Company is not currently required to comply
with any board independence requirements. NASDAQ Listing Rule 5605(a)(2) provides that an “independent director” is a person other than an
officer or employee of the company or any other individual having a relationship which, in the opinion of the company’s board of directors, would
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The NASDAQ listing rules provide that a
director cannot be considered independent if:
●

the director is, or at any time during the past three years was, an employee of the company;

●

the director or a family member of the director accepted any compensation from the company in excess of $120,000 during any period
of 12 consecutive months within the three years preceding the independence determination (subject to certain exclusions, including,
among other things, compensation for board or board committee service);

●

a family member of the director is, or at any time during the past three years was, an executive officer of the company;

●

the director or a family member of the director is a partner in, controlling stockholder of, or an executive officer of an entity to which
the company made, or from which the company received, payments in the current or any of the past three fiscal years that exceed 5% of
the recipient’s consolidated gross revenue for that year or $200,000, whichever is greater (subject to certain exclusions);

●

the director or a family member of the director is employed as an executive officer of an entity where, at any time during the past three
years, any of the executive officers of the company served on the compensation committee of such other entity; or

●

the director or a family member of the director is a current partner of the company’s outside auditor, or at any time during the past three
years was a partner or employee of the company’s outside auditor, and who worked on the company’s audit.

Based on this review, Mr. Gasparini, Ms. Monahan and Mr. Mino would be considered independent directors of the Company.
Board Committees
We do not have a standing audit committee. Our full board of directors perform the functions usually designated to an audit committee.
While Mr. O’Leary qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K, neither Mr. O’Leary nor Dr.
Dent qualifies as “independent” as the term is used in Item 7(d)(3)(iv)(B) of Schedule 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and as defined by NASDAQ Rules. Moreover, neither Mr. Mino nor Mr. Gasparini qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert.” We believe
that our board of directors is capable of analyzing and evaluating our financial statements and understanding internal controls and procedures for
financial reporting. Our board of directors does not believe that it is necessary to have an audit committee because management believes that the
functions of an audit committees can be adequately performed by the board of directors. In addition, we believe that retaining an independent director
who would qualify as an “audit committee financial expert” would be overly costly and burdensome and is not warranted in our circumstances given
the stage of our development and the fact that we have not generated positive cash flow to date. If and when we generate increased revenue and
positive cash flow in the future, we intend to form a standing audit committee and identify and appoint an independent financial expert to serve on
our audit committee.
Director Nominees
Except as may be provided in our bylaws, we do not currently have specified procedures in place pursuant to which security holders may
recommend nominees to the Board of Directors.
Compliance with Section 16(a) of Exchange Act
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a
registered class of our equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. These persons are required by regulation
to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports that they file. Based solely on our review of copies of such reports and representations from the
reporting persons, we believe that during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, all such forms were filed in a timely fashion.
Code of Ethics
We have not yet adopted a Code of Ethics although we expect to adopt one as we further develop our infrastructure and business.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
The following table sets forth information regarding compensation paid to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and our
highest paid executive officer, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Salary
($)

Stock
Awards(1)
($)

Bonus
($)

Option
Awards
($)

All
Other
Compensation
($)

Total
($)

Name and Position

Year

Michael Dent
(Chief Executive Officer)

2020
2019

35,000
49,808

-----

-----

-----

-----

35,000
49,808

George O’Leary
(Chief Financial Officer)

2020
2019

193,973
195,654

-----

18,496
19,000

-----

-----

212,469
214,654

Robert Horel (2)
(Chief Marketing Officer)

2020
2019

--27,288

-----

-----

-----

-----

--27,288

(1) Reflects fair value of unrestricted stock awards on the grant date. Stock awards for Mr. O’Leary in include 100,000 shares granted in 2019 and
100,000 shares granted in 2020 pursuant to Mr. O’Leary’s Extension Letter Agreement.
(2) Mr. Horel was terminated with an effective date of January 31, 2019.
Employment Agreements
On July 1, 2016, we entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Michael Dent, Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of
Directors. Dr. Dent’s employment agreement continues until terminated by Dr. Dent, or us and provides for an initial annual base salary of $70,000.
Dr. Dent is eligible to receive performance-based incentives, pro-rated for the number of months of service in any given year. Annual bonuses are
awarded based on set annual target incentives for executives and other senior ranking employees that are to be determined by the to-be-established
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr. Dent is also entitled to receive 500,000 time-based options, as well as 500,000
performance-based options, all of which vest in accordance with the schedule set forth in the employment agreement. If Dr. Dent’s employment is
terminated by us (unless such termination is “For Cause” (as defined in his employment agreement), then upon signing a general waiver and release,
Dr. Dent will be entitled to severance in an amount equal to 12 months of his then-current annual base salary, as well as the pro-rata portion of any
bonus that would be due and payable to him. In the event that Dr. Dent terminates the employment agreement, he shall be entitled to any accrued but
unpaid salary and other benefits up to and including the date of termination, and the pro-rata portion of any unvested time-based options up until the
date of separation.
On July 1, 2016, we entered into an agreement with Mr. George O’Leary, our Chief Financial Officer and a member of our Board of
Directors, extending his prior agreement with the Company. Mr. O’Leary’s employment agreement continues until terminated by Mr. O’Leary, or us
and provides for an initial annual base salary of $90,000 a year and shall increase to $100,000 per year in year two. Mr. O’Leary is also eligible to
receive performance-based incentives. In addition, Mr. O’Leary is also entitled to receive stock options to purchase up to 600,000 shares of common
stock of the Company at an exercise price equivalent to the closing price per share at which the stock is quoted on the day prior to his start date. The
grant of such options will be made pursuant to the Company’s stock option plan then in effect, shall have a ten-year term from the grant date and
shall vest in accordance with the schedule set forth in the agreement. In addition, Mr. O’Leary shall receive healthcare allowance of $750 per month
and a car allowance of $650 per month to be paid at the beginning of each month. If Mr. O’Leary employment is terminated by us (unless such
termination is “For Cause” (as defined in his employment agreement), then upon signing a general waiver and release, Mr. O’Leary will be entitled to
receive his base salary and the Company shall maintain his employee benefits for a period of twelve (12) months beginning on the date of
termination. In the event that Mr. O’Leary terminates the agreement, he shall be entitled to any accrued by unpaid salary and other benefits up to and
including the date of termination. On July 1, 2018, the Company and Mr. O’Leary entered into an Extension Letter Agreement pursuant to which
Mr. O’Leary was increased to full time employment (previously half-time) and agreed to extend the term of his employment to September 30, 2022.
In addition to a base salary, the extension provides Mr. O’Leary with certain performance-based cash bonuses, stock grants, and stock option grants.
In connection with the extension, Mr. O’Leary was also granted (i) 100,000 shares of Company common stock and will be granted an additional
100,000 shares on each of July 1, 2019, 2020 and 2021, and (ii) a 10-year option to purchase 1,200,000 shares of Company common stock at an
exercise price of $0.31, of which 150,000 vest on July 1, 2019, 450,000 vest monthly from July 1, 2019 to July 1, 2022 and 600,000 vest based on
specified performance measures related to the Company’s fiscal years 2018 through 2021.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End
The following table contains information concerning unexercised options that have not vested as of December 31, 2020 with respect to the
executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table:

Michael Dent
(Chief Executive Officer)
George O’Leary
(Chief Financial Officer)

Number of Securities
Underlying
Unexercised Options
Exercisable
Unexercisable
(#)
(#)
750,000
--400,000
600,000

--450,000

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
(#)
----450,000

Option
Exercise
Price
($)
$
0.08

Option
Expiration
Date
7/1/2026

$
$

7/1/2026
6/30/2028

0.08
0.31

On January 1, 2016, the Company instituted the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “EIP”) for the purpose of having equity awards available to
allow for equity participation by its employees. The EIP allows for the issuance of up to 15,503,680 shares of the Company’s common stock to
employees, which may be issued in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, or restricted shares. The EIP is governed by the Company’s
board, or a committee that may be appointed by the board in the future.
Director Compensation
Our outside directors each receive compensation equal to $20,000 in shares of restricted stock per annum. As of December 31, 2020, we had
655,925 shares issuable to our directors under such compensation arrangements.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 30, 2021 by (i) each
person known by us to beneficially own more than 5.0% of our common stock, (ii) each of our directors, (iii) each of the named executive officers,
and (iv) all of our directors and executive officers as a group. The percentages of common stock beneficially owned are reported on the basis of
regulations of the SEC governing the determination of beneficial ownership of securities. Under the rules of the SEC, a person is deemed to be a
beneficial owner of a security if that person has or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting of the security, or
investment power, which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of the security. Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table,
each beneficial owner named in the table below has sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned and each
person’s address is c/o HealthLynked Corp., 1265 Creekside Parkway, Suite 301, Naples, Florida 34108. As of March 30, 2021, we had 226,075,381
common shares and 2,750,000 Series B Preferred shares issued and outstanding.

Number of
Common
Shares (1)
Dr. Michael Dent, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(5)
George O’Leary, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating
Officer and Director (6)
Robert Gasparini, Director (7)
Robert Mino, Director (8)
Heather Monahan, Director
Daniel Hall, Director
All officers and directors as a group (6 persons)
5% Stockholders:
Iconic Holdings, LLC (9)
*

Percent of
Class
(Common
Stock)(2)

Number of
Series B
Preferred
Shares

Percent of
Class (Series
B Preferred
Stock) (3)

Total
Percentage
Held
(Common
and Series B
Preferred) (4)

95,540,717

40.37%

2,750,000

100.00%

72.42%

4,894,828
1,552,214
289,286
----102,277,045

2.15%
*
*
----42.91%

----------2,750,000

----------100.00%

*
*
*
----73.50%

22,584,931

9.99%

---

---

7.18%

less than 1%

(1) Under Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), a beneficial owner of a security includes any person who,
directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise has or shares: (i) voting power, which includes
the power to vote or to direct the voting of shares; and (ii) investment power, which includes the power to dispose or direct the disposition of
shares. Certain shares may be deemed to be beneficially owned by more than one person (if, for example, persons share the power to vote or the
power to dispose of the shares). In addition, shares are deemed to be beneficially owned by a person if the person has the right to acquire the
shares (for example, upon exercise of an option) within 60 days of the date as of which the information is provided. In computing the percentage
ownership of any person, the amount of shares outstanding is deemed to include the number of shares beneficially owned by such person (and
only such person) by reason of these acquisition rights.
(2) Based on 226,075,381 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of March 30, 2021.
(3) Based on 2,750,000 shares of Series B Preferred stock issued and outstanding as of March 30, 2021.
(4) Reflects total percentage of combined voting power based on 100 votes per share of Series B Preferred stock outstanding.
(5) Beneficial ownership of common shares includes (i) 2,958,640 shares of common stock held by Dr. Dent directly, (ii) 81,996,472 shares of
common stock held in the name of Mary S. Dent Gifting Trust, (iii) 9,835,605 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants, and
(iv) 750,000 vested employee stock options. Beneficial ownership of Series B preferred shares includes 2,750,000 shares of Series B Preferred
Shares held in the name of the Michael Thomas Dent Declaration of Trust that are convertible into 13,750,000 shares of common stock any time
after December 31, 2022 and that have that number of votes equal to 100 shares of common stock for each share of Preferred B Preferred Stock
held (which shall never be deemed less than 51% of the vote required to approve any action), or the equivalent of 275,000,000 votes.
(6) Includes (i) 2,100,000 shares of common stock held by SKS Consulting of South Florida Corp., a corporation directly controlled by George
O’Leary, (ii) 1,507,328 shares of common stock held by George O’Leary directly, (iii) 150,000 shares of common stock held by Mr. O’Leary’s
spouse, (iv) 75,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Mr. O’Leary’s spouse, and (v) 1,062,500 vested
employee stock options. Excludes 387,500 employee stock options which are subject to future vesting requirements and are not expected to vest
within 60 days of March 5, 2021.
(7) Includes 1,113,048 shares of common stock held by Mr. Gasparini and his spouse and 439,166 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of warrants.
(8) Includes 192,857 shares of common stock held by Mr. Mino and 96,429 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants.
(9) The address of this beneficial owner is 2251 San Diego Ave, #B150, San Diego CA 92110. Michael Sobeck as the Managing Member of Iconic
Holdings, LLC holds voting and dispositive power over the securities of the Company held by Iconic Holdings, LLC. Includes up to 22,584,931
shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants with 9.99% beneficial ownership limitation. Does not include (i) 8,955,150 shares of
common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants with 9.99% beneficial ownership limitation, and (ii) up to 4,459,561 shares of common stock
issuable under the Investment Agreement, which are subject to a 9.99% beneficial ownership limitation.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Investment Transaction with Dr. Michael Dent – August 2020
On August 20, 2020, the Company entered into the Contribution Agreement with the Trusts and Michael T. Dent, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, the Trusts contributed an aggregate of
76,026 shares of common stock of NeoGenomics, Inc. with a fair value of $3,066,889 to the Company. In consideration for the foregoing, the
Company issued the Trusts an aggregate of 2,750,000 shares of the Company’s newly designated Series B Preferred stock and an aggregate of
24,522,727 shares of the Company’s common stock.
Beginning on December 31, 2022, each share of Series B Preferred Stock is convertible into five shares of the Company’s common stock,
subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, including in the event of any stock split. The Series B Preferred Stock ranks senior to the common
stock. Upon a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the assets of the Company available for
distribution to its stockholders will be distributed to holders of Series B Preferred Stock on an as converted basis and pro rata with the holders of
common stock. Holders of Series B Preferred Stock are also entitled to participate in dividends declared or paid on the common stock on an asconverted basis.
The holders of Series B Preferred Stock generally are entitled to vote with the holders of the shares of common stock on all matters
submitted for a vote of holders of shares of common stock (voting together with the holders of shares of common stock as one class). The holder of
the shares of Preferred B Stock shall have that number of votes (identical in every other respect to the voting rights of the holders of common stock
entitled to vote at any regular or special meeting of the shareholders) equal to 100 shares of common stock for each share of Preferred B Preferred
Stock held (which shall never be deemed less than 51% of the vote required to approve any action), which Nevada law provides may or must be
approved by vote or consent of the holders of common stock or the holders of other securities entitled to vote, if any.
Notes and Other Amounts Payable to Dr. Michael Dent
Amounts due to Dr. Dent as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were comprised of the following:
December 31,
2020
2019
Due to related party:
Deferred compensation, Dr. Michael Dent
Accrued interest payable to Dr. Michael Dent
Total due to related party
Notes payable to related party:
Notes payable to Dr. Michael Dent and family (all current)

$

300,600
--300,600

$

300,600
192,857
493,457

$

---

$

743,955

On December 31, 2019, Dr. Dent agreed to further extend the maturity date on his then-outstanding notes payable until December 31, 2020
in exchange for (i) a new five-year warrant to purchase 1,157,143 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.14 per share, and (ii) an
extension of the expiration date on the 2018 Dr. Dent Warrant from February 12, 2023 to January 1, 2025.
On September 21, 2020, the Company and Dr. Dent entered into an agreement pursuant to which the Company repaid all obligations under
notes payable to Dr. Dent in exchange for one-time cash payment of $780,256. The payment was calculated as the face value of the notes of
$646,000, plus $134,256 of interest accrued on the notes issued in 2017 and 2018. As part of the agreement, Dr. Dent agreed to forgive interest of
$105,003 accrued on the remaining notes.
On January 7, 2020, the Company entered into a Merchant Cash Advance Factoring Agreement (“MCA”) with a trust controlled by Dr.
Dent, pursuant to which the Company received an advance of $150,000 before closing fees (the “2020 MCA”). The Company was required to repay
the 2020 MCA, which acts like an ordinary note payable, at the rate of $7,212 per week until the balance of $187,500 was repaid, which occurred in
July 2020.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company paid Dr. Dent’s spouse $132,864 and $139,423, respectively, in
consulting fees pursuant to a consulting agreement.
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Acquisition of MedOffice Direct, LLC – October 2020
On October 19, 2020, the Company acquired a 100% interest in MOD, a virtual distributor of discounted medical supplies selling to both
consumers and medical practices throughout the United States. Under the terms of acquisition, the Company paid the following consideration: (i)
19,045,563 shares of Company common stock issued at closing, (ii) partial satisfaction of certain outstanding debt obligations of MOD in the amount
of $703,200 in cash paid by the Company, and (iii) up to 10,004,749 restricted shares of the Company’s common stock over a four-year period based
on MOD achieving prescribed revenue targets in calendar years 2021 through 2024. Dr. Michael Dent, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman
of the Board of Directors of the Company, George O’Leary, the Chief Financial Officer and a director of the Company, and Robert Gasparini, a
director of the Company, were members of MOD and received merger consideration in connection with the Merger as follows: (1) Dr. Dent received
10,573,745 shares of common stock at closing and may earn up to 5,554,452 additional common shares pursuant to the four-year earnout, (2) Mr.
O’Leary received 1,130,213 shares of common stock at closing and may earn up to 593,707 additional common shares pursuant to the four-year
earnout, and (3) Mr. Gasparini received 99,437 shares of common stock at closing and may earn up to 52,235 additional common shares pursuant to
the four-year earnout.
Director Compensation
Our outside directors each receive compensation equal to $20,000 in shares of restricted stock per annum. As of December 31, 2020, we had
655,925 shares issuable to our directors under such compensation arrangements and no shares had been issued.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, our independent registered public accounting firm RBSM LLP billed us a total of $64,377 and
$60,846, respectively, related to interim reviews and annual audits of our financial statements, $7,500 and $-0-, respectively, related to auditor
consents and registration statements reviews, and $60,246 and $45,000, respectively, related to the audit of our acquired subsidiaries NCFM, CHM
and MOD. There were no other fees billed for products offered or professional services rendered by RBSM LLP. All services provided by RBSM
LLP were approved by our board of directors.
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PART IV.
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
Exhibit No.
2.1
2.2
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
4.1
4.2
4.3*
10.1

10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8*
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
21.1*
23.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*
32.2*
101*

Exhibit Description
First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 18, 2020, by and among HealthLynked Corp., HLYK Florida, LLC,
Cura Health Management LLC, ACO Health Partners, LLC, Bradberry Holdings LLC and FocusOne Holdings, LLC (Filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 20, 2020)
Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Company, MOD FL, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and wholly owned
subsidiary of Buyer (“Merger Sub”), MedOfficeDirect L.L.C. (the “MOD”) and certain of the members of MOD (Filed as Exhibit
2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 21, 2020)
Articles of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Draft Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
Commission on January 9, 2017)
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Draft Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the Commission on January 9, 2017)
By-Laws (Filed as Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Draft Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on January 9,
2017)
Certificate of Designation of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (Filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Draft Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on January 9, 2017)
Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the Commission on February 6, 2018)
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (Filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the
Company’s Draft Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Commission on January 9, 2017)
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 26, 2020)
Description of our Common Stock
Contribution Agreement by and among the Company, The Michael T. Dent, Trustee of the Mary S. Dent Gifting Trust dated January
31, 2006, Michael Thomas Dent, Trustee under the Michael Thomas Dent Declaration of Trust dated March 23, 1998, as amended,
and Michael T. Dent dated August 20, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on August 26, 2020)
Warrant made to Iconic Holdings, LLC, dated January 14, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on January 15, 2021)
Agreement, by and between the Company and Iconic Holdings, LLC, dated January 14, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 15, 2021)
Form of Warrant made to DanKris1, LLC, dated February 26, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the Commission on March 2, 2021)
Form of Subscription Agreement, by and between the Company and DanKris1, LLC, dated February 26, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 2, 2021)
Investment Agreement with Iconic Holdings LLC (Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Draft Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the Commission on January 9, 2017)
Amendment to Investment Agreement by and between the Company and Iconic Holdings, LLC dated May 19, 2020 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.50 to the Company’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 4 to Form S-1 filed with the Commission on May 22, 2020)
Form of Director’s Agreement
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement with Platinum Point Capital LLC dated April 2, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 15, 2020)
Form of Convertible Promissory Note with Platinum Point Capital LLC dated April 2, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 15, 2020)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement with Morningview Financial, LLC dated April 6, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 15, 2020)
Form of Convertible Promissory Note with Morningview Financial, LLC dated April 6, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 15, 2020)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement with Power Up Lending Group Ltd. dated April 6, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 15, 2020)
Form of Convertible Promissory Note with Power Up Lending Group Ltd. dated April 6, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 15, 2020)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement with Power Up Lending Group Ltd. dated April 30, 2020 (Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 15, 2020)
Subsidiaries
Consent of RBSM LLP
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Principal Executive Officer
Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Principal Executive Officer
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of the Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*

- Provided herewith
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Dated: March 31, 2021
HEALTHLYNKED CORP.
By: /s/ Michael Dent
Name: Michael Dent
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
By: /s/ George O’Leary
Name: George O’Leary
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this annual report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature
/s/ Michael Dent
Michael Dent

Title

Date

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 31, 2021

/s/ George O’Leary
George O’Leary

Chief Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 31, 2021

/s/ Robert P. Mino
Robert P. Mino

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/ Robert Gasparini
Robert Gasparini

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/ Heather Monahan
Heather Monahan

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/ Daniel Hall
Daniel Hall

Director

March 31, 2021
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Exhibit 10.8
DIRECTOR AGREEMENT
This DIRECTOR AGREEMENT is made as of ___________ (the “Agreement”), by and between HealthLynked Corp., a Nevada
corporation (the “Company”), and ___________, an individual (the “Director”).
WHEREAS, the Company appointed the Director as of the date hereof, and desires to enter into an agreement with the Director with respect
to such appointment; and
WHEREAS, the Director is willing to accept such appointment and to serve the Company on the terms set forth herein and in accordance
with the provisions of this Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Position. Subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the Company shall cause the Director to be appointed, and the Director
hereby agrees to serve the Company in such position, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, provided, however, that the Director’s
continued service on the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) after the next annual stockholders’ meeting shall be subject to approval by
the Company’s stockholders.
2. Duties. (a) During the Directorship Term (as defined herein), the Director shall make reasonable business efforts to attend all Board
meetings, serve on appropriate subcommittees as reasonably requested by the Board, make himself available to the Company at mutually convenient
times and places, attend external meetings and presentations, as appropriate and convenient, and perform such duties, services and responsibilities,
and have the authority commensurate to such position.
(b) The Director will use his best efforts to promote the interests of the Company. The Company recognizes that the Director (i) is
or may become a full-time executive employee of another entity and that his responsibilities to such entity must have priority and (ii) sits or may sit
on the board of directors of other entities. Notwithstanding the same, the Director will use reasonable business efforts to coordinate his respective
commitments so as to fulfill his obligations to the Company and, in any event, will fulfill his legal obligations as a Director. Other than as set forth
above, the Director will not, without giving prior notification to the Board, engage in any other business activity which would reasonably be expected
to materially interfere with the performance of his duties, services and responsibilities hereunder or which is in violation of the reasonable policies
established from time to time by the Company, provided that the foregoing shall in no way limit his activities on behalf of (i) any current or future
employer and its affiliates or (ii) the board of directors of any entities on which he currently sits. At such time as the Board receives such notification,
the Board may require the resignation of the Director if it determines that such business activity does in fact materially interfere with the performance
of the Director’s duties, services and responsibilities hereunder.
3. Compensation.
(a) Restricted Stock. On the date the Director is appointed to the Board, the Company shall issue to the Director the number of
shares of the Company’s common stock equivalent to ___________ (the “Award Shares”), based on the average closing price
on the five trading days immediately preceding the date the Director is appointed to the Board and rounded down to the nearest
whole share, which shares shall vest as set forth in a restricted stock purchase agreement, or such other date as defined in the
applicable grant notice, such that upon the last day of each fiscal quarter, commencing in the quarter in which the Director
enters into this Agreement, provided the Director is a member of the Board as of such date, shares representing __% of the
Award Shares shall vest. The Company will make equivalent grants to Director of shares of the Company’s common stock
having a value of at least ___________ each year that Director serves on the Board.
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(b) Expense Reimbursements. During the Directorship Term, the Company shall reimburse the Director for (i) all reasonable outof-pocket expenses incurred by the Director in attending any in-person meetings, provided that the Director complies with the
generally applicable policies, practices and procedures of the Company for submission of expense reports, receipts or similar
documentation of such expenses, and (ii) any costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees, associated with filings
required to be made by the Director or any of the entities managed or controlled by Director to report beneficial ownership or
the acquisition or disposition of securities of the Company. Any reimbursements for allocated expenses (as compared to outof-pocket expenses of the Director) must be approved in advance by the Company.
4. Directorship Term. The “Directorship Term,” as used in this Agreement, shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and
terminating on the earlier of the date of the next annual stockholders meeting and the earliest of the following to occur:
(a) the death of the Director;
(b) the removal of the Director from the Board by the majority stockholders of the Company; and
(c) the resignation by the Director from the Board.
5. Director’s Representation and Acknowledgment. The Director represents to the Company that his execution and performance of this
Agreement shall not be in violation of any agreement or obligation (whether or not written) that he may have with or to any person or entity,
including without limitation, any prior or current employer. The Director hereby acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement (and any other
agreement or obligation referred to herein) shall be an obligation solely of the Company, and the Director shall have no recourse whatsoever against
any officer, director, employee, stockholder, representative or agent of the Company or any of their respective affiliates with regard to this
Agreement.
6. Indemnification. The Company agrees to indemnify the Director for his activities as a member of the Board as set forth in the Director
Indemnification Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A.
7. Non-Waiver of Rights. The failure to enforce at any time the provisions of this Agreement or to require at any time performance by the
other party hereto of any of the provisions hereof shall in no way be construed to be a waiver of such provisions or to affect either the validity of this
Agreement or any part hereof, or the right of either party hereto to enforce each and every provision in accordance with its terms. No waiver by either
party hereto of any breach by the other party hereto of any provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver
of similar or dissimilar provisions at that time or at any prior or subsequent time.
8. Notices. Every notice relating to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by personal delivery, overnight delivery or by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested; to:
If to the Company:
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
If to the Director:
Either of the parties hereto may change their address for purposes of notice hereunder by giving notice in writing to such other party pursuant to this
Section 8.
2
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9. Binding Effect/Assignment. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs,
executors, personal representatives, estates, successors (including, without limitation, by way of merger) and assigns, as applicable. Notwithstanding
the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence, neither the Director nor the Company shall assign all or any portion of this Agreement without
the prior written consent of the other party.
10. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (together with the other agreements referred to herein) sets forth the entire understanding of the
parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, written or oral, between them as to such subject matter.
11. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, or any application thereof to any circumstances, is invalid, in whole or in part, such
provision or application shall to that extent be severable and shall not affect other provisions or applications of this Agreement.
12. Governing Law. This Agreement and the legal relations among the parties shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in
accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada, without regard to its conflict of laws rules. The parties hereto hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally (i) agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought in any court of the State
of Nevada (the “Nevada Court”), and not in any other state or federal court in the United States of America or any court in any other country, (ii)
consent to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Nevada Court for purposes of any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this
Agreement, (iii) waive any objection to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in the Nevada Court, and (iv) waive, and agree not to
plead or to make, any claim that any such action or proceeding brought in the Nevada Court has been brought in an improper or inconvenient forum.
13. Legal Fees. The parties hereto agree that the non-prevailing party in any dispute, claim, action or proceeding between the parties hereto
arising out of or relating to the terms and conditions of this Agreement or any provision thereof (a “Dispute”), shall reimburse the prevailing party for
reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses incurred by the prevailing party in connection with such Dispute; provided, however, that the Director shall
only be required to reimburse the Company for its fees and expenses incurred in connection with a Dispute if the Director’s position in such Dispute
was found by the court, arbitrator or other person or entity presiding over such Dispute to be frivolous or advanced not in good faith.
14. Modifications. Neither this Agreement nor any provision hereof may be modified, altered, amended or waived except by an instrument
in writing duly signed by the party to be charged.
15. Tense and Headings. Whenever any words used herein are in the singular form, they shall be construed as though they were also used in
the plural form in all cases where they would so apply. The headings contained herein are solely for the purposes of reference, are not part of this
Agreement and shall not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
[Signature Page Follows]
3
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Director Agreement to be executed by authority of its Board of Directors, and the
Director has hereunto set his hand, on the day and year first above written.
HEALTHLYNKED CORP.
By:
DIRECTOR
____________________________
____________________________, individually
[Signature page to Director Agreement]
4
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EXHIBIT 21.1
Subsidiaries
1.

Naples Women’s Center, LLC

2.

HLYK Florida, LLC, dba Naples Center for Functional Medicine and dba Cura Health Management

3.

ACO Health Partners LLC

4.

Bridging the Gap Physical Therapy LLC

5.

MEDOFFICEDIRECT L.L.C. dba MedOffice Direct
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of HealthLynked Corporation on Form S-8 (File no. 333-218175) of
our report dated March 31, 2021 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of HealthLynked Corporation as of December 31, 2020 and
2019 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
/s/ RBSM LLP
New York, NY
March 31, 2021
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael Dent, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of HealthLynked Corp.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ Michael Dent
Michael Dent
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, George O’Leary, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of HealthLynked Corp.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ George O’Leary
George O’Leary
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael Dent, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of HealthLynked Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of HealthLynked Corp.
Dated: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ Michael Dent
Michael Dent
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATIONS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, George O’Leary, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of HealthLynked Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of HealthLynked Corp.
Dated: March 31, 2021

By:

/s/ George O’Leary
George O’Leary
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

